NEW ISSUE - Book - Entry Only RATING: Moody’s: Baa2 (See “RATING™ herein)

5 i)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, i i 1pli by the Agency and the Corporation with their respective covenants to comply with the
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (lhe “Code"), us described herein, inlerest on 1the Bonds is not includable in gross i Jor federal
income tax purposes under existing statutes, regulations and court decisions. Interest on the Bonds will not constituie a specific preference item for the purposes of
computation of the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations although interest on the Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the
calculation of the corporation’s federal alternative minimum tax liability. The Aci provides that the Bonds and the income therefrom shall at all times be exempt from
taxarion in the State of Vermont, except for transfer and estate taxes. See the caption “TAX EXEMPTION ” herein.
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Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency Revenue Bonds (Vermont Law School Project) 2011 Serics A (the “Bonds") are duly authorized
revenue bonds of Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency (the “Agency™), issued under a trust agreement dated as of March 1, 2011 (the “Trust
Agreement™) between the Agency and People’s United Bank, Burlington, Vermont (the “Bond Trustee™). The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds
1o (1) refund certain outstanding bonds issued by the Agency on behalf of Vermont Law School, Inc. (the “Corporation™), (2) pay the cost of renovation and expansion of
certain educational facﬂmes as more fully described herein (the “Project”) for the Corporation, (3) pay a portion of the interest expected to accrue on the Bonds, and (4)
pay certain exp din ion with the i of the Bonds.

The Bonds are payable solely from the sources hereinafier described and are issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

Interest on the Bonds is payable on the first day of January and July, commencing July 1, 2011. The amounts, maturitics, interest rates and yields on the Bonds
are set forth on the inside cover page hereof.

THE BONDS ARE SUBJECT TO OPTIONAL AND MANDATORY REDEMPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY IN EACH CASE IN THE MANNER AND
AT THE TIMES SET FORTH HEREIN.

The Agency will enter into a loan agreement, dated as of March 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”) with the Corporation, under which the Agency will
agree to lend to the Corporation the proceeds of the Bonds, and the Corporation will agree to make payments to the Bond Trustee for the account of the Agency (the
“Loan Repayments™) in such amounts and at such times as are required to provide for timely payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.
The payments to be made pursuant to the Loan Agreement are general obligations of the Corporation. [n addition, the obligations of the Corporation under the Loan
Ag will be evidenced by an obligation (“Obligation No. 5) issued pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2003, as supplemented (the “Master
Indenture™), by and between the Corporation and People’s United Bank (as successor to Chittenden Trust Company), as Master Trustee. The Corporation currently is the
only Member of the Obligated Group established pursuant to the Master Indenture. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS" herein for the relevant security provisions of
the Bonds.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency will assign 10 the Bond Trustee certain of the Agency’s rights under the Loan Agreement, including el its right,
title and interest in and to the Loan Repayments (subject to the reservation of certain rights of the Agency, including its rights to notices, payment of certain expenses
and indemnity), and to Obligation No. S, and its right, title, interest in and to any and all moneys and secunties 1n the Bond Fund (as defined herein) and. until applied in
payment of any rtem of the Cost of the Project (as defined herein), to all moncy and securities in the Construction Fund (as defined herein)

The Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds and, when issucd, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust
Comparnry. New York, New York (“DTC"). DTC will act as Securities Depository for the Bonds. Purch of beneficial in the Bonds will be made in book-
entry form only, in minimum denominations of $5,000, and any whole multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof. Purchasers will not receive definitive Bonds. So Jong as
Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners of the Bonds shall mean Cede & Co.,
as aforesaid, and shall not mean the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM™ herein. So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the
Registered Owner, such payments will be made directly to Cede & Co. Disbursement of such payments to the DTC"s Direct Participants is the responsibility of DTC and
disbursements of such payments to the bencficial owners of the Bonds is the responsibility of the Direct Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described
herein.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AGENCY AND WILL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE AMOUNTS PLEDGED
THEREFOR UNDERTHE TRUST AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE LOAN REPAYMENTS TO BE MADE BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE CORPORATION
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT AND FROM CERTAIN OTHER FUNDS,
ALL AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE AGENCY HAS NO TAXING POWER. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING
POWER OF THE STATE OF VERMONT OR OF ANY MUNICIPALITY OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF VERMONT IS PLEDGED
TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS,

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the Agency und received by the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, to withdrawal or mudification of the offer
without notice, and to the approval of legality by Sidley Austin LLF, New York, New York, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon jor the Agency by
s counsel, Deppman & Foley, Middlebury, Vermont, and for the Corporation, by Dinse Knapp & McAndrew, P.C., Burlington, Vermont. Certain legal matters will be
passed upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Burak Anderson & Melloni, PLC, Burlington, Vermont. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery to
DTC in New York, New York, or its custodial agem, on or ubout March 24, 2011,
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Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates and Prices or Yields

Due Principal Interest )
January 1 Amount Rate Yield CusIp
2012 $ 235,000 4.000 % 2.200 % 924166 DJ7
2013 170,000 3.000 2.710 924166 DK4
2014 255,000 3.000 3.210 924166 DL2
2015 260,000 3.000 3.760 924166 DMO
2016 270,000 3.500 4.010 924166 DN8
2017 275,000 4.000 4.280 924166 DP3
2018 290,000 4.250 4.560 924166 DQ1
2019 305,000 4.500 4.800 924166 DR9
2020 310,000 4.750 5.030 924166 DS7
2021 325,000 $.000 5.250 924166 DTS5

$2,915,000 6.125% Term Bonds due January 1, 2028 - price to yield 6.190%, CUSIP™: 924166 DV0
$2,960,000 6.250% Term Bonds due January 1, 2033 - price to yield 6.400%, CUSIP'; 924166 DW8

$2,180,000 6.250% Term Bonds due January 1, 2041 - price to yield 6.530%, CUSIP’: 924166 DX6

* The CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) numbers on the inside cover page of this Official Statement have been assigned by an
organization not affiliated with the Agency, the Corporation, the Underwriter or the Trustee, and such parties are not responsible for the sclection or use of the
CUSIP numbers. The CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of holders and no representation is made as to the correctness of the CUSIP numbers
printed above. CUSIP numbers assigned to the Bonds may be changed during the term of the Bonds based on a number of factors including but not limited to the
refunding or defeasance of such issues or the use of secondary market financial products. None of the Agency, the Corporation, the Underwriter or the Bond
Trustee has agreed to, nor is there any duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP numbers printed above.



No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by Vermont Educationa! and Health
Buildings Financing Agency, Vermont Law School, Inc. or RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) 1o give
any information or to make any representations with respect to the Bonds other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by any of the foregoing. Certain information contained herein has been obtained by the Corporation
from other sources that are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. Neither the
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Corporation since the date hereof. This Official
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the
Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or
sale.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence and paragraph for inclusion in this Official
Statement. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement pursuant to its responsibilities
to investors under the federal securities laws, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness
of such information.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE BONDS AT LEVELS
ABOVE THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED, AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT AND MASTER TRUST INDENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN
QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON THE
EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS.

The order and placement of materials in this Official Statement, including the Appendices, are not to be
deemed to be a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and this Official Statement, including the
Appendices, must be considered in its entirety.

IN MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE CORPORATION AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE
MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL
OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE
ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENSE.

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute *‘forward-
looking statements™ within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan”, “expect”, “anticipate”,
“estimate™, “budget”, “forecast”, or other similar words. The achievement of certain results or other expectations
contained in such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause actual results, performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The Corporation
does not plan to issue any updates or revisions to those forward-looking statements if or when its expectations, or
cvents, conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based, occur.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

Relating To
$10,750,000
VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS FINANCING AGENCY
REVENUE BONDS
(VERMONT LAW SCHOOL PROJECT)
2011 SERIES A

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices, sets forth certain information in
connection with the issuance and sale of the Revenue Bonds (Vermont Law School Project) 2011 Series A (the
“Bonds™) in the aggregate principal amount of $10,750,000 by Vermont Educational and Health Buildings
Financing Agency (the “Agency”), a public instrumentality of the State of Vermont (the “State™). The Bonds are
authorized to be issued pursuant to Title 16, Chapter 131, Sections 3851-3862 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated, as
amended (the “Act”).

The Bonds

The Bonds will be issued under a trust agreement dated as of March 1, 2011 (the “Trust Agreement”)
between the Agency and People’s United Bank, Burlington, Vermont, as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee™), and a
resolution of the Agency adopted on February 3, 2011 (the “Resolution™). The Bond Trustee is also Bond Registrar
for the Bonds.

The Bonds will bear interest and mature on the dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside cover page
hereof. The Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity. For a further description of
the Bonds, see “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS” herein.

The Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof, and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds.

The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of making a loan to Vermont Law School, Inc. (“Vermont Law
School” or the “Corporation”) to provide funds to (1) refund the Revenue Bonds (Vermont Law School Project)
2003 Series A (the “Series 2003A Bonds™) issued by the Agency on behalf of the Corporation, as further described
below, (2) fund certain capital expenditures of the Project (described herein), (3) pay a portion of the interest
expected to accrue on the Bonds, and (4) pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds.

The Agency will enter into a loan agreement dated as of March 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”) with the
Corporation under which the Agency will agree to lend to the Corporation the proceeds of the Bonds (the *‘Loan™)
and in consideration of the Loan, the Corporation will agree to make payments to the Bond Trustee (the “Loan
Repayments™) in such amounts and at such times as are required to provide for timely payment of the principal
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Agency, payable solely from money to be received from the
Corporation pursuant to the Loan Agreement and pursuant to Obligation No. S, dated as of March 1, 2011
(“Obligation No. 57), issued to the Agency under a Master Trust Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2003 between the
Corporation and People’s United Bank (as successor to Chittenden Trust Company), as Master Trustee (the “Master
Trustee”). The Master Trust Indenture, as supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof, is referred to in
this Official Statement as the “Master Indenture.” The Corporation is currently the only Member of the Obligated
Group established pursuant to the Master Indenture. Obligation No. § securing the Bonds will constitute a joint and
several obligation of the Corporation and any future Members of the Obligated Group. Payments on Obligation
No. 5 will be required to be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and any premium on the Bonds, as due and



payable. To secure the payment of the Bonds, the Agency will assign to the Bond Trustee all of its interest in
Obligation No. 5 and, with certain exceptions, the Loan Agreement. Obligation No. 5 will be secured by a security
interest in the Pledged Assets (as defined herein) of each Member of the Obligated Group. In addition, pursuant to a
Mortgage dated as of May 1, 2003, as supplemented (the “Mortgage”), the Corporation has mortgaged to the Master
Trustee, for the benefit of the holders of all Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, certain buildings of the
Corporation currently used as part of the Corporation’s core campus. The “core campus” of the Corporation
includes the main administrative, academic and library facilities of the Corporation, as further described in the
Mortgage (the “Mortgaged Property”), but does not include all real estate owned by the Corporation. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein. The Master Indenture permits any Person to become a Member of the
Obligated Group upon the consent of the Corporation. The Master Indenture also permits, upon compliance with the
terms thereof, any Member to withdraw from the Obligated Group. The Corporation has covenanted in Supplement
No. 5 not to withdraw from the Obligated Group so long as Obligation No. 5 is outstanding.

The Agency has previously issued the Series 2003A Bonds on behalf of the Corporation. As of January 1,
2011, $5,660,000 of the Series 2003A Bonds were outstanding. The Corporation’s obligations with respect to the
Series 2003A Bonds are secured by Obligation No. 1 issued under the Master Indenture. The obligations of the
Corporation with respect to the Series 2003A Bonds will be refunded with a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds,
and as of the date of delivery of the Bonds, Obligation No. 1 will no longer be outstanding under the Master
Indenture.

The Agency has also previously issued its Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Vermont Law School
Project) 2003 Series B in the aggregate principal amount of $3,940,000 (the “Series 2003B Bonds™) on behalf of the
Corporation. As of January 1, 2011, $3,515,000 of such Series 2003B Bonds remains outstanding. In connection
with the Series 2003B Bonds, the Corporation issued under the Master Indenture its Obligation No. 2 to the Agency,
as security for the Series 2003B Bonds, and its Obligation No. 3 to TD Bank, National Association, as issuer of the
credit facility securing the Series 2003B Bonds. Both Obligation No. 2 and Obligation No. 3 remain outstanding.
The Corporation has also issued its Obligation No. 4 to secure a loan in the principal amount of $850,000 from TD
Bank, N.A. The Corporation expects to repay such loan by June 30, 2011, and upon such repayment, Obligation
No. 4 will then be cancelled.

Security Under The Master Trust Indenture

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, as security for the payment of the principal of, and the redemption
premium, if any, and interest on, Obligation No. 5, and any other Obligation issued and outstanding under the
Master Indenture, the Corporation has granted a security interest in its Pledged Assets to the Master Trustee. The
Corporation (and all future Members of the Obligated Group) has agreed in the Master Indenture that it will not
create or suffer to be created or exist any Lien other than Permitted Liens upon the Mortgaged Property. In addition,
the Corporation is (and all future Members of the Obligated Group will be) subject to covenants under the Master
Indenture containing restrictions or limitations with respect to indebtedness and consolidation or merger, among
others.

The Pledged Assets that are pledged under the Master Indenture to secure the Obligations No. 2, 3, and 5,
and any additional Obligations that may be issued on a parity with such Obligations (collectively, the “Obligations’)
consist of all Gross Revenues (as defined herein) of thc Members of the Obligated Group, now owned or hereafter
acquired. In addition, the Corporation has granted to the Master Trustee the Mortgage in the Mortgaged Property as
security for the Obligations. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein.

For more detailed descriptions of the Corporation’s obligations under the Master Indenture, including
Obligation No. 5 and a description of the conditions under which additional Obligations may be issued and other
Indebtedness may be incurred, conditions under which other organizations may join or withdraw from the Obligated
Group and conditions under which Members of the Obligated Group may acquire or dispose of property and merge
with or acquire other organizations, see “COPY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE” in Appendix C-2
hereto.



Assignment by Agency of Loan Repayments

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency will, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, assign to the
Bond Trustee certain of the Agency’s rights under the Loan Agreement, including all its rights, title and interest in
and to the Loan Repayments (subject to the reservation of certain rights of the Agency, including its rights to
notices, payment of certain expenses and indemnity).

In addition, with respect to the Bonds, the Agency will assign to the Bond Trustee all of its right, title and
interest in and to Obligation No. 5, and to any and all moneys and securities in the bond fund established for the
Bonds (the “Bond Fund™), and, until applied in payment of any item of the cost of the Project, to all money and
securities in the Construction Fund established for the Bonds.

Miscellaneous

Summaries of certain provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement and a copy of the Master
Trust Indenture are included as Appendix C to this Official Statement.

The purchase of the Bonds involves a degree of risk. Prospective purchasers should carefully consider the
material under the caption “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” herein. Careful evaluation should be made of the risks set
forth in such section and elsewhere in this Official Statement concerning the factors which may affect the payment
of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds when due.

The following summaries are not comprehensive or definitive. All references to the Act, the Bonds, the
Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Obligations and the Mortgage, are brief summaries
of certain provisions thereof and are qualified in their entirety by the definitive forms of such statute and documents.
Copics of the documents are available for inspection at the corporate office of the Bond Trustee, People’s United
Bank, located at Two Burlington Square, Burlington, Vermont 05401,

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Agency. The Agency is not obligated to pay principal of, or
premium, if any, or the interest on the Bonds except from (i) payments to be made by the Corporation under the
Loan Agreement and the security therefor; and (ii) other amounts held by the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Trust
Agreement. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any municipality or political
subdivision of the State is pledged as security for the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on
the Bonds.

Capitalized terms used in this Official Statement have the meanings specified herein and in Appendix C-1
hereto. Terms not otherwise defined in this Official Statement have the meanings provided in the specific
documents.

THE AGENCY

The Agency has been created as a body corporate and politic constituting a public instrumentality of the
State for the purpose of exercising the powers conferred on it by virtue of the Act. The purpose of the Agency is
essentially to assist certain health care and cducational facilities in the acquisition, construction, financing and
refinancing of their related projects.

Agency Membership and Organization

Under the Act, the Board of the Agency consists of the Commissioner of Education of the State, the State
Treasurer, the Secretary of Human Services, and the Secretary of Administration of the State, all ex officio, seven
members appointed by the Governor of the State, with the advice and consent of the Senatc, for terms of six years,
and two members appointed by the seven members for lerms of two years. The members of the Board annually
elect a Chair, Vice-Chair, Treasurer and Secretary. The day-to-day administration of the Agency is handled by the
Executive Director of the Agency.



The present officers and members of the Agency and their places of business or residence are as follows:

Officers and Members
James E. Potvin, Chair Dawn D. Bugbee, Vice Chair
Certified Public Accountant Chief Financial Officer
Stevens, Wilcox, Baker, Potvin, Green Mountain Power Corporation
Cassidy & Jakubowski Colchester, Vermont
Rutland, Vermont
Edward T, Ogorzalek, Treasurer Stephen Gurin, Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Regional Vice President
Rutland Regional Medical Center Community National Bank
Rutland, Vermont Montpelier, Vermont
Ex Officio Members
Beth Pearce Jeb Spaulding
State Treasurer Secretary of Administration
Montpelier, Vermont Montpelier, Vermont
Armando Vilaseca Douglas A. Racine
Commissioner of Education Secretary of Human Services Agency
Montpelier, Vermont Waterbury, Vermont
Other Members
Kenneth Gibbons Kenneth Linsley
President President
Union Bank Green Mountain Transformer Consultants, LLC
Morrisville, Vermont Danville, Vermont
Sandy Predom Neal E. Robinson
Vice President Vice President for Finance
The Merchants Bank St. Michael’s College
Rutland, Vermont Colchester, Vermont

Stuart W. Weppler
Business and Financial Consultant
Morrisville, Vermont

Executive Director
Robert Giroux
Executive Director
Vermont Educational and Health
Buildings Financing Agency
Winooski, Vermont

Deppman & Foley, P.C., Middlebury, Vermont, is general counsel to the Agency.

Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York, is Bond Counsel and will submit its approving opinion with regard to the
legality of the Bonds.

Public Financial Management, Inc., is the financial advisor to the Agency.



Financing Programs of the Agency

The Agency was duly created under the Act as a body corporate and politic constituting a public
instrumentality of the State. The Act empowers the Agency, among other things, to finance or assist in the financing
of eligible institutions, through financing agreements, which may include loan agreements, lease agreements,
conditional sales agreements, installment sale contracts, and other types of contracts to acquire property, both real
and personal, including leasehold and other interests in land necessary or convenient for its corporate purposes; 1o
acquire or make loans with respect to facilities, including buildings, improvements to real property, equipment,
furnishings, appurtenances, utilities and other property, determined by the Agency 1o be necessary or convenient in
the operation of any eligible borrower; to lease or to make loans with respect to such facilities to any such eligible
borrower and 1o issue refunding bonds of the Agency whether the bonds to be refunded have or have not matured.

The Agency has heretofore authorized and issued numerous series of its bonds and notes. Other than the
Series 2003A Bonds and the Series 2003B Bonds, which were issued by the Agency on behalf of the Corporation,
all outstanding Agency bond and note issues have been authorized and issued pursuant to financing documents
separate from and unrelated to the Loan Agreement and the Trust Agreement for the Bonds. Such bonds and notes
are payable from certain revenues other than those pledged for payment of the Bonds. Inasmuch as each series of
bonds and notes of the Agency is secured separately from all other bonds and notes issued thereby, the moneys on
deposit in the funds (including cash and securities in the reserve accounts) established to provide for the timely
payment of the debt service requirements on the various issues of outstanding bonds and notes of the Agency cannot
be commingled or be used for any purpose other than servicing the requirements of the specific series of bonds or
notes in connection with which such funds were created.

The Agency under the Act may issue from time to time other bonds and notes under separate resolutions,
trust agreements and loan agreements to assist certain health care and educational facilities in the acquisition,
construction, financing and refinancing of their related projects payable from revenues derived by the Agency from
such borrower.

Other than with respect to the description of the Agency provided under the caption “THE AGENCY”
herein, and the information with respect to the Agency under “NO LITIGATION” herein, the Agency has not
prepared or reviewed, and expresses no opinion with respect to the accuracy or completeness of, any of the
information set forth in this Official Statement.

No recourse shall be had for any claim based on the Bonds, the Loan Agreement, the Trust Agreement or
the Master Indenture against any past, present or future member, officer, employee or agent, as such, of the Agency
or of any predecessor or successor corporation, either directly or through the Agency or otherwise, whether by virtue
of any constitution, stature or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise.

THE CORPORATION

For a discussion of the Corporation, its governance, administration, facilities, academic programs, and
student body and a summary of its financial operations, see Appendix A to this Official Statement. See also the
financial statements of the Corporation in Appendix B to this Official Statement.

THE PROJECT

The Corporation will use a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds to finance certain capital improvements to
its buildings and facilities and to construct a new student fitness center (the “Project”). Commencement of the
Project is contingent on receiving various State and local land use permits and approvals. The Corporation has not
yet obtained all required permits necessary to commence construction of each component of the Project. The
Corporation expects to receive such additional permits. The Corporation expects construction to commence in May
of 2011, with completion and occupancy scheduled for September of 2013,



DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be dated the date of delivery and will mature in the principal amounts on January 1 in each
of the years as shown on the inside cover page hereof. The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form and when
issued will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of DTC, DTC will act as securities depository for
the Bonds. Individual purchases will be made in book-entry form only, in the principal amount of $5,000, or integral
multiples thereof.

Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Bonds. Interest on the Bonds will
be payable January 1 and July 1 of each year, commencing July 1, 2011, until maturity.

Optional Redemption of the Bonds

The Bonds maturing on or before January 1, 2021, shall not be subject o optional redemption prior to
maturity. The Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2022, shall be subject to optional redemption prior to maturity
on not less than thirty (30) days notice as a whole or in part on any date (and if in part, in such order of maturity as
the Corporation shall designate) at the option of the Corporation on January 1, 2021, and on any date thereafter at
100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, without premium.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption of the Bonds

If the Corporation exercises its option to prepay the Loan, as provided in the Loan Agreement, in whole or
in part, upon the occurrence of certain events described below, the Bonds are required to be redeemed, in whole if
the Loan is prepaid in full, or in part if the Loan is prepaid in part, on any date, upon payment of 100% of the
principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrucd to the redemption date, without premium.

The Corporation has the option to prepay the Loan in full or in part at any time at par plus accrued interest
upon the occurrence of one of the following events:

(a) Damage to or destruction of all or any part (if damage or destruction of such part causes the
Corporation to be impracticable to operate, as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Agency and the
Bond Trustee) of its operating assets by fire or casualty, or loss of title to or use of substantially all of the operating
assets as a result of the failure of title or as a result of eminent domain proceedings or proceedings in lieu thereof; or

(b) Changes in the Constitution of the United States of America or of the State or of legislation or
administrative action, or failure of administrative action by the United States or the State or any agency or political
subdivision of either thereof, or by reason of any judicial decision;

in either event, to such extent that in the opinion of the Board of Trustees of the Corporation (expressed in a
resolution) and in the opinion of an independent architect, engineer or management consullant (as may be
appropriate for the particular event), both filed with the Agency and the Bond Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is
impossible to perform without unreasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being
imposed on the date hereof are imposed on the Corporation.



Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption

The Bonds maturing on January 1, 2028, are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part by lot on
January 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided in the Trust
Agreement.

Bonds Maturing

January 1, 2028
Year Amount
2022 $345,000
2023 370,000
2024 390,000
2025 415,000
2026 440,000
2027 465,000
2028* 490,000

*Maturity

The Bonds maturing on January 1, 2033, are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part by lot on
January 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided in the Trust
Agreement.

Bonds Maturing

January 1, 2033
Year Amount
2029 $520,000
2030 555,000
2031 590,000
2032 630,000
2033* 665,000

*Maturity



The Bonds maturing on January 1, 2041, are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in part on
January 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided in the Trust
Agreement.

Bonds Maturing

January 1, 2041
Year Amount
2034 $220,000
2035 230,000
2036 245,000
2037 260,000
2038 280,000
2039 295,000
2040 315,000
2041* 335,000

*Maturity

The amounts accumulated for each sinking fund installment may be applied by the Bond Trustee prior to
the 45" day preceding the due date of such sinking fund installment to the purchase of such Bonds at a price not
exceeding the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of purchase. To the extent that in any Bond
Year, the amount on deposit in the Sinking Fund Account for the Bonds plus the principal amount of the Bonds so
purchased exceeds the sinking fund installment due on the next succeeding January 1, the Bond Trustee shall
endeavor to purchase any Bonds then outstanding with such excess money. To the extent that the principal amount
of the Bonds so purchased exceeds the sinking fund installment due on the next succeeding January 1, future sinking
fund installments set forth above may be reduced by the amount of such excess in the years and amounts designated
by the Corporation.

General Redemption Provisions

The Bonds shall be redeemed only in whole multiples of $5,000. The Bond Trustee will select the Bonds
to be redeemed in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement.

If less than all of the Bonds of any maturity are to be called for redemption, the Bond Trustee shall select,
in such manner as the Bond Trustee in its discretion may determine, the Bonds to be redeemed within each maturity,
including each Sinking Fund Requirement, each $5,000 portion of principal being counted as one Bond for this

purpose.
Notice of Redemption

So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the Bonds, the Bond Trustee, the Agency and the
Bond Registrar will recognize DTC or its nominee as the registered owner of the Bonds for all purposes, including
notices and voting. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory and regulatory requirements as may be in effect
from time to time.

The Bond Trustee shall give notice of redemption to the Holders of Bonds to be redeemed by mail, postage
prepaid, not more than 60 days nor less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Failure to mail any such



notice to any Holder or any defect in any notice so mailed shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the
redemption of the Bonds of any other Holders.

With respect to any notice of redemption of the Bonds at the option of the Corporation, such notice shall
state that such redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt by the Bond Trustee, on or prior to the date fixed for
such redemption, of moneys or Defeasance Obligations, or a combination of both, sufficient to pay the Redemption
Price of and accrued interest on such Bonds to be redeemed, and that if such moneys or Defeasance Obligations
shall not have been so received, said notice shall be of no force and effect and the Agency shall not be required to
redeem such Bonds. In the event that such moneys or Defeasance Obligations are not so received, the redemption
shall not be made and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner in which the
notice of redemption was given, that such moneys or Defeasance Obligations were not so received.

So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the Bonds, any failure on the part of DTC or
failure on the part of a nominee of a Beneficial Owner (having received notice from a DTC Participant or otherwise)
to notify the Beneficial Owner so affected, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of such Bonds.

Payment of Redeemed Bonds

Notice having been given in the manner provided above, Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption
shall become due and payable on the redemption date so designated at the redemption price, plus interest accrued
and unpaid to the redemption date. If money or Defeasance Obligations, or a combination of both, sufficient to pay
the redemption price of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, are
held by the Bond Trustee in trust for the Holders of Bonds to be redeemed, interest on the Bonds called for
redemption will cease to accrue, such Bonds will cease lo be entitled to any benefit or security under the Trust
Agreement or to be deemed Outstanding and the Holders of such Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof
except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.



and debt service on other outstanding bonded indebtedness.

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The following table sets forth, for each period of January 2 through January 1 of the following year, the
amounts required each year to be made available for the payment of debt service by the Corporation on the Bonds

See “APPENDIX A - INFORMATION

CONCERNING VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC. — Outstanding Indebtedness of the Law School” for a
description of the indebtedness of the Corporation for which debt service is included under “Net Existing Debt
Service.” The principal amounts and sinking fund requirements with respect to the Bonds, and the sinking fund
requirements for the Bonds, will be payable on January 1. Interest on the Bonds will be payable on January 1 and
July 1, commencing July 1, 2011.

Net Existing  Principalon  Interest on the Total Principal & Total Debt
Debt Service the Bonds Bonds interest on the Service
H@e) @ Bonds Requirements
Date January 1 - w
2012 $ 77,575 $235,000 $467,221 $702,221 $ 779,796
2013 116,837 170,000 597,819 767,819 884,656
2014 154,730 255,000 592,719 847,719 1,002,449
2015 158,000 260,000 585,069 845,069 1,003,069
2016 171,125 270,000 577,269 847,269 1,018,394
2017 173,893 275,000 567,819 842,819 1,016,712
2018 191,482 290,000 556,819 846,819 1,038,301
2019 198,625 305,000 544,494 849,494 1,048,119
2020 205,500 310,000 530,759 840,769 1,046,269
2021 217,141 325,000 516,044 841,044 1,058,184
2022 228,360 345,000 499,794 844,794 1,073,154
2023 239,250 370,000 478,663 848,663 1,087,913
2024 249,750 390,000 456,000 846,000 1,095,750
2025 264,887 415,000 432,113 847,113 1,111,999
2026 279,490 440,000 406,694 846,694 1,126,183
2027 293,625 465,000 379,744 844,744 1,138,369
2028 247,250 490,000 351,263 841,263 1,088,512
2029 201,881 520,000 321,250 841,250 1,043,131
2030 217,495 555,000 288,750 843,750 1,061,245
2031 232,625 590,000 254,063 844,063 1,076,688
2032 247,250 630,000 217,188 847,188 1,094,438
2033 261,376 665,000 177,813 842,813 1,104,189
2034 220,000 136,250 356,250 356,250
2035 230,000 122,500 352,500 352,500
2036 245,000 108,125 353,125 353,125
2037 260,000 92,813 352,813 352,813
2038 280,000 76,563 356,563 356,563
2039 295,000 59,063 354,063 354,063
2040 315,000 40,625 355,625 355,625
2041 335,000 20,938 355,938 355,938

(1)
)]

€)
C))

Amounts listed may vary from actual amounts due based on rounding.
Net Existing Debt Service excludes the debt service on the Series 2003A Bonds and debt scrvice on
Obligation No. 4 in the amount of $850,000, which is expected to be repaid by June 30, 2011.

Interest on variable rate bonds assumed to average 0.50% for the period ending January 1, 2012, 1.50% for
the period ending January 1, 2013 and 2.50% thereafter.
Principal due either at maturity or by operation of sinking fund redemption.
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BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system was obtained from materials
provided by DTC. None of the Corporation, the Agency or the Underwriter takes any responsibility jor the
accuracy thereof.

General. DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be initially issued as fully-
registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond will be issued for each maturity of
the Bonds and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s
participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access 1o the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, cither directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants™). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com
and www.dltc.org.

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners
will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to
receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings,
from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect
Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive definitive Bonds, except in
the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by DTC Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Dircct Participants to whose accounts
the Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to

Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject 1o any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
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Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a Series are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such Bonds to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Bonds
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures,
DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Corporation as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy
assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are
credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption payments and payments of principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede
& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to
credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the
Corporation, through the Bond Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on
DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in
“street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, nor its nominee, or the Corporation,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Redemption payments and
payments of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Corporation, through the Bond Trustee, disbursement of such

Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to the Corporation or the Bond Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor
depository is not obtained, certificates for the Bonds are required to be printed and delivered.

The Corporation may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, certificates for the Bonds will also be printed and delivered to DTC.

NONE OF THE CORPORATION, THE BOND TRUSTEE OR THE UNDERWRITER WILL HAVE
ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO THE DTC PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS
OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS
MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO
ANY DTC PARTICIPANT, ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT OF THE
PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS; (3) THE DELIVERY OF ANY NOTICE TO ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT, ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH IS REQUIRED OR
PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE BONDS TO BE GIVEN TO BONDHOLDERS; OR (4) ANY
CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS BOND OWNER.

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC NOMINEE IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF
THE BONDS, AS NOMINEE OF DTC, REFERENCES HEREIN TO THE BONDHOLDERS OR REGISTERED
OWNERS OF THE BONDS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC NOMINEE AND SHALL
NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE BONDS. PAYMENTS MADE BY THE BOND TRUSTEE
TO DTC OR ITS NOMINEE SHALL SATISFY THE CORPORATION’S OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO
THE BONDS TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS.

IT IS THE DUTY OF EACH BENEFICIAL OWNER TO ARRANGE WITH THE DTC PARTICIPANT
OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT TO RECEIVE FROM SUCH DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST, CREDIT BALANCES AND ALL OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS WHICH THE DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT RECEIVES FROM
DTC.

In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued and the Beneficial Owners become registered

owners of the Bonds, the following provisions applicable to registered owners would apply: (i) Bonds may be
exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate, in other
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authorized denominations, upon surrender thereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee; (ii)
the transfer of any Bonds may be registered on the books maintained by the Bond Trustee for such purpose only
upon the surrender thereof to the Bond Trustee together with a duly executed assignment in form satisfactory to the
Corporation and the Bond Trustee; and (iii) for every exchange or registration of transfer of Bonds, the Bond
Trustee may impose a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or governmental charge required to be paid
with respect to such exchange or registration of transfer of the Bonds.

Additional Information

For every transfer and exchange of the Bonds, DTC, the Bond Trustee, as Bond Registrar, and the DTC
Participants may charge the Beneficial Owner a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other charge that may be
imposed in relation thereto.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from
sources the Corporation believes to be reliable, but the Corporation takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be secured by (1) the Loan Repayments and (2) Obligation No. 5, together with all other
moneys and securities held from to time by the Bond Trustee for the Bondholders under the Trust Agreement.

Principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable from moneys paid by the
Corporation pursuant to the Loan Agreement and by the Obligated Group pursuant to Obligation No. 5. Payment of
Obligation No. 5 will be the joint and several obligation of the Members of the Obligated Group under the Master
Indenture. Currently, the Corporation is the only member of the Obligated Group.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency has, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, assigned all
of the Agency’s right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement (subject to the reservation of certain rights of
the Agency, including its rights to notices, payment of certain expenses and indemnity), all of the Agency’s right,
title and interest in and to Obligation No. 5, all of the Agency’s rights under the Master Indenture as the owner of
Obligation No. 5 and all moneys and securities in the Bond Fund, the Construction Fund and the Redemption Fund
established under the Trust Agreement, to the Bond Trustee in trust.

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Agency. The Agency is not obligated to pay principal of and
premium, if any, and the interest on the Bonds except from the sources described above. The Bonds do not
constitute or create any debt, liability or obligation of the State or any political subdivision or instrumentality thereof
(other than the Agency) or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State or any political subdivision or agency of the
State, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision or any agency
thereof is pledged as security for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

Master Trust Indenture

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, as security for the payment of the amounts due on the Obligations issued
under the Master Indenture, the Corporation has pledged and granted, and any other future Members of the
Obligated Group will pledge and grant, a security interest in Pledged Assets to the Master Trustee. The Pledged
Assets consist of the Gross Revenues of the Members of the Obligated Group and all proceeds thereof, For
purposes of the Master Indenture, the term “Gross Revenues™ means all revenues, income, receipts and money
(other than proceeds of borrowing) received in any period by or on behalf of any Member of the Obligated Group,
including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) tuition and other revenues derived from its
operations, (b) gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions and the income therefrom, exclusive of any gifts,
grants, bequests, donations and contributions to the extent specifically restricted by the donor to a particular purpose
inconsistent with their use for the payment of Obligations, (c) proceeds derived from (i) insurance, except to the
extent otherwise required or permitted by the Master Indenture to be applied in a manner inconsistent with their use
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as Gross Revenues, (ii) Accounts, (iii) securities and other investments, (iv) inventory and other tangible and
intangible property and (V) accounts receivable, general intangibles, contract rights, chattel paper, instruments and
other rights and assets now or hereafter owned, held or possessed by any Member of the Obligated Group, and (d)
rentals received from the leasing of real or tangible personal property. The security interest in Gross Revenues has
been perfected to the extent, and only to the extent, that such security interest may be perfecied by filing financing
statements under the Uniform Commercial Code of the State (the “UCC”). Continuation statements with respect to
such filings must be filed every five years to continue the perfection of such security interest. The security interest
in Gross Revenues is subject to the right of each Member of the Obligated Group to sell or otherwise transfer
Pledged Assets. The security interest in certain of the Gross Revenues may not be enforceable against third parties
unless those Gross Revenues are transferred to the Master Trustee (which transfer Members of the Obligated Group
are required to make only if requested by the Master Trustee after a default under the Master Indenture) and is
subject to certain exceptions under the UCC.

In addition, pursuant to the Mortgage, the Corporation has mortgaged and pledged to the Master Trustee,
for the benefit of the holders of the Obligations, the Mortgaged Property. The Mortgaged Property consists of the
real estate and buildings located in South Royalton, Vermont that are used by the Corporation as its “core campus.”

The enforcement of the security interest in Pledged Assets may be further limited by the following: (i)
statutory liens, (ii) rights arising in favor of the United States of America or any agency thereof, (iii) constructive
trusts, equitable liens or other rights impressed or conferred by any state or federal court in the exercise of its
equitabie jurisdiction, (iv) federai bankruptcy laws, Siate of Vermont receivership or fraudulent conveyance iaws or
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights that may affect the enforceability of the Master Indenture or the security
interest in Gross Revenues and (v) rights of third parties in Gross Revenues not in the possession of the Master
Trustee. The enforcement of the interest of the Master Trustee in the Mortgaged Property may also be subject to (i)
statutory liens, (ii) federal bankruptcy laws, State of Vermont receivership or fraudulent conveyance laws or similar
laws affecting creditors’ rights that may affect the enforceability of the Mortgage, (iii) and Permitted Liens allowed
under the Master Indenture. See “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS - Enforcement of Bondholder Remedies; Bankruptcy™
herein.

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the Corporation will amend the Master Indenture to include
certain financial covenants as described herein. Under the Master Indenture, each Member of the Obligated Group
agrees that it will maintain the following financial covenants (collectively, the “Financial Covenants™), subject to
annual verification by the Master Trustee, based on the Corporation’s Audited Financial Statements:

Debt Service Coverage Covenant. The Corporation covenants that it will maintain a Debt Service
Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.0 so long as any Obligations are outstanding. Compliance with this Debt Service
Coverage Ratio covenant will be tested annually, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 on the basis
of the Corporation’s audited financial statement for the preceding fiscal year, An Event of Default under the Master
Trust Indenture will occur should the Corporation fail to satisfy its covenant to maintain such Debt Service
Coverage Ratio for two consecutive fiscal years.

The term “Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means the quotient of Operating Revenues Available for Debt
Service divided by Annual Debt Service.

“Operating Revenues Available for Debt Service” means total Unrestricted Operating Revenues minus tota)
unrestricted operating expenses, excluding depreciation, amortization, and interest expenses as shown in the
Corporation’s most recent audited financial statements, and, to the extent otherwise taken into account in
determining unrestricted operating activity, excluding (i) any losses resulting from either the extinguishment of
indebtedness or the sale, exchange or other disposition of capital assets not in the ordinary course of business, (ii)
earnings resulting from any reappraisal, revaluation or write-up or write-down of fixed or capital assets, (iii) any
non-cash adjustment for changes in accounting estimates, change in generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP™), or other non-cash adjustments made and accrued in accordance with GAAP, (iv) extreordinary items, (v)
any realized gains or losses on the sale of investments or interest exchange agreements, and (vi) any unrealized
gains/appreciation or losses/depreciation on the carrying value of invesiments or interest exchange agreements.
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“Unrestricted Operating Revenues” means the Corporation’s total unrestricted operating revenues,
including funds made available for operations from endowment funds and from other temporarily restricted
resources shown in the Corporation’s audited financial statements, and excluding (i) eny gains or losses resulting
from the extinguishment of indebtedness or the sale, exchange or other disposition of capital assets not in the
ordinary course of business, (ii) any reappraisal, revaluation or write-up or write-down of fixed or capital assets, (iii)
any non-cash adjustment for changes to accounting estimates, change in GAAP, or other non-cash adjustments made
in accordance with GAAP, (iv) extraordinary items, (v) any realized gains or losses on the sale of investments or
interest rate exchange agreements and (vi) any unrealized gains/appreciation or losses/depreciation on the carrying
value of investments or interest rate exchange agreements.

“Annual Debt Service” means the sum of the principal and sinking fund installments of and interest on
outstanding long-term debt payable during a fiscal year provided that with respect to any Variable Rate Indebtedness
(a) if the debt is tax-exempt, the interest rate borne by such debt shall be assumed to be the five year average of the
SIFMA Swap Index (or a comparable index), and (b) if such debt is not tax-exempt, the interest rate borne by such
debt shall be assumed to be the five year average of 30-day LIBOR (or a comparable index), both as of the five most
recent fiscal years. With respect to principal and sinking fund installments paid in any fiscal year on outstanding
Balloon Indebtedness, such debt shall be assumed to amortize on a level debt service basis with a term equaling the
original term of the debt, and using the interest rate of such debt.

“SIFMA Swap Index™ shall mean, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade
market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data, Inc., and
published or made available by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (“SIFMA™) or any person
acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and effective from such date; provided, however,
that, if such index is no longer provided by Municipal Market Data, Inc. or its successor, the “Municipal Index”
shall mean such other reasonably comparable index selected by the Master Trustee (who may conclusively rely upon
an opinion of a commercial or investment banking firm knowledgeable in municipal finance).

Limit on Additional Indebtedness. In addition, the Master Indenture will be amended to provide that, so
long as any Obligation remains Outstanding, no Member of the Obligated Group may:

(i) incur Long-Term Indebtedness unless total maximum Annual Debt Service on outstanding and
proposed Long-Term Indebtedness does not exceed 10% of Unrestricted Operating Revenues for the prior
fiscal year; or

(i) take any action under Section 3.06 of the Master Indenture (with respect to transfers of Property,
Plant and Equipment) (other than transfers to Affiliates in the normal course of business), Section 3.07 of
the Master Indenture (with respect to consolidations, merger, sale or conveyance of substantially all of its
assets), Section 3.09 of the Master Indenture (with respect to admission of new Members of the Obligated
Group) or Section 3.10 of the Master Indenture (with respect to withdrawal of any Member of the
Obligated Group) of the Master Indenture unless the Obligated Group is in compliance with the Financial
Covenants both immediately before and immediately after taking such action.

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Members of the Obligated Group are subject to covenants under the
Master Indenture relating to the existence of liens on the Mortgaged Property, consolidation and merger, addition of
Members to the Obligated Group and withdrawal of Members from the Obligated Group. The Master Indenture
may be amended or modified as set forth therein. The Master Indenture provides that to the extent that a proposed
amendment or supplement does not affect the Holders of all Obligations Outstanding and does not cover such
subjects or matters as to which the consent of Holders of the Obligations is not required for an amendment or
supplement, the Corporation and the Master Trustee may enter into such amendment or supplement with the consent
of Holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal amount of Obligations then Outstanding affected by such
amendment. See Appendix C-2 hereto.

The Master Indenture permits Members of the Obligated Group to issue or incur additional indebtedness
evidenced by obligations that will share the security under the Master Indenture on a parity with Obligation No. 5.
The Corporation will issue Obligation No. 5 as security for the Corporation’s Obligations with respect to the Bonds.
The Corporation has previously issued its Obligation No. 1 in connection with, and as security for, the Series 2003A
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Bonds. Upon the delivery of the Bonds and the refunding of the Series 2003A Bonds, Obligation No. 1 is to be
cancelled. The Corporation has previously issued its Obligation No. 2 and Obligation No. 3 for the benefit of the
Holders of the Series 2003B Bonds and for the benefit of the Credit Facility issuer for such Series 2003B Bonds,
respectively. The Series 2003B Bonds and Obligations No. 2 and No. 3 remain outstanding. The Corporation has
issued its Obligation No. 4 in connection with a loan in the principal amount of $850,000 from TD Bank, N.A. Itis
expected that such loan will be repaid by June 30, 2011 and Obligation No. 4 will then be cancelled. In addition, the
Corporation may issue additional Obligations under and in accordance with the Master Indenture, which Obligations
shall be on a parity basis with Obligation No. 5. Such additional Obligations will not be secured by the money or
investments in any fund or account held by the Bond Trustee for the security of the respective series of bonds but
will be equally and ratably secured by all Pledged Assets and the Mortgaged Property held by the Master Trustee for
all Obligations issued by the Corporation under the Master Indenture.

The Corporation currently is the only Member of the Obligated Group. Although the Master Indenture
permits other entities to become Members of the Obligated Group, the Corporation might remain the only Member
of the Obligated Group throughout the term of the Bonds. Since it is not known which entities, if any, may become
additional Members of the Obligated Group, it is unknown what risks the addition of such entities to the Obligated
Group, in light of their financial condition and the nature of their businesses, may present to the Bondholders. See
the caption “COPY OF THE MASTER INDENTURE” in Appendix C-2 to this Official Statement.

In addition, Members may withdraw from the Obligated Group, and be released from all obligations
previously incurred by the Obiigated Group, if certain conditions summarized under the caption “COPY OF THE
MASTER INDENTURE” in Appendix C-2 to this Official Statement are met. However, the Corporation has agreed
10 not withdraw from the Obligated Group while Obligation No. 5 remains outstanding.

In addition, the assets of any Member of the Obligated Group may be held by a court to be subject to a
charitable trust which prohibits payments in respect of obligations incurred by or for the benefit of others if a
Member of the Obligated Group has insufficient assets remaining to carry out its own charitable functions or, under
certain circumstances, if the obligations paid by such Member of the Obligated Group were issued for purposes
inconsistent with or beyond the scope of the charitable purposes for which such Member was organized. The
enforceability of similar master trust indentures has been challenged in jurisdictions outside of the State. In the
absence of clear legal precedent in this area, the extent to which the assets of any Member of the Obligated Group
can be used to pay Obligations issued by other Members of the Obligated Group cannot be determined at this time.

The obligations of the Corporation under the Loan Agreement and the obligations of the Members of the
Obligated Group under the Master Indenture are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance and other
laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and the application of general principles of equity and other debtor relief
laws and as additionally described below.

The realization of any rights upon default by the Corporation will depend upon the exercise of various
remedies specified in the Loan Agreement and the Master Indenture. These remedies, in certain respects, may
require judicial action, which is often subject to discretion and delay. Under existing law, certain of the remedies
specified in the Obligation No. 5, the Loan Agreement and the Master Indenture may not be readily available or may
be limited. A court may decide not to order the specific performance of the covenants contained in such documents.
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to (1) advance refund the Series 2003A
Bonds, (2) fund certain capital expenditures of the Project, (3) pay & portion of the interest expected to accrue on the
Bonds and (4) pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

Set forth below are the estimated sources of funds which will be available for such purposes and the
estimated uses of funds required for such purposes:

Sources of Funds

Par Amount of Bonds $ 10,750,000
Net Original Issue (Discount) (189,577)
Transfers from Prior Trustee Held Funds 524,963
Equity Contribution 55,762
Total Sources $11,141,148
Uses of Funds
Deposit to Project Construction Fund $ 4,006,577
Deposit to Escrow Fund 6,378,219
Deposit to Capitalized Interest Account 489,382
Costs of Issuance* 266,970
Total Uses $ 11,141,148

* Includes Underwriter’s discount, trustee fees, verification agent fees, counsel fees and issuer fees.



BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS

Purchase of the Bonds involves a degree of risk. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should give careful
consideration to the matiers referred to in the following summary. Such summary should not be considered
exhaustive, but rather informational only.

No Obligation of the State or Any Municipality or Political Subdivision

Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any municipality or political subdivision
of the State is pledged to the payment of the Bonds. The Bonds are special obligations of the Agency payable solely
from the sources described in this Official Statement.

Source of Payment of the Bonds

The Bonds are payable solely from payments to be made by the Members of the Obligated Group under
Obligation No. 5 and by the Corporation under the Loan Agreement. While the future ability of the Corporation to
meet its obligations under the Loan Agreement is based upon assumptions and business judgments which the
Corporalion believes are reasonable and appropriate, they are subject to conditions which may change in the future
to an extent that cannot be determined at this time. Thus, no assurance can be given that revenues will be realized
by the Corporation in amounts sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

The eamings and revenue by the Corporation are subject to, among other things, demand for the services
offered by the Corporation, the ability of the Corporation to continue to provide such services, competition, tuition
charges, costs, management and staff personnel and future economics and other developments, all of which are
unpredictable and any or all of which may affect revenues and the payment of principal and interest on the Bonds.
There is no representation or assurance that the Corporation will generate sufficient revenues to meet its obligations
under the Loan Agrecment, the Master Indenture, or the Obligations. There will not be a debt service reserve fund
cstablished to secure or provide for payment of the Bonds.

The Corporation expects that it will experience increases in operating costs due to inflation and other
factors. There is no assurance that cost increases will be matched by increased tuition and other charges in amounts
sufficient to generate an excess of revenues over expenses at the levels experienced by the Corporation.

Enrollment

Approximately 85% of the Corporation’s total revenues are derived from tuition and fec payments. There
can be no assurance that the Corporation’s enrollment will remain at levels sufficient to provide funds to pay
operating expenses and principal and interest on the Bonds, or that attempts to raise tuition to offset any drop in
enrollment would be successful. The current and future economic conditions, including decreased demand in the
employment market for law school graduates, may result in the reduction of enroliment levels. A smaller pool of
applicants and law students will result in a reduction in revenues which may affect the ability of the Corporation to
make payments of interest and principal on the Bonds.

Competition

Competition for students among law schools remains intense. If the Corporation is unable to maintain its
competitive position, its ability to earn revenues and to pay debt service on the Bonds may be impaired. Enrollment
is sensitive to demographic trends and overall demand for legal educational services. A major change in the
population or the employment prospects of students, which would result in the Corporation’s inability Lo attract
students, would have a negative impact on the revenues of the Corporation. If the Corporation is unable to maintain
its competitive position, its ability to earn revenues and to pay debt service on the Bonds may be impaired.

Construction Costs and Delays

Numerous factors may affect the cost of construction of the Project by the Corporation, including permit
conditions and requirements, costs of construction, materials and labor, and other factors. While the Corporation

18



believes that its estimates of the cost of the Project are reasonable, there can be no assurance that the Project can be
completed within budget, estimates or on schedule. Failure to complete the Project on schedule or within budget
could adversely affect the Corporation’s use of the Project or its financial condition.

Real Estate Related Risks

There are many risks related to any ownership of real estate, not within the control of the Corporation.
These risks may have substantial bearing on the value of the properties encumbered by the Mortgage. Such risks
include environmental matters, fire or other casualty, condemnation, increased taxes, changes in demand for such
facilities, real property assessments, decline in local and general economic conditions and changing governmental
regulations. Matters of environmental concern with respect to the Mortgaged Property may materially affect the
value or use of the properties subject to the Mortgage and the Master Trustee’s ability to foreclose or sell the
properties subject to the Morigage.

Fundraising

The Corporation relies on annual giving to support its operating needs and intends to continue its
fundraising efforts. There can be no assurance, however, that these efforts will be successful. Such efforts may be
affected adversely by a number of factors, including without limitation changes in general economic conditions and
changes in federal and state tax laws affecting the deductibility of charitable contributions. Furthermore, the
performance of investments of the Corporation’s endowment is subject to market risks and uncertainties.

Covenant to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status of the Bonds

The tax-exempt status of the Bonds is based on the continued compliance by the Agency and the
Corporation with certain covenants contained in the Trust Agreement, the Loan Agreement and certain other
documents executed by the Agency and the Corporation. These covenants relate generally to restrictions on use of
facilities financed with proceeds of the Bonds, arbitrage limitations, rebate of certain excess investment earnings to
the federal government and restrictions on the amount of issuance costs financed with the proceeds of the Bonds.
Failure to comply with such covenants could cause interest on the Bonds to become subject to federal income
taxation retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds.

Enforcement of Bondholder Remedies; Bankruptcy

The Bond Trustee’s right to enforce payment under the Loan Agreement and the Obligations under the
Master Indenture may be limited by bankruptcy proceedings and equity principles and may be subject to judicial
discretion and delay. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds will be
qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by any of the foregoing.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the proceeds of any liquidation of the assets subject to the Master
Indenture would be available or available on a timely basis to pay the Bonds in full.

Bankruptcy proceedings by the Corporation could have adverse effects on holders of the Bonds, including
(1) delay in enforcement of their remedies, (2) subordination of their claims to claims of those supplying goods and
services to the Corporation after the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings and to the administrative expenses of
bankruptcy proceedings, and (3) imposition without their consent of a plan of reorganization reducing or delaying
payment of the Bonds. The effect of application of the United States Bankruptcy Code to any bankruptcy
proceedings by the Corporation cannot be predicted and may be affected significantly by judicial interpretation.

The state of insolvency, fraudulent conveyance and bankruptcy laws relating to the enforceability of
guaranties or obligations issued by a corporation in favor of the creditors of another, or the obligation of a Member
of the Obligated Group to make debt service payments on behalf of another Member of the Obligated Group, is
unsettled. The ability to enforce the Master Indenture or any Obligations, including Obligation No. 5, against any
Member of the Obligated Group which would be rendered insolvent thereby could be subject to challenge. A
Member of the Obligated Group may not be required to make any payment or to provide for the payment of any
Obligations, or portion thereof, the proceeds of which were not loaned or otherwise disbursed to such Member of the
Obligated Group, to the extent that such transfer would render the Member of the Obligated Group insolvent or
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which would conflict with, not be permitted by or is subject to recovery for the benefit of other creditors of such
Member of the Obligated Group under applicable laws.

Limitations on Pledged Assets

In the event of a default or an acceleration of the Bonds, the Bond Trustee is authorized to enforce the
obligations evidenced by the Obligation under the Master Indenture. Enforcement of the pledge of the Pledged
Assets and the Mortgaged Property may result in insufficient funds to pay the entire outstanding amount of principal
and interest on the Bonds.

The Bankruptcy Code also grants broad power to a bankruptcy court to modify the rights of a creditor
holding a secured claim. In the event of a bankruptcy proceeding involving the Corporation by virtue of the Master
Indenture, the Master Trustee should be treated under the Bankruptcy Code as one holding a secured claim, to the
extent provided in the Master Indenture. The potential effects of bankruptcy could be, among other things, to delay
enforcement of remedies otherwise available to the Bond Trustee and allow the bankruptcy court, under certain
circumstances, to subordinate the rights and liens created by the Master Indenture, to sell all or part of the
Corporation’s assets without application of the proceeds to the Obligations, to permit the Corporation to cure
defaults, or to modify the terms of or payments due under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, or the
Obligations, as the case may be.

Limitations on Security Interests

The perfection of the security interests in the Pledged Assets of the Corporation may be limited by a
number of factors. Under current law, such security interest may be limited by (i) statutory liens; (ii) rights arising
in favor of the United States of America or any agency thereof; (iii) constructive trusts, equitable liens and other
rights impressed or conferred by any federal or state court in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction; (iv) the
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code affecting assignments of revenues eamned afier or within 366 days prior to
bankruptcy proceedings by or against the Corporation; (v) rights of third parties in such property converted to cash
and not in the possession of the Master Trustee; and (vi) the requirement that appropriate financing or continuation
statements be filed in accordance with the UCC as from time to time in effect.

Other Risk Factors

In the future, the following factors, among others, may adversely affect the operations of the Corporation to
an extent that cannot be determined at this time:

0)) Employee strikes, labor shortages, and other adverse labor actions that could result in a substantial
reduction in revenues without corresponding decreases in costs.

2) Increased costs and decreased availability of liability insurance.
3) Cost and availability of energy.

4) High interest rates, including the obligations of the Corporation under interest rate swaps, could strain cash
flow or prevent borrowing for needed capital expenditures.

(5) Changes to the demand for higher education in general or for programs offered by the Corporation in
particular.

6) A decrease in student loan funds or other aid that permits many students the opportunity to pursue higher
education.

@) An increase in the costs of health care benefits, retirement plans, or other benefit packages offered by the

Corporation to its employees.

(8) Litigation.
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TAX EXEMPTION

Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Sidiey Austin LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel, based on existing statutes,
regulations and court decisions and assuming compliance by the Corporation and the Agency with certain
requirements of the Code and covenants of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement regarding the use,
expenditure and investment of proceeds of the Bonds and the timely payment of certain investment eamings to the
U.S. Treasury, if required, interest on the Bonds is not includable in the gross income of the owners of the Bonds for
purposes of federal income taxation. Failure by the Corporation or the Agency to comply with such covenants may
cause interest on the Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their
date of issuance. The covenant of the Agency described above does not require the Agency to make any financial
contribution for which it does not receive funds from the Corporation. Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to
the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes to the extent that the
exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes is adversely affected as a
result of the taking of any action upon the approval of counsel other than Bond Counsel.

Bond Counsel’s opinion relies on certain representations made by the Corporation with respect to certain
material facts within the knowledge of the Corporation which Bond Counsel has not independently verified and
upon the opinion of Dinse, Knapp & McAndrew, P.C., Burlington, Vermont, counsel to the Corporation, that the
Corporation is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or corresponding provisions of prior law
and that, to the best of such counsel’s knowledge, the Corporation has done nothing to impair such status. The tax
exemption of interest on the Bonds is dependent upon, among other things, the Corporation’s status as a “Section
501(c)3) organization” and, therefore, the conclusion of Bond Counsel that such interest is excludable from gross
income for federal income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon such opinion of Dinse, Knapp & McAndrew,
P.C.

The Act provides that the bonds of the Agency and the income therefrom shall at all times be exempt from
taxation in the State of Vermont, except for transfer and estate taxes.

Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum tax. The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax consequences, upon
which Sidley Austin LLP renders no opinion, as a result of ownership of such Bonds or the inclusion in certain
computations (including, without limitation, those related to the corporate alternative minimum tax) of interest that
is excluded from gross income. Interest on the Bonds owned by a corporation will be included in the calculation of
the corporation’s federal alternative minimum tax liability.

Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result in collateral tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including without limitation, financial institutions, property and casuaity insurance companies, certain foreign
corporations doing business in the United States, certain S Corporations with excess passive income, individual
recipients of Social Security or railroad retirement benefits, taxpayers eligible for the eamed income tax credit and
taxpayers who may be decemcd to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-cxempt
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the applicability of any such
collateral consequences.

Original Issue Discount

The excess, if any, of the amount payable at maturity of any maturity of the Bonds purchased as part of the
initial public offering over the issue price thereof constitutes original issue discount. The amount of original issue
discount that has accrued and is properly allocable to an owner of any maturity of the Bonds with original issue
discount (a “Discount Bond”) will be excluded from gross income for federal and State income tax purposes to the
same extent as interest on the Bonds, In general, the issue price of a maturity of the Bonds is the first price at which
a substantial amount of Bonds of that maturity was sold (excluding sales to bond houses, brokers or similar persons
or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers), and the amount of original
issue discount accrues in accordance with a constant yield method based on the semi-annual compounding of
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interest. A purchaser’s adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is to be increased by the amount of such accruing discount
for purposes of determining taxable gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of such Discount Bonds for federal
income tax purposes. A portion of the original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount
Bond which is a corporation will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s federal alternative minimum tax
liability. In addition, original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount Bond is included in
the calculation of the distribution requirements of certain regulated investment companies and may result in some of
the collateral federal income tax consequences discussed above. Consequently, owners of any Discount Bond
should be aware that the accrual of original issue discount in each year may result in an alternative minimum tax
liability, additional distribution requirements or other collateral federal income tax consequences although the owner
of such Discount Bond has not received cash attributable to such original issue discount in such year.

The accrual of original issue discount and its effect on the redemption, sale or other disposition of a
Discount Bond that is not purchased in the initial offering at the first price at which a substantial amount of such
substantially identical Bonds is sold to the public may be determined according to rules that differ from those
described above. An owner of a Discount Bond should consult his tax advisor with respect to the determination for
federal income tax purposes of the amount of original issue discount with respect to such Discount Bond and with
respect to state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of such Discount Bond.

Bond Premium

The excess, if any, of the tax basis of the Bonds purchased as part of the initial public offering to a
purchaser (other than a purchaser who holds such Bonds as inventory, stock in trade or for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of business) over the amount payable at maturity is “bond premium.” Bond premium is amortized
over the term of such Bonds for federal income tax purposes (or, in the case of a bond with bond premium callable
prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on the basis of an
earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on such bond). Owners of such Bonds are required to decrease their
adjusted basis in such Bonds by the amount of amortizable bond premium attributable to each taxable year such
Bonds are held. The amortizable bond premium on such Bonds attributable to a taxable year is not deductible for
federal income tax purposes; however, bond premium is treated as an offset to qualified stated interest received on
such Bonds. Owners of such Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to the determination for federal
income tax purposes of the treatment of bond premium upon sale or other disposition of such Bonds and with
respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of such Bonds.

Backup Withholding

Interest paid on tax-exempt obligations will be subject to information reporting in a manner similar to
intercst paid on taxable obligations. Although such reporting requirement does not, in and of itself, affect the
excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, such reporting
requirement causes the payment of interest on the Bonds to be subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid
to beneficial owners who (a) are not “exempt recipients,” and (b) either fail to provide certain identifying
information (such as thc beneficial owner's taxpayer identification number) in the required manner or have been
identificd by the Internal Revenue Service (the “TRS”) as having failed to report all interest and dividends required
to be shown on their income tax returns. Generally, individuals are not exempt recipients, whereas corporations and
certain other entitics generally arc exempt recipicnts. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a
payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial owner’s federal
income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the IRS.

Future Tax Developments

Future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, regulations, rulings or court decisions may cause interest
on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to State or local income taxation, or
otherwise prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. Further,
legislation or regulatory actions and proposals may affect the economic value of the federal or state tax exemption or
the market value of the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any
pending or proposed federal or State tax legislation, regulations, rulings or litigation as to which Bond Counsel
expresses no opinion.
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LEGALITY OF BONDS FOR INVESTMENT

The Act provides that the bonds of the Agency are securities in which all public officers and bodies of the
State and all municipalities and municipal subdivisions, all insurance companies and associations, all savings banks
and savings institutions, including savings and loan associations, administrators, guardians, executors, trustees,
committees and other fiduciaries in the State may properly and legally invest funds in their control.

STATE NOT LIABLE ON BONDS

The State is not liable for the payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds, or
for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be undertaken by the
Agency, and neither the Bonds nor any of the Agency’s agreements or obligations shall be construed to constitute an
indebtedness of the State within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision whatsoever, nor shall the
Bonds directly or indirectly or contingently obligate the State or any municipality or political subdivision thereof to
levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment.

COVENANT BY THE STATE

Under the Act, the State does pledge to and agree with the holders of the Bonds that the State will not limit
or alter the rights vested in the Agency until the Bonds, together with interest thereon, with interest on any unpaid
installment of interest, and all costs and expenses incurred by the Agency in connection with the facilities or in
connection with any action or proceedings by or on behalf of the Bondholders, are fully met and discharged.

RATING

It is expected that, when issued, the Bonds will have been rated “Baa2™ with a stable outlook by Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s™).

Such rating reflects only the view of Moody’s, and any explanation of the significance of the rating should
be obtained from Moody's Investors Service, 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York,
10007. Generally, a rating agency bases its ratings on the information and materials furnished it and on
investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agency. There is no assurance that a particular rating will
apply for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the
agency originally establishing the rating, circumstances so warrant. The Underwriter has undertaken no
responsibility either to bring to the attention of the holders of the Bonds any proposed revision or withdrawal of the
rating of the Bonds or to oppose any such proposed revision or withdrawal. Any downward revision or withdrawal
of such rating could have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the Bonds. Such rating should
not be taken as a recommendation to buy or hold the Bonds.

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS

Causey Demgen & Moore, Inc. (the “Verification Agent”), a firm of independent public accountants, will
deliver to the Agency, on or before the settlement date of the Bonds, its attestation report indicating that it has
verified, in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, certain
information provided by the Corporation and its representatives with respect to the refunding of the Series 2003A
Bonds. Included in the scope of its engagement will be a verification of the mathematical accuracy of (e) the
mathematical computations of the adequacy of the cash and the maturing principal of and interest on, the
Government Obligations used to fund the Escrow Fund to be established by the Escrow Agent to pay, when due, the
maturing principal of interest on of the Series 2003A Bonds; and (b) the mathematical computations supporting the
conclusion of Bond Counsel that the Bonds are not “arbitrage bonds” under the Code and the regulations
promulgated thereunder.
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The verification performed by the Verification Agent will be solely based upon data, information and
documents provided to the Verification Agent by the Corporation and its representatives. The Verification Agent’s
report of its verification will state the Verification Agent has no obligation to update the report because of events
occurring, or data or information coming to their attention, subsequent to the date of the report.

NO LITIGATION

There is not now pending any litigation against the Agency restraining or enjoining the issuance or delivery
of the Bonds or questioning or affecting the validity of the Bonds or the proceedings and authority under which the
Bonds are to be issued. Neither the creation, organization or existence, nor the title of the present members or other
officers of the Agency to their offices, is being contested. There is no litigation pending against the Agency which
in any manner questions the right of the Agency to make the loan to the Corporation contemplated by the Loan
Agreement.

The Corporation is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened, to which the Corporation is a party,
wherein any unfavorable decision would adversely affect the ability of the Corporation to enter into the Loan
Agreement or the Master Indenture, issue its Obligation No. 5, or carry out its obligations thereunder.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the approval of
legality by Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York. Copies of such opinion will be available at the time of
delivery of the Bonds. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Agency by its counsel, Deppman & Foley,
P.C., Middlebury, Vermont, for the Corporation by its counsel, Dinse Knapp & McAndrew, P.C., Burlington,
Vermont, and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Burak Anderson & Melloni, PLC, Burlington, Vermont.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Public Financial Management, Inc., Boston, Massachusetts, served as Financial Advisor to the Agency in
this transaction.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriter will agree to purchase the Bonds from the Agency pursuant to a bond purchase agreement
by and among the Agency, the Corporation and the Underwriter at a purchase price of $10,460,423.45, equal to the
principal amount of the Bonds, less an underwriter’s discount of $100,000.00 and net original issue discount of
$189,576.55. The bond purchase agreement provides that the Underwriter will purchase al! of the Bonds, if any are
purchased. The obligation of the Underwriter to accept delivery of the Bonds is subject to various conditions
contained in the bond purchase contract. The Underwriter intends to offer the Bonds to the public initially at the
offering prices or yields set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement, which may subsequently
change without any requirement of prior notice.

The Corporation has agreed to indemnify the Underwriter and the Agency with respect to certain
information contained in this Official Statement.
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15¢2-12 promuigated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 15¢2-12”), the Corporation

has undertaken in the Loan Agreement, for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds, to file certain annual
financial and other information and notices required to be provided by Rule 15¢2-12 with the Municipal Securities
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Rulemaking Board (“MSRB™) in an electronic form specified by the MSRB (the “Undertaking™). The Undertaking
may be amended or modified under certain circumstances set forth therein.

Specifically, the Loan Agreement requires the Corporation io provide to the MSRB certain financial,
operating and statistical data relating to the Corporation not later than 120 days after the end of its fiscal year and
notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events. Failure to comply with these covenants is not an event of
default under the Loan Agreements and will not result in acceleration of the Bonds. See “SUMMARY OF THE
LOAN AGREEMENT — Secondary Market Disclosure™ in Appendix C-1 to this Official Statement.

The Corporation is currently party to continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to the Series 2003A
Bonds. Such continuing disclosure undertakings require the Corporation to provide certain annual operating and
financial information for filing with the nationally recognized municipal securities information repositories. For the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2009, the Corporation filed its audited financial statements and certain statistical and
operating data as required by its disclosure undertaking. Due to clerical error, the Corporation failed to file its
audited financial statements for the 2003 through 2008 fiscal years and the required statistical information for the
years 2003 through 2008 as required by such undertaking. On or about January 8, 2010, the Corporation filed with
the MSRB the financial statements and other information for the missing fiscal years and on or about January 18,
2010, filed with the MSRB a Notice of Failure to Provide Annual Financial Information.

The Agency has not committed to provide any continuing disclosure to the beneficial owners of the Bonds
or (0 any other person.

MISCELLANEOUS

The foregoing summaries and explanations do not purport to be comprehensive and are expressly made
subject to the exact provisions of documents referred to herein. So far as any statements are made in this Official
Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, such statements are intended merely as
such and not as representations of fact.

The agreement of the Agency with the holders of the Bonds is fully set forth in the Trust Agreement. This
Official Statement is not to be construed as constituting an agreement between the Agency, the Corporation, or any
Member of the Obligated Group, and purchasers, owners of|, or holders of beneficial interests in, the Bonds.

The Corporation has reviewed the information contained herein which relates to it, its plan of financing, the
Project, its operations and finances, and it has approved all such information for use in this Official Statement.
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The execution and delivery of this Official Statement have been duly authorized by the Agency and
approved by the Corporation.

VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS
FINANCING AGENCY

Approved:
VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

By: __/s/ Lomaine Atwood
Vice President for Finance
and Administration
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APPENDIX A

INFORMATION CONCERNING
VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

Overview

Vermont Law School, Inc. (“Vermont Law School” or the “Law School™) is a Vermont, non-profit
corporation, exempt from federal taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended. Vermont Law School is an independent, private law school located in the Village of South Royalton,
Vermont offering degrees in both law and environmental policy.

History of the School

Vermont Law School was founded in 1972 with the first class enrolled in 1973 and graduated 1976. With a
motto of: Lex pro urbe et orbe — Law for the community and the world, in a short span of time, the Law School has
earned national recognition for its innovative programs and talented faculty, and has become an indispensable legal
resource for the regional community. The Law School’s mission statement is: “To educate students in a diverse
community that fosters personal growth and that enables them to attain outstanding professional skills and high
ethical values with which to serve as lawyers, and environmental and other professionals in an increasingly
technological and interdependent global society.”

The Law School is accredited by the American Bar Association and the New England Association of
Schools and Colleges (NEASC). The Law School is a member of the Association of American Law Schools
(AALS).

Vermont Law School is an independent, private law school and is the only law school in Vermont.
Vermont Law School offers a strong and varied Juris Doctor (JD) curriculum that prepares graduates to practice law
in any state. It provides broad range clinical and experiential programs, and has a leading law school-based program
in environmental law. The Law School also offers a Master of Environmental Law and Policy (MELP) degree for
lawyers and non-lawyers, a post-JD degree, the Master of Laws in Environmental Law (LLM), for qualified lawyers
who wish to develop an environmental law specialty and a LLM in American Legal Studies for international
students. All of these programs emphasize public citizenship and public service.

Vermont Law School launched its Environmental Law Center in 1978. Now the largest graduate
environmental law program in the country, the center received the 2002 American Bar Association Award for
Distinguished Achievement in Environmental Law and Policy. Vermont Law School is regularly ranked first in
U.S. News and World Report’s annual survey of environmental law programs.

Other key features of the school include the South Royalton Legal Clinic, which provides a range of legal
scrvices for lower-income Vermonters in a broad array of civil cases and has won precedent-setting cases before the
U.S. District Court for the District of Vermont and the Vermont Supreme Court; the Semester in Practice Program
(SiP), which enables JD students to participate in intensive, full-time, field work practicums; and the General
Practice Program (GPP), which provides a wide range of simulation classes.

Vermont Law School’s Environmental Law Center, established in 1978, has the largest and deepest
environmental program of any law school, offering over 50 environmental law courses focusing on crucial issues
such as sustainable development, global warming, environmental and energy law and policy, and environmental
taxation. Our clinic participants litigate real-world cases in these fields.

The Institute for Energy and the Environment serves as a resource on energy law and policy. The Institute
develops scholarly, technical and practical publications; provides forums and conferences for professional education
and issue development; and serves as a center for graduate research on energy issues. The Environmental and
Natural Resources Law Clinic was established in 2002. It specializes in major case environmental litigation,
including winning a major victory for the endangered gray wolf; protecting wetlands and tributaries; standing up for
the health of individuals threatened by the mining operations of a major, multi-national company; and defending a
sacred tribal site.



Vermont Law School’s Environmental Tax Policy Institute analyzes the ways in which taxation can be
used to address environmental problems. By serving as a resource for the public and private sectors, non-
governmental organizations, the press and academia, the Institute seeks to better inform the public policy debate
about the role of environmental taxes at the local, state and federal levels. The Land Use Institute (LUI) addresses
land use law and policy issues at the local, national, and intemational level. Recently, it has focused on smart
growth principles, ecological planning, affordable housing, flood hazard mitigation, improving the confluence of
energy and land use regulatory decision-making and other permitting processes, and land conservation strategies.

Vermont Law School in collaboration with Sun Yat-sen University in China launched the Partnership for
Environmental Law in 2006 in response to the lack of knowledge, skills, and academic infrastructure needed to
address environmental and energy challenges in China. Due to a series of USAID and State Department grants, this
program has expanded significantly and is now the leading law school-based environmental law program in China.

Vermont Law School also provides joint and dual degree offerings with other institutions, including
Dartmouth College, University of Vermont, University of South Dakota, University of South Carolina and Yale
University. Internationally, the Law School has student exchange or joint degree programs with McGill University
(Montreal), the University of Paris 13, the University of Cergy-Pontoise (France), Petrozavodsk State University
Law Faculty (Russia), the University of Seville (Spain), the University of Trento (ltaly), and Sun Yat-Sen University
School of Law (China). Vermont Law School and the University of Cergy-Pontoise (France) offer a dual
JD/MILDICE degree program in the law of business organizations to students from both institutions.

Governance

Vermont Law School is governed by a Board of Trustees. The current members of the Board and its officers
are listed below.

Vermont Law School Officers and Board of Trustees:
Officers:

o Edward C. Mattes ‘83, Chair; Co-founder and CEO Avant Garde Therapeutics and Technologies LLC,
Tuxedo Park, NY.

e  Geoffrey B. Shields, (Trustee Ex-Officio), Vermont Law School President, Dean, and Professor of Law,
South Royalton, VT,

e  Perez Erich, Vice Chair; Hemmings Mustang Market & Tech Guides, Bennington, VT.

e Lorraine Atwood, Treasurer; Vice President for Finance and Administration, Vermont Law School, South

Royalton, VT.

e Helen McCarthy, Secretary; Special Assistant to the President and Dean, Vermont Law School, South
Royalton, VT.

Members:

e Richard E. Ayres, Principal, Ayres Law Group, Washington, D.C.

o Edna Baugh ‘83, Partner, Stephens & Baugh, LLC, Maplewood, NJ.

e Glenn J. Berger ‘78, Partner, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Fiom LLP, Washington, D.C.

o Randolph D. Brock IlI, State Senator, State of Vermont, St. Albans, VT.

e Colleen Connor ‘85, Manager and Counsel, Transaction-Environmental Protection, General Electric
Company, Fairfield, CT.

e M. Jerome Diamond, Partner, Diamond & Robinson PC, Montpelier, VT.

e  Christopher Dutton, President and CEO, Vermont Electric Power Company, Rutland, VT.

o Janice Forpays ‘85, Attommey, Hingham, MA.

e  Sheppard Guryan, Managing Member, Lasser Hochman, LLC, Roseland, NJ.

e  The Honorable Peter W. Hall, United States Circuit Judge, United States Court of Appeals for the Second

Circuit, Rutland, VT.
James Hanson 11 ‘83, President and CEO, Hampshire Real Estate Company, Morristown, NJ.
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Randy A. Hertz, Vice Dean and Director, Clinical and Advocacy Programs, New York University School
of Law, New York, NY.

Jason Hutt ‘98 (Alumni Trustee), Partner, Bracewell & Guiliani LLP, Washington, D.C.

Jean-Paul Isabelle ‘11, Vermont Law School Student Trustee, South Royalton, VT.

Gerard Jones, retired Partner, Richards & O™Neil, L.L.P. in New York, Woodstock, VT.

William Leckerling, ‘82 Partner, Lisman, Webster & Leckerling, P.C., Burlington, VT.

William Lytton, Senior Counsel, Dechert LLP, New Canaan, CT.

Lori Malloy, Esq. New York, NY.

Mathew Matule, ‘94, Partner, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Boston, MA.

George C. McKann, Partner, Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP, Chicago, IL.

Kevin Mendik ‘87, Environmental Protection Specialist, National Park Service, Boston, MA,

Robert D. Rachlin, Senior Director, Downs Rachlin Martin PLLC, Burlington, VT.

Mark Sciarrotta ‘96 (Alumni Trustee), Senior Counsel, Vermont Electric Power Company, Inc. Rutland,
VT

Charles E. “Rick™ Shafer ‘77, Of Counsel, Riehimam Shafer & Shafer, Tully, N.Y., President, Green Lake
Associates, Tully, NY,

Alison Stone ‘12, Vermont Law School Student Trustee, South Royalton, VT,

Robert Taisey, Partner, Holland & Knight, New York, NY.

Mary G. Wilson, Partner, SNR Denton US LLP, Chicago, IL.

Frances E. Yates, PhD, Camden, ME.

Staff and Faculty Representatives to the Board of Trustees:

e  Stephen Dycus, Vermont Law School Faculty Representative; Professor of Law
» Jennifer Hayslett, Vermont Law School Staff Representative; Senior Director of Capital and Major Giving

Trustees Emeriti:

Ann Debevoise, Woodstock, VT.

Professor John W. Hennessey Jr., Burlington, VT.
The Honorable Philip Hoff, Burlington, VT.
Bemard Lisman, Esq. Fort Myers, FL.

R. Allan Paul, Esq. Burlington, VT

Administration

The Dean of the Law School is appointed by the Board of Trustees upon recommendation of the Faculty. As
chief executive officer his principal responsibility is for the administration of the Law School. All other executive
officers of the Law School are appointed by the Dean. The Vice Presidents are approved by the Board of Trustees. The
principal executive officers of the Law School are as follows:

Geoffrey B. Shields, President, Dean and Professor became Vermont Law School’s seventh dean in
Aupgust of 2004, Before coming to Vermont Law School, he was a partner and past chair of the Management
Committee of the Chicago and Washington, DC, law firm of Gardner Carton and Douglas, where he specialized in
legal issues relating to not-for-profit institutions, including mergers and acquisitions, restructuring, finance, joint
ventures, and related tax and securities matters focusing particularly on the health care industry and nen-profit
organizations.

Dean Shields received his BA in economics, magna cum laude, from Harvard College in 1967, and in 1972,
he received his JD from Yale Law School, where he was a member of the Yale Law Journal. He received an
honorary doctor of laws degree from Lake Forest College (I1l.) in 2000, Dean Shields has edited four books and
written over 30 articles on foreign policy issues, health care financing, mergers and acquisitions, restructuring, and
environmental issues. I1e has served as vice chair and treasurer of the Chicago Council on Foreign Relations and is
an active member of the Council on Foreign Relations in New York, He is past chair of the board of trustees of Lake
Forest College and formerly served on the board of Bennington College, Hospital Billing and Collection Service,
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Fletcher Allen Health Care, and The Vermont Business Roundtable. He currently serves as Chair on the board of
Ziegler Companies, Inc. Dean Shields is a member of the District of Columbia, 1llinois, and Vermont bars.

Gilbert Kujovich, Associate Dean of Academic Affairs and Professor of Law was appointed in 2008.
Professor Kujovich specializes in constitution law, civil rights law, and administrative law. His courses at Vermont
Law School include Constitutional Law, Civil Rights Law, and Federal Courts. He received his BA degree, cum
laude, from Middlebury College in 1969 and his JD degree, magna cum laude, from Harvard University in 1975.
Upon graduating from law school, he clerked for Judge Shirley Hufstedler of the United States Court of Appeals for
the Ninth Circuit and for Justices Potter Stewart and Byron White of the United States Supreme Court. He then
became special assistant to the general counsel, Department of Defense, from 1977 to 1979. Professor Kujovich
served as counsel to the White House Intelligence Oversight Board from 1979 to 1980. He then served as assistant
to the U.S. Sccretary of Education and joined the Vermont Law School faculty in 1981.

Lorraine Atwood, Vice President for Finance and Administration was appointed to her position in
2006. Ms. Atwood received her BS degree in Economics from Williams College and her MS degree in Accounting
from Northeastern University. She attended the Vermont Leadership Institute of the Snelling Center for
Government. Her career highlights include serving as a senior accountant for Coopers & Lybrand and business
manager for a healthcare software company in Boston. Regional positions include comptroller of D.T.S.S., a
Metropolitan Life Insurance company subsidiary based in Hanover, NH and part-time positions with Tally Systems,
Hanover, NH and Bridgman Valiante & Villard, P.C., Lebanon, NH. She currently serves on the Snelling New
England Association of Schools and Colleges committee for annual review of finance and enrollment.

Kathleen T. Hartman, Associate Dean for Enrollment Management was appointed in November, 2001.
She received her BA degree in political science and history from Mercer University in 1975 and her M.Ed. in
student personnel in higher education from The University of Georgia in 1985. She began her career in higher
education administration as an undergraduate admissions counselor with The University of Georgia from 1977 —
1982 and then held the position of law school admissions counselor for two years. While completing her master’s
degree, she held a graduate student assistantship in the law school Office of Career Services. After graduation, Dean
Hartman worked with Stetson University from 1985 — 1997, the first five years as Director of Career Services and
then for seven years as Director of Admissions and Financial Aid. In 1997, she moved to Barry University as the
Dean of Administration.

Dean Hartman has served in numerous leadership positions with the National Association for Law
Placement, the Law School Admission Council, the National Network of Law School Offices and the American
Association for Registrars and Admission Officers.

Shirley A. Jefferson, Associate Dean for Student Affairs and Diversity joined Vermont Law School in
1999 as the Director of Alumni Relations and Special Assistant for Admissions. She was promoted to interim
Assistant Dean for Student Affairs and Diversity in August, 2001 and was appointed to her present position in
January, 2002.

Assistant Dean Jefferson was previously employed by the United Black Fund, Inc. in Washington, DC,
where she served as general counsel. She received her Bachelor of Science in Public Administration degree, summa
cum laude, from Southeastern University and her Juris Doctor degree from Vermont Law School.

Outside volunteer contributions include the Vermont Law School Alumni Association Board of Directors,
United Black Fund of America, Inc., and board member of the International United Black Fund, Inc. Assistant Dean
Jefferson has also been a board member and legal advisor for the New Image Child Development Center, Inc.;
Capital Commitment, Inc.; The Virgin Clubs of America, Inc.; and the Sickle Cell Disease Association of Greater
Washington, Inc. Additionally, Assistant Dean Jefferson has served as legal advisor for Never Say Never, Inc.;
Leadership Enrichment Affirmations Program, Inc.; The Fishing School, Inc.; The Foundation in Youth Boxing;
D.C. Boy’s Choir; and the Lean on Me Foundation.

Marc Mihaly, Associate Dean for the Environmental Program and Director of Environmental Law
Center is one of the nation’s leading environmental law attorneys. Professor Mihaly received his BA degree from
Harvard College and, after service in the Peace Corps, received his JD degree from Boalt Hall School of Law,
University of California, Berkeley, where he was editor in chief of the Ecology Law Quarterly. He then served with
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the environmental unit of the California Attorney General’s Office and with the San Mateo County Legal Aid
Society. Professor Mihaly cofounded Shute, Mihaly and Weinberger (San Francisco) in 1980 and served as its
managing partner for 17 years, His practice has included three decades of trial and appellate litigation practice on
behalf of governments and community-based organizations on environmental issues.

Faculty
The teaching faculty for Vermont Law School includes 64 full-time faculty members and 36 adjunct members

for the 2010/11 academic year. Of the full-time tenure-track faculty, 36% are tenured. The Law School maintains a
student to faculty ratio of approximately 13 to 1.

Employee Relations

In addition to its 64 faculty members, the Law School had approximately 83 full-time and 10 part-time
administrative staff members for the 2010/11 academic ycar. None of these employees is covered by collective
bargaining agreements.

Retirement Plans

The Law School has a Defined Contribution Retirement Plan to which it contributes at the rate of §% of
salaries for participants. The plan is currently fully funded.

Post-Retirement Obligations

The Law School has no post-retirement obligations.
Capital Facilities

Vermont Law School’s campus consists of 13-acres along the White River and is within a National Register
Historic District. Facilities include 19 buildings, many from the 19" and carly 20" centuries, a contemporary
community center, and a modem library and the James L. and Evelena S. Oakes 1all which opened in 1998 as the Law
School’s new classroom building, which received numerous awards for its resource-saving design and construction.
The centerpiece campus building is Debevoise Hall, which formerly served as the town of Royalton’s public school
until 1952. In 2005, it was completely renovated and received a LEED silver award for environmental excellence. The
Law School does not offer any on-campus student housing.

The Law School’s current operating budget funds “depreciation” to help maintain the school’s facilities.
Operating Information

Admissions and Student Enroliment

Identified in the following table are the first year applications received for admissions to the Law School over

the past five academic years, applications accepted and first year fall enrollments. The Law School has a specialized
niche of applicants that come from a national and international population.
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ADMISSIONS STATISTICS

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
Applications 1119 989 1103 884 1056
Acceptances 632 580 599 590 628
Acceptance Ratio 56% 56% 54% 66% 59%
Matriculants 202 193 191 233 212
Matriculation Ratio 32% 33% 32% 39% 33%

LSAT AND GPA STATISTICS OF INCOMING STUDENTS

The following table indicates the median grad point average and LSAT exam scores of incoming students for
the past five academic years.

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
Median undergraduate GPA of Incoming 3.27 3.25 322 3.32 3.35
Students (50%)
Median LSAT Score of Incoming 154 155 155 155 156
tudents (50%)
ENROLLMENT SUMMARY

The following table shows the enrollment of students in both the J.D. program and the Masters of
Environmental Law and Policy and LLM programs for the past five academic years.

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
JD Headcount 552 555 539 567 607
MELP and LLM Headcount 61 67 62 94 87
Total 613 622 601 661 694

GEOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF ENTERING FIRST YEAR STUDENTS

Vermont Law School’s student body is a national student body. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the
entering class represented 44 states and territories and 12 foreign countries and 153 colleges and universities, The
graduation class of 2010 sat for the bar in 32 states.

RETENTION FIRST YEAR TO SECOND YEAR

The Law School historically retains, on average, 92% of its enrolled first year class. There is very little
attrition after the first year.

2006/07 200708 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

86% 96% 87% 93% 91%

A-6



TUITION RATES FOR COMPETITIVE LAW SCHOOLS
The following lists the Law School’s top five competitors as determined by common acceptances. Vermont
Law School attracts both a regional and national applicant pool with strong interests in environmental and social

justice programs. Therefore, our competitor institutions reflect the top environmental schools as well as schools
located throughout the northeast.

Albany Law School
Pace University School of Law
University of Denver Sturm College of Law
Western New England College, School of Law

Lewis & Clark School of Law

DEGREES AWARDED

Degree 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10
D 185 173 191 165
MELP 89 67 79 64
LLM 14 8 7 17

Tuition and Fees

For the 2011 fiscal year, full-time tuition at the Law School is $41,795. Tuition accounts for approximately
81% of the Law School’s operating income. For the 2012 fiscal year, tuition will be increasing 4.0% to $43,467.
Tuition rates for the last five fiscal years are listed in the following table:

STUDENT CHARGES

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Tuition $29,730 $31,514 $38,408 $39,995 $41,795
Fees 535 535 535 535 535

Student Scholarship

The Law School administers a student scholarship program through which approximately 90% of the student
body receives some form of student loans, merit scholarships, fellowships, and/or grants. For the 2010 fiscal year, the
Law School provided approximately $6.2 million in institutional scholarship to students. A summary of the funds
provided for scholarships for the past five fiscal years appears in the following table.

SOURCES OF SCHOLARSHIP AND GRANT AID

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
Law School $ 2,387,197 § 2,486,038 §$ 3,035,566 § 3,840,542 §$ 6,241,831 § 7,656,658
Federal Loans 11,724,063 21,139,165 24,087,470 24,163,693 27,168,384 26,598,036
Private 10,705,026 1,004,623 306,304 208,280 141,054 164,649

In addition to scholarship and grant aid, students financed their educational costs with jobs and loans. In
fiscal year 2010, 217 students earned approximately $547,900 from Law School sponsored employment
opportunities.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Budget and Reporting Procedures

The Vice President for Finance and Administration is responsible for preparing an annual revenue budget
based on three-year projections. Department heads submit budgetary needs to their respective Deans. The Vice
President works with the Board of Trustees Budget and Finance Committee to recommend a tuition rate that is
approved by the full Board usually in the February meeting. As part of the budget process, the Vice President works
with a campus committee composed of students, faculty and staff to review the budget assumptions. Budget
assumptions for enrollment targets and tuition increases are shared with the faculty, staff and students at various
mectings.

During the October Board meeting, the Vice President reports on the status of achieving the budget based
on the fall enroliments. The budget is again reviewed in mid January once spring enrollments are predictable and
adjustments are made as required. Generally, the Board approves a budget resolution at its February meeting.
Accounting and Financial Reporting

The Financial Statement summaries below compare the audited results of Vermont Law School for the past

five fiscal years. The audited financial statements of Vermont Law School for fiscal years ending June 20, 2010 and
June 30, 2009 are attached as Appendix B to this Official Statement.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL
Statement of Financial Position

Fiscal years Ended June 30
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents and short term
investments $ 4911,297 [$§ 6,452,227 | $ 5944,769 | $ 6,781,981 [ § 7,001,550
Accounts receivable, net 205,889 502,693 709,709 846,968 982,288
Pledges receivable and estates in probate,
net 1,007,704 1,776,427 846,508 688,246 862,701
Investments 10,292,632 12,180,691 12,186,476 8,473,622 9,984,119
Beneficial interest in trusts 198,000 224,000 209,000 120,000 130,000
Land, property and equipment, net 17,392,788 17,103,863 17,428,914 17,318,350 17,605,297
Student loans receivable, net 3,318,732 3,264,443 2,939,167 2,775,076 2,948,587
Other assets 1,648,353 1,125,620 1,444,737 1,708,393 1,570,189
TOTAL ASSETS | $§ 38975395 | § 42,629,964 | $ 41,709,280 | $ 38,712,636 | $ 41,084,731
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 518,180 [ $ 622071 | § 496350 [ § 383490 | $§ 471448
Accrued expenses 1,167,468 934,181 762,949 889,083 1,139,944
Deposits and deferred revenue 1,120,562 1,250,734 1,392,043 1,523,833 1,908,378
US Government student loan program
advances 2,327,366 2,327,366 2,327,366 2,327,366 2,327,366
Notes payable 0 0 0 0 0
Bonds payable 9,799,323 9,762,070 9,720,260 9,493,450 10,101,639
Other Liabilities 137,128 28,798 20,098 10,528 0
TOTAL LIABILITIES | $ 15,070,027 | § 14,925220 | S 14,719,066 | $ 14,627,750 | $ 15,948,775
NET ASSETS
Unrestricted $ 17,973,760 | $ 19,753,293 | $ 19,421,096 | $ 16,894,025 | $ 17,557,744
Temporarily restricted 1,701,554 2,957,520 2,289,124 2,798,225 2,686,380
Permanently restricted 4,230,054 4,993,931 5,279,994 4,392,636 4,891,832
TOTAL NET ASSETS | § 23,905,368 | $ 27,704,744 | $ 26,990,214 | § 24,084,886 | $ 25,135,956
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET
ASSETS $ 38975395 | § 42,629,964 | § 41,709,280 | § 38,712,636 | $ 41,084,731




YERMONT LAW SCHOOL

Statement of Activities
Fiscal Years Ended June, 30
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
REVENUE AND GAINS:
Student tuition and fees $19,305,914 | $19,941,768 | $21,612,666 | $23,369,963 | $27,158,434
Less institutional aid -2,387,197 -2,486,038 -3,035,566 -3,840,542 -6,241,831
Net tuition and fees $16,918,717 | $17,455,730 | $18,577,100 | $19,529,421 | $20,916,603
Contributions 2,091,706 2,859,919 1,623,206 1,269,141 1,048,422
Grants and contracts 9,413 287,615 597,595 1,147,720 1,984,889
Federal aid to students 433,321 436,332 452,505 498,665 567,094
Endowment investment return designated for
operations
370,580 430,573 491,694 548,134 366,619
Other investment income 275,306 390,733 232,603 44,129 115,598
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 280,588 229,853 250,769 196,353 268,939
Other revenue 830,664 511,317 433,814 461,170 610,303
Total revenues and gains $21,210,295 | $22,602,072 | $22,659,286 | $23,694,733 | $25,878,467
PROGRAM EXPENSES:
Instruction $ 9,466,495 | $10,152,195 | $11,262,676 | $12,585,478 | $13,004,562
Academic support 1,648,721 1,538,035 1,743,422 1,773,916 1,857,800
Student services 3,215,819 3,175,207 3,677,685 3,521,533 3,865,761
Institutional support 3,378,815 3,279,991 3,871,849 4,075,288 4,229,257
Fundraising 1,159,836 861,733 914,159 910,404 943,462
Auxiliary 465,391 423,669 446,201 442,743 709,561
Total program expenses $19,335,077 | $19,430,830 | $21,915,992 | $23,309,362 { $24,610,403
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 1875218 | $3,171,242 | § 743294 | § 385371 [ § 1,268,064
NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of collections $ 645975 | % -669340 | $ 682,082 | $§ -650,285 | $ -730,048
Investment return reduced by amount designated
for current operations 382,919 1,297,474 -775,742 -3,196,882 1,247
Contributions 0 0 0 702,177 854,142
Non operating expenses 0 0 0 -145,709 -342,335
Total Non-Operating Activities $ -263056 | § 628,134 | $-1,457,824 | $-3,290,699 | § -216,994
Increase in net assets $ 1,612,162 | $ 3,799,376 | $ -714,530 | $-2,905,328 | $ 1,051,070
Net assets, beginning of year $22,293.206 | $23,905,368 | $27,704,744 | $26,990,214 | $24,084,886
Net assets, end of year $23,905,368 | $27,704,744 | $26,990,214 | $24,084,886 | $25,135,956




Management Report of Operating Results

The Law School has been actively implementing its plan to enhance its programs and thus its reputation as
one of the nation’s leading environmental and public interest law schools. The School continues to expand its
international programs.

The Law School is attracting a student body with increasingly higher LSAT and GPA indicators as part of
the School’s strategic initiative to increase student capability. Each year, the Law School consistently has a waiting
list of students who would like to be accepted to the Law School. The Law School is planning to stay at its current
JD enrollments levels. However, there are plans to increase its Masters programs with a small distance learning
program to diversify revenue streams. Vermont Law School’s summer program continues to attract national
scholars and contributes to the Law School’s financial results. .

For Academic year 2009-2010: the Law School realized an operating surplus of approximately $1.2M for
this period and an overall increase in net assets of $1.0 million. Contributions and grants recorded were at a record
high and were used in part to support highly successful programs such and the Energy Institute and the USAID
China program. The Endowment returned 4% which was lower than planned due to a write off of real estate
investments through the Commonfund. The Endowment still grew overall at approximately 5% due to gifts and
contributions.

For Academic year 2010-2011: the Law School’s entering class exceeded budgeted numbers due to a
higher than normal acceptance rate of its offer of matriculation. The tuition discount decreased to 32% and is and it
is currently anticipated it will decrease for 2011-2012. The Law School’s enrollment is currently at 694 students,
which is slightly higher than targeted. The Law School is forecasting to be on track to meet its budget for the 2011
fiscal year.

Management currently is targeting the enrollments of approximately 700 for the subsequent academic
years.

Fundraising Activities
The Law School is in the middle of a capital campaign which started in fiscal year 2009. Gifts and grants

for fiscal years 2006 through 2008 reflect the prior $8 million campaign that successfully ended in fiscal year 2008
exceeding its goal by $3 million. To date the current campaign has raised approximately $10.4 million.

Fiscal Year (June 30) Gifts and Grants Received per audit report
2006 $2,101,119
2007 $3,147,534
2008 $2,220,801
2009 $3,119,021
2010 $3,890,133

Endowment

The Board of Trustees adopted a revised Investment Policy in January 2010. This policy addresses target
asset allocation and spending from the Endowment. The Investment Committee periodically solicits requests for
proposal for the management of its endowment and in January 2010 the Board approved transferring the management
of the Endowment and Board-Designated funds from the Commonfund to Eaton Vance Investment Counsel. The
Endowment was at approximately $11,600,000, including contributions receivable, as of December 31, 2010.



Endowment Asset Allocation Targets and Actual as of December 31, 2010

Asset Class Policy Target 12/31/10

Allocation
Equities 55% 55%
Fixed Income Securities 30% 30%
Alternatives 15% 13%
Cash 0% 2%

Spending Policy

The Law School’s current spending policy is to distribute annually 5% of a trailing three-year average of the
Endowment’s and Board-Designated funds’ total asset value.

Outstanding Indebtedness of the Law School

The Law School, as of fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, had long-term debt totaling $10,101,639, net of
unamortized discount of $188,361. The long term bonds payable consist of the fixed rate Series 2003A Bonds which
will be refunded using a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds, the variable rate Series 2003B Bonds (secured by a letter
of credit from TD Bank, N.A.) in the amount of $3,575,000, which will remain outstanding, and the $850,000, variable
rate private placement loan evidenced by Obligation No. 4, which is expected to be repaid by June 30, 2011, Please see
Note 9 in the audited financial statements included as Appendix B.

Litigation

There is no litigation pending or known claims likely to be threatened against the Law School which would
have a material adverse effect on the Law School’s financial position.

Insurance

Commercial property insurance coverage is provided by The Cincinnati Companies through insurance brokers
Hackett Valine & MacDonald Inc. and includes all buildings on campus (in a current total amount of $34 million of
fixed casualty coverage) along with combined business income, personal property, equipment breakdown, ordinance,
pollutant clean up and removal, electronic data processing, fine arts, commercial general liability, employee benefits
liability, commercial crime, business auto, commercial umbrella, ERISA bond through Hartford Fire Insurance
Company, workers® compensation, and educators legal liability through United Educators Insurance.
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BERRY.DUNN.MCNEIL & PARKER

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Trustees
Vermont Law School, Inc.

We have audited the statement of financial position of Vermont Law School, Inc. (the Law School) as of
June 30, 2010, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Law School's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of the Law
School as of and for the year ended June 30, 2009 were audited by other auditors whose report, dated
October 26, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion of those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
staternents are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Vermont Law School, Inc. as of June 30, 2010, and the changes in its net assets and
its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also audited the reclassification described in Note 1 that were applied to restate the 2009 financial
statements. In our opinion, such reclassifications are appropriate and have been properly applied.

&w?, o, Mele (_E Puiker

Manchester, New Hampshire
October 27, 2010
Registration No: 92-0000278

PORTLAND, ME - BANGOR, ME - MANCHESTER, NH
WWW BDMP.COM



VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

Statements of Financial Position

June 30, 2010 and 2009

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Student tuition receivables, net of allowance of $10,000 in 2010 and 2009

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses

Contributions receivable, net

Restricted cash

Investments

Notes and interest on notes receivable from students, net of allowance of
$480,633 and $476,622 in 2010 and 2009, respectively

Investments held in trust by others

Bond issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $36,512 and
$31,296 in 2010 and 2009, respectively

Collections (Note 1)

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Advance deposits on tuition and deferred revenue
Capital leases payable
Bonds payable, net of unamortized discount
Refundable advances - U.S. Government grants

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11, 18 and 19)

Net assets
Unrestricted:
Available for operations
Designated for instruction
Designated for long-term investment
Net investment in property, plant and equipment

Total unrestricted

Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2010

$ 7,001,550
122,645
859,643
303,096
862,701

1,147,128
9,984,119

2,948,587
130,000

119,965

17,605,297
$_41,084,731

$ 471,448
1,139,944
1,908,378

10,101,639
2,327,366

5 75

5,053,274
141,539
4,214,346
38,148,585

17,557,744

2,686,380
4,891,832

25,135,956

Restated
2009

$§ 6,781,981
167,458
679,510
312,774
688,246

1,270,438
8,473,622

2,775,076
120,000

125,181

17318350
5 38712636

$ 383,490
889,083
1,523,833
10,528
9,493,450
2,327.366

4,627,750

4,120,176

141,539
4,167,790
8.464.520

16,894,025

2,798,225
4,392,636

24,084,886

$.41,084.731 $_38,712.636

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2010
(With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2009)
Restated
2010 2009
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted  Restricted Restricted Total Total
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees $ 27,158,434 S - $ - $ 27,158,434 $ 23,369,963
Less: Institutional aid and scholarships (6,241,.831) - - (6.241.831) (3,840,542)
Net tuition and fees 20,916,603 - - 20,916,603 19,529,421
Federal aid to students 567,094 - - 567,094 498,665
Grant revenues 1,984,889 - - 1,984,889 1,147,720
Contributions 430,992 617,430 - 1,048,422 1,269,141
Other investment income 105,598 10,000 - 115,598 44,129
Investment income - spending policy 201,182 165,437 - 366,619 548,134
Auxiliary enterprises 268,939 - - 268,939 196,353
Other sources 610,303 - - 610,303 461,170
25,085,600 792,867 - 25,878,467 23,694,733
Net assets released from restrictions 673,002 (673,002) - - -
Total operating revenues 25,758,602 119.865 - 25.8 7 23,694,733
Operating expenses
Instruction 13,004,562 - - 13,004,562 12,585,478
Academic support 1,857,800 - - 1,857,800 1,773,916
Student services 3,865,761 - - 3,865,761 3,521,533
Institutional support 4,229,257 - - 4,229,257 4,075,288
Fundraising 943,462 - - 943,462 910,404
Auxiliary enterprises 709,561 - - 709.561 442,743
Total operating expenses 24,610,403 - - 24,610,403 23,309,362
Change in net assets from
operations 1,148,199 119,865 - 1,268,064 385,371
Non-operating revenue (expense)
Purchase of collection items (730,048) - - (730,048) (650,285)
Contributions - 354,946 499,196 854,142 702,177
Other non-operating expenses (342,335) - - (342,335) (145,709)
Investment income (loss), net of
spending policy 44,956 (43,709) - 1,247 (3,196,882)
Net assets released from restrictions 542,947 (542.947) - - -
Change in net assets 663,719 (111,848) 499,196 1,051,070 (2,905,328)
Net assets, beginning of year 16,894,025 2,798,225 4.392.636 24.0 6 26,990,214
Net assets, end of year $.17,557,744 $_2.686.380 S$_4.891.832 § 25.135956 $,24,084 886

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Statement of Activities (Restated)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees $ 23,369,963 § - $ - $ 23,369,963
Less: Institutional aid and scholarships 40,542 - - _{(3,840,542)
Net tuition and fees 19,529,421 - - 19,529,421
Federal aid to students 498,665 - - 498,665
Grant revenues 1,147,720 - - 1,147,720
Contributions 608,397 585,727 75,017 1,269,141
Other investment income 44,129 - - 44,129
Investment income - spending policy 256,820 291,314 - 548,134
Auxiliary enterprises 196,353 - - 196,353
Gther sources 458626 2.544 - 461,170
22,740,131 879,585 75,017 23,694,733
Net assets released from restrictions 1,448,329 (1.373.329) {75.000) -
Total operating revenues 24,188.460 (493,744) 17 23,694,733
Operating expenses
Instruction 12,585,478 - - 12,585,478
Academic support 1,773,916 - - 1,773,916
Student services 3,521,533 - - 3,521,533
Institutional support 4,075,288 - - 4,075,288
Fundraising 910,404 - - 910,404
Auxiliary enterprises 442,743 - = 442.743
Total operating expenses 23,309,362 - - _23.309.362
Change in net assets from operations 879,098 (493,744) 17 385,371
Non-operating revenue (expensc)
Purchase of collection items (650,285) - - (650,285)
Contributions - 596,112 106,065 702,177
Other non-operating expenses (145,709) - - (145,709)
Investment loss, net of spending policy (1,892,918) (1,303,964) - (3,196,882)
Net assets released from restrictions 155,585 (155,585) - -
Net asset transfers between classifications (1,866.282) 1,866,282 - -
Change in net assets (3,520,511) 509,101 106,082 (2,905,328)
Net assets, beginning of year 20,414,536 2,289,124 4.286.554 26.990.214
Net assets, end of year $_16,804025 §__2.798225 $__ 4392636 $ 24084886

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided
by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for losses on contributions and notes receivable
Loss on sale of equipment
Net (appreciation) depreciation in fair value of investments
Contributions received for long-term investment
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Student tuition and other receivables
Contributions receivable
Prepaid expenses
Investments held in trust by others
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Advance deposits on tuition and deferred revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Disbursements of loans to students, net of repayments

Net cash used by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings on bonds payable

Principal payments on bonds payable

Payments on capital leases payable

Contributions received for long-term investment
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2010

Restated
2009

$ 1,051,070 $ (2,905,328)

916,843

65,988

6,106
(235,929)
(854,142)

(135,320)

(90,815)
9,678

(10,000)
31,598
250,861

— 384,345
1.390

(1,140,131)
11,131,123
(12,405,691)

123,310
—(177.522)

(2.468.911)

850,000

(250,000)

(10,528)
708,525
1.297.997

219,569

6,781,981

959,325
71,814

2,814,097
(702,177)

(137,259)
84,041

(74,287)
89,000

(74,569)
126,134

131,790

382,581

(873,646)
942,729

(19.4,585)
93952

31,55

(235,000)

(9,570)

— 174,720
530,150
881,181

5.900,800

57001550 S_6J81981

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Vermont Law School, Inc. (the Law School) is an independent, private institution governed by its
own board of trustees. The only law school in Vermont, the Law School was incorporated in 1972,
admitted its first class in the fall of 1973, and awarded its first Juris Doctor degrees in May, 1976.
The Law School has been accredited by the American Bar Association since 1978 and has been a
member of the Association of American Law Schools since 1982, The Law School’s
Environmental Law Center opened in 1978 to encourage the study of environmental law and policy
as an interdisciplinary field. The program has been accredited by the New England Association of
Schools and Colleges since 1980.

The Law School’s campus is located in a small, rural New England village. Students, faculty, and
staff work in a supportive environment where community, rather than competition, is nurtured. The
Law School places an emphasis on environmental and public interest law and prepares students for
practice throughout the country.

The Law School offers a Juris Doctor (J.D.) Degree and, through the Environmental Law Center,
the Master of Environmental Law and Policy (M.E.L.P.) Degree and the Masters of Laws in
Environmental Law (L.L.M.). A joint J.D./M.E.L.P. degree course of study is also offered. Annual
enrollment in the programs is approximately 660 students.

Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying financial statements, which are presented on the accrual basis of accounting,
focus on the Law School as a whole. Assets and liabilities have been shown in order of liquidity.
Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows:

Permanently Restricted Net Assets
Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently by the Law

School. Generally, the donors of these assets permit the Law School to use all or part of the income
earned and capital gains, if any, on related investments for general or specific purposes.

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will be met by actions of the Law

School and/or the passage of time.

Unrestricted Net Assets
Net assets not subject to donor-imposed stipulations.




VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Revenues are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless use of the related assets is
limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net assets.
Gains and losses on investments and other assets or liabilities are reported as increases or decreases
in unrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulations or law.
Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets, that is, situations in which the donor-imposed
stipulated purpose has been accomplished and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed, are
reported as reclassifications between the applicable classes of net assets.

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenues in the period
the promise is received. Promises to give that are scheduled to be received after the statement of
financial position date are shown as increases in temporarily restricted net assets and are
reclassified to unrestricted net assets when the purpose or time restrictions are met. Promises to
give subject to donor imposed stipulations that the corpus be maintained permanently are
recognized as increases in permanently restricted net assets. Conditional promises to give are not
recognized until they become unconditional, that is, when the conditions on which they depend are
substantially met. Contributions of assets other than cash are recorded at their estimated fair value.

The Law School reports contributions of property, plant or equipment as unrestricted non-operating
support unless the donor places restrictions on their use. Contributions of cash or other assets that
must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as temporarily restricted support and released
from restrictions when the assets are acquired and placed in service.

Dividends, interest and net gains on investments of endowments and similar funds are reported as
follows:

o as increases in permanently restricted net assets if the terms of the gift require that they be
added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund;

. as increases in temporarily restricted net assets if the terms of the gift impose restrictions on
the current use of income or net gains; and

. as increases in unrestricted net assets in all other cases.

Operating Income

The statement of activities reports the changes in net assets from operating and non-operating
activities. Tuition revenue is recorded at the established rates, net of institutional financial aid and
endowed scholarships provided directly by the Law School for students. Other operating revenues
consist of those items attributable to the Law School’s instructional programs. Other investment
income primarily relates to interest income from operating cash accounts.




VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30,2010 and 2009

Changes in net assets which are excluded from operating activities include other non-operating
expenses, purchase of collection items, investment income (loss), net of spending policy,
contributions which are permanently restricted by the donor or which are donor restricted to be used
for the purposes of acquiring long-term assets, and the release thereof when the Law School has
complied with the donative restriction. Other non-operating expenses include expenses related to
capital campaign activities, as well as professional fees for potential capital projects that were not
started, evaluation of the effects of restructuring bonds payable agreements, and certain other non-
recurring professional fees.

Functiona]l Expenses

Expenses are reported on the statement of activities in categories recommended by the National
Association of College and University Business Officers. The Law Scheol’s primary pregram
service is instruction. Expenses reported as academic support, student services, institutional
support, fundraising and auxiliary enterprises are incurred in support of this primary program
service.

Expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of the Law School plant assets, including
interest and depreciation expense, are allocated on the basis of square footage utilized by the
programs, as described in the functional categories.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Law School considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity date of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Interest income received on cash and cash equivalents
is included in other investment income on the statement of activities.

Investments
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt

securities and life insurance policies are reported at fair value with gains and losses included in the
statements of activities.




VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Contributions Receivable

Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected beyond one year are recorded at
the present value of estimated future cash flows. The present value of estimated future cash flows
has been measured utilizing a risk-free rate of return, commensurate with the risks involved in the
collection of outstanding promises to give. Amortization of the discount is included in contribution
revenue. Conditional promises to give are not included as revenue until such time as the conditions
are substantially met. The Law School provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a
charge to expense and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status
of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after the Law School has used reasonable
collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to
contributions receivable.

Student Tuition Receivables

Student tuition receivables represents amounts due for tuition and fees from currently enrolled and
former students. The Law School extends unsecured credit to students in connection with their
studies. Student tuition receivables are stated at the amount management expects to collect from
outstanding balances. Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts based on its
assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after
management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through the allowance for
uncollectible accounts. Changes in the allowance have not been material to the financial
statements.

Notes and Interest on Notes Receivable

Notes receivable from students are carried at the unpaid principal balance less an allowance for
uncollectible loans. The allowance for uncollectible loans is increased by charges to income and
decreased by charge-offs (net of recoveries). Management'’s periodic evaluation of the adequacy of
the allowance is based on Perkins loan program requirements, the Law School’s past loan loss
experience, specific impaired loans, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
repay and current economic conditions. Loans are considered impaired if full principal or interest
payments are not anticipated in accordance with the contractual terms. The Law School’s practice
is to charge off any loan or portion of loan when the loan is determined by management to be
uncollectible due to the borrower’s failure to meet repayment terms, the borrower’s deteriorating or
deteriorated financial condition or other reasons. Student loans are considered past due based on
contractual terms. At June 30, 2010 and 2009, student loans receivable past due 90 days or more
and continuing to accrue interest total $405,399 and $422,890, respectively.

Interest on loans is recognized over the term of the loan and is calculated using the simple-interest
method on principal amounts outstanding. Interest receivable not expected to be collected has been
included in the allowance for doubtful accounts.




VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Other Receivables

Other receivables are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding
balances. Amounts due are for the Federal Work-Study Program and other Federal and non-Federal
grants and cooperative agreements, faculty mortgages, and employee advances.

Pro Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost at the date of acquisition by the Law School, at fair
market value at date of receipt in the case of donated property, or at appraised value for certain
original components of the Law School complex. The Law School’s policy is to capitalize
property, plant and equipment with a cost or fair market value of greater than $5,000 on an item
basis and bulk purchase basis. Depreciation is calculaied using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Estimated Useful

Lives (Years)
Land improvements 15
Buildings 50
Library equipment 3-20
Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 3-10
Computer and communications infrastructure and software 3-25
Vehicles 6

Collection

The collection, which consists of library books, periodicals and related material, was acquired
through purchases and contributions since the Law School’s inception and is not recognized as an
asset on the statement of financial position. Purchases of collection items are recorded as decreases
in unrestricted net assets in the year in which the items are acquired, or as decreases in temporarily
or permanently restricted net assets if the assets used to purchase the items are restricted by donors.
Contributed collection items are not reflected in the financial statements. Proceeds from
deaccessions or insurance recoveries are reflected as increases in the appropriate net asset classes.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs have been capitalized and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of
the bond.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Advance Deposits on Tuition and Deferred Revenue

Advance deposits on tuition and deferred revenue represents tuition for the Law School’s summer
school session and deposits made by students enrolling in subsequent semesters. Nonrefundable
deposits are recorded as income when the student enters school or when the deposit is forfeited.

Bond Discount Amortization

The original bond discount is included in bonds payable and is amortized on a straight-line basis
over the life of the bonds.

Concentrations
The Law School derives its revenue primarily from tuition.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

Investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the
level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the level of uncertainty related to
changes in the value of investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in value
in the near term would materially affect the amounts reported in the statement of financial position.

Federal Income Taxes

The Law School is a nonprofit Vermont corporation and a tax exempt educational institution as
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (Code) and is generally exempt from
Federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code. The Law School is
not a private foundation.

The Law School files IRS Form 990-T, Exempt Organization Business Income Tax Return, for
certain food sales.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2009 financial statements to conform with the 2010
financial statement presentation. The following reclassifications were made to the June 30, 2008
net asset balances previously reported in the 2009 financial statements to properly reflect net asset
classifications:

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted  Restricted Restricted Total
Net asset balances as of June 30, 2008,
as previously reported $19.421,096 $ 2,289,124 $ 5,279,994 $26,990,214
Reclassification of the Law School's
Institutional Capital Contribution for
the Federal Perkins Loan Fund 993.440 - (993.440) -

Net asset balances as of June 30, 2009,
as restated $20414,536 $_2.280.124 $_4.286.554 $26.990.214

The following reclassifications were made to the statement of activities for the year ended June 30,
2009 previously reported:

° Revenue from other sources of $170,629 from the Federal Perkins Loan Fund that was
previously reported in permanently restricted net assets was reclassified to unrestricted net
assets.

) Net assets released from restrictions of $134,916 from permanently restricted net assets to

unrestricted net assets related to the Federal Perkins Loan Fund was removed from the
statement of activities.

o Net asset transfers from unrestricted net assets to temporarily restricted net assets
effective July 1, 2008 was increased by $1,496,943 for the unspent appreciation on
endowment funds for which the income is unrestricted by the donor but restricted to time
by state law.

° Investment income - spending policy on endowment funds for which the income is
unrestricted by the donor but restricted by state law of $119,707 for the year ended June
30, 2009 was reclassified from unrestricted net assets to temporarily restricted net assets.
There was a corresponding increase in net assets released from restrictions from
operations as these funds are available to the Law School. The investment loss in excess
of the spending policy of $625,066 for these funds was reclassified from unrestricted net
assets to temporarily restricted net assets for the year ended June 30, 2009.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Subsequent Events

For purposes of the preparation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, the Law School has considered transactions or events occurring
through October 27, 2010, which was the date that the financial statements were issued. The Law
School has not evaluated subsequent events after that date for inclusion in the financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Law School maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may exceed federally
insured limits. The Law School has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Law School
believes it is not exposed to any significant risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Cash equivalents held temporarily by the Law School investment managers are considered part of
investments.

The Law School invested excess operating cash with the Commonfund Short Term Investments
Fund (STIF), a bank commingled fund using Wachovia Bank N.A. as trustee (the Trustee), and
sponsored by The Commonfund for Nonprofits (Commonfund). On September 29, 2008, the
Trustee notified Commonfund and the fund participants that it was exercising its right to initiate the
termination of the STIF, impose liquidity restrictions thereon, and establish procedures for an
orderly liquidation and distribution of the fund’s assets. The total Law School’s funds invested at
September 29, 2008 were $9,536,021. As of June 30, 2009, approximately 88.9% of short term
total assets were available for withdrawal. As of June 30, 2010, 100% of short term total assets
were distributed to the Law School.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

3. Investments

Investments are comprised of the following as of June 30:

2010 2009
Intermediate cash fund $ 27335 §$ 24,234
Other fixed income 520,771 1,103,460
Government securities fund - 1,419,080
Domestic equities 4,763,704 5,474,575
Corporate bonds 474,678 -
U.S. Government bonds 2,453,807 -
Foreign equities 1,674,766 -
Life insurance 56,329 53,949
Real estate fund 12,729 398,324

$.9.984.119 $_8473.622

The Law School invested $500,000 in 2003 in Common Fund Realty Investors, LLC, a real estate
limited liability company, which is included in the Real Estate Funds listed above, and committed
an additional $320,000 which was invested in 2008. The fair market value of this investment was
$12,729 and $398,324 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Unrealized losses included in
investment return were $341,995 and $596,184 for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the endowment returned approximately 8%
before writing down the real estate investment. After this write down, the portfolio returned
approximately 4%.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Under the Law School’s spending policy, five (5%) percent of the average of the fair value of the
endowment investments at the end of the previous three (3) years as well as all investment income
on operating funds are designated for current operations as follows for the years ended June 30:

2010 2009
Investment return:
Interest and dividends $ 247535 $ 209,478
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value 235929 (2.814.097)
Total return on investments 483,464 (2,604,619)
Less: Investment income designated for current operations:
Investment income spending policy 366,619 548,134
Other investment income 115.598 44,129
Total designated for current operations 482217 592,263
Investment income (loss) net of spending policy $____ 1247 $(3.196.882

Investment income is reported net of estimated investment expenses of $38,874 and $144,298 for

the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Contributions Receivable

Contributions receivable consist of the following at June 30:

2010 2009
Currently due $ 280956 $ 281,805
Less than one year 81,263 197,695
One to five years 670,803 420,842
More than five years 25.608 14,004
1,058,630 914,346
Less: Allowance for uncollectible contributions (144,843) (206,820)
Unamortized discount of 3% {51,086) (19.280)

Net contributions receivable

$.—862.701 S$__088.246
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2010 and 2009

Included in contributions receivable is $526,526 and $390,960 due from Board members at June 30,
2010 and 2009, respectively.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes amounts that have been established as required by the 2003 Series A bonds
on June 19, 2003 and amounts restricted from funds received for student loans from the Perkins

Federal Loan Program. As required by the federal regulations, a separate cash account is
maintained for the Perkins Loan Program.

201 2009
Bond fund series A 2003 interest $ 158,297 § 163,047
Bond fund series A 2003 debt reserve fund 524,962 524,965
Federal Perkins loan program fund 463,869 518,641
Federal Perkins loan program - Commonfund - 63.785

S_L147.128 $_1270438

The Bond fund accounts are uninsured and are invested in a government money market fund and/or
state and local government securities.

Investments Held in Trust by Others

Investments held in trust by others represent the market value of the Law School’s rights to split-
interest agreements. All of the Law School’s split-interest agreement assets are classified as
temporarily restricted because they are charitable remainder unitrusts where the only restriction is
time. The present value of the future payments is estimated to equal the current market value of
these investments and they are recorded by the Law School at this value. The principal from these
investments is recorded as unrestricted revenues when received as there are no restrictions on their
use.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at June 30:

2010 2009
Land $ 466,986 § 455,240
Land improvements 379,708 379,708
Buildings 19,283,866 19,145,078
Library equipment 985,112 985,112
Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 2,268,862 2,527,366
Computer and communications infrastructure and software 1,970,996 1,958,066
Vehicle 11,000 27,114
Construction in progress 1,061,334 114.840

26,427,864 25,592,524

Less accumulated depreciation 8,822,567 8.274,174
Property, plant and equipment, net $17,605.297 $17.318.350

Depreciation expense charged to operations was $903,438 and $945,919 for the years ended June
30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Included in property, plant and equipment is capitalized interest in the amount of $504,285 at June
30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

8. Capital Leases

During 2009, the Law School had capital lease arrangements outstanding for certain equipment
under capital leases. There were no capital lease arrangements outstanding as of June 30, 2010.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Bonds Payable

Bonds payable consists of the following at June 30:

Revenue bonds issued in 2003 Series A by the Vermont
Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency. The serial
bonds are payable in annual principal installments ranging from
$175,000 to $420,000 from 2009 through 2033. The payments
are made January 1% of the year due. Interest payments are
made monthly to Chittenden Investment Services at fixed
interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 5.5%. The bonds payabie are
collateralized by certain property, plant and equipment.

Variable rate demand revenue bonds issued in 2003 Series B by
the Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing
Agency. The bonds are payable annually on January 1 with
principal installments ranging from $45,000 to $255,000 from
2009 through 2033. Interest, at a variable rate based on the tax
exempt municipal index provided by the Bond Marketing
Association, is payable in monthly installments. The interest
rate at June 30, 2010 was 0.30%. The bonds are collateralized
by an irrevocable direct pay Letter of Credit. The Law School
has an option to convert the bonds to bear interest at a fixed rate.

Variable rate taxable private placement bond issued in 2010
Series A by TD Bank N.A. on behalf of the Law School.
Principal payments are payable monthly commencing August
1%, 2012, based on a 20 year amortization schedule. The entire
principal balance is due on the maturity date, June 30, 2014.
Interest only, at a variable rate based on USD-LIBOR-BBA plus
2.75% (effective interest rate of 3.5% at June 30, 2010) is
payable in monthly installments for the first twenty-four months.
The bond is collateralized by specific land and buildings.

Less unamortized discount

Bonds payable, net of unamortized discount

[
bt
=
E

$ 5,865,000 $ 6,055,000

3,575,000 3,635,000

850 -
10,290,000 9,690,000
188,361 196,550

$_10,101.639 $_9,493.450
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows:

Year Ending June 30,

2011 $ 265,000
2012 275,000
2013 342,500
2014 1,127,500
2015 340,000
Thereafter _7.940.000

$.10.290,000

The Law School has obtained an irrevocable letter of credit and confirmation to satisfy the
requirements of the 2003 Series B bonds resolutions. The letter of credit in the amount of
$3,998,291 has a termination date of June 7, 2012. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, there is no
balance due on the letter of credit. The Law School is required to pay an annual commitment fee of
0.9% of the unused portion of the letter of credit. This fee totaled $49,850 and $39,849 for the years
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The bonds, letter of credit and line of credit contain certain operating and financial covenants. The
Law School was in compliance with these covenants as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

Interest expense on the bonds charged to operations is $331,058 and $381,509 in 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Line of Credit

The Law School obtained a revolving line of credit allowing it to borrow up to $3,000,000 for the
purpose of working capital which matured on December 31, 2009. Borrowings under the
agreement bear interest at a per annum rate equal to either the published Wall Street Journal rate
plus 0.5% or the 1 month LIBOR rate plus 2.5%. There were no borrowings outstanding on the line
of credit as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

Refundable Advances - U.S. Government Grants

Refundable Advances - U.S. Government Grants represents Federal Perkins Loan Funds (Perkins)
due back to the U.S. Government. These balances are the Federal capital contributions received by
the Law School to run the Perkins program. The liability at June 30, 2010 and 2009 was
$2,327,366. GAAP for colleges require recognition of this amount as a liability. However, should
the Law School ever discontinue the Perkins program, Federal regulations require certain
calculations that could require a much larger amount to be returned to the U.S. Department of
Education.
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

12. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following as of June 30:

2010 2009

Purpose restrictions:

Instruction $ 327,136 $§ 350,515

Student aid 398,130 289,093

Building 323,386 463,223

Other purpose restrictions 130,004 122,639
Time restrictions:

Unspent appreciation on endowment for which the

income is unrestricted 836,597 871,877
Contributions and grant receivables, net 541,127 580,878
Contributions - remainder unitrusts 130,000 120,000

$_2,686380 $_2.798.225

13. Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following as of June 30:

2010 2009
Endowment funds and loan funds for which the income is restricted:
Student emergency loan program $ 54,676 $ 54,676
Instruction 411,432 403,433
Student aid 1,740,393 1,530,397
Loan repayment assistance program 1,277,535 1,210,853
Other endowment funds 222,506 222,506
Contributions receivable - other 321,574 107,368

4,028,116 3,529,233

Endowment funds for which the income is unrestricted 863.716 863.40

S_4.891.832 $_4392636
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30,2010 and 2009

14. Net Assets Released From Restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions due to donor-imposed stipulations being met consisted of the
following for the years ended June 30:

2010 2009
Purpose restrictions - operations:
Instruction $ 515,653 § 704,268
Student aid 69,821 466,631
Other 50,082 231,608
Time restrictions
Contributions receivable, net 37,446 45,822
Net operating assets released from restrictions 673,002 1,846,653
Non-operating:
Investment in plant 542,947 155,585
Total net assets released from restrictions $ 1215949 $ 2.002.238

15. Cash Flow Information

For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Law School paid interest of $335,919 and
$393,171, respectively.

The Law School had the following noncash activity for the years ended June 30:

2010 2009
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment $ 1,196,491 § 835,355
Less: Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of year-end (67,116) (10,756)
Add: Payments on short-term trade accounts used to finance

acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10,756 49,047
Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment $__1140.131 §$ 873.646
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VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

16. Endowment Fund

The Law School’s endowment consists of approximately 70 individual funds established for a
variety of purposes. Its endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds
designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. As required by GAAP, net assets
associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor imposed
restrictions.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Board of Trustees of the Law School has interpreted the Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the originai gift
as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Law School classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment
made in accordance with the direction of the applicable gift instrument at the time the accumulation
is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not
classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until
those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Law School in a manner consistent with the
standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. In accordance with UPMIFA, the Law School
considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-
restricted endowment funds:

The duration and preservation of the fund

The purposes of the Law School and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions

The possible effect of inflation and deflation

The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
Other resources of the Law School

The investment policies of the Law School

5 G B 65 0 [ 2

Funds with Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA requires the Law School to retain as a
fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of this nature that are reported
in unrestricted net assets were $280,836 and $366,158 as of June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009,
respectively. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred
shortly after the investment of new permanently restricted contributions and continued
appropriation for certain programs that were deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees.
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Notes to Financial Statements

June 30,2010 and 2009

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The Law School has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to
preserve the real purchasing power of the principal and provide a stable source of perpetual
financial support to endowment beneficiaries in accordance with the Law School’s spending policy.
Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the Law School must hold in
perpetuity or for a donor-specified period(s) as well as board-designated funds. Under this policy,
as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to provide the long term annualized total rate of return equal to the Higher Education Price
Index plus 5 percent. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Law School relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized)
and current yield (interest and dividends). The Law School targets a diversified asset allocation that
places a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives
within prudent risk constraints.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spénding Policy

The Law school has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5 percent of a trailing 3 year
average of its endowment’s total asset value through the calendar year-end preceding the fiscal year
in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy, the Law School considered the
long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Law School
expects the current spending policy to allow its endowment to grow annually. This is consistent
with the Law School’s objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in
perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and
investment return.

Net Asset Transfers Between Classifications

As a result of the State of Vermont adopting the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Act on May 5, 2009, the Law School transferred the unappropriated investment earnings on
endowment funds. This resulted in a reclassification of $1,866,282 of unappropriated investment
earnings from unrestricted to temporarily restricted net assets as of July 1, 2008, the beginning of
the fiscal year of adoption.
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Notes to Financial Statements

June 30,2010 and 2009

Endowment Composition and Changes in Endowment

The endowment funds were held as follows as of June 30:

2010 2009
Cash and cash equivalents $ 61,709 § 3,711,413
Investments 9,756,200 5,853,658
Contributions receivable, net 321,574 107,368
Due to operating fund - {35.000)

$10.139.483 $_09,637.439
The endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of June 30, 2010 are as foiiows:

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted

Total
(280,836) $ 1,087,981 $ 4,837,156 $ 5,644,301
4,495,182 - - 4,495.182

$_4214346 $_1087.981 $_4.837,156 $10,139,483

The changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Donor-restricted endowment funds  $

Board-designated endowment funds

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, June 30,2009 $§ 4,167,790 $ 1,131,689 $ 4,337,960 $ 9,637,439

Investment return:

Investment income 63,171 81,164 - 144,335

Net appreciation in fair value 97.645 125.887 - 223,532
Total investment return 160,816 207,051 - 367,867
Contributions and grants - - 499,196 499,196
Net transfers to Board-designated

from operating funds 1,600 - - 1,600
Reclassification of deficiencies 85,322 (85,322) - -
Appropriation of endowment assets

for expenditure _ (201,182) __ (165.437) - (366.619)

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2010

$_4214.346 S_1,087981 $_4.837.156 $10.139.483
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The endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of June 30, 2009 are as follows:

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ (366,158) $§ 1,131,689 § 4,337,960 §$ 5,103,491
Board-designated endowment funds 4,533,948 - c 4,533,948
$.4.167.700 $_L131.680 $_4337.960 $_9.637,439

The changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2009 are as follows:

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, June 30,2008 $ 7,956,272 $ 569,381 $ 4,231,895 $12,757,548

Net asset transfers between
classifications based on change

in law (1,866,282) 1,866,282 - -
Investment loss:

Investment income 80,208 87,088 - 167,296

Net depreciation in fair value (1.385.138) _(1,465,906) - (2.851,044)
Total investment loss (1,304,930) (1,378,818) - (2,683,748)
Contributions - - 106,065 106,065
Net transfers to Board-designated

from operating funds 5,708 - - 5,708
Reclassification of deficiencies (366,158) 366,158 - -
Appropriation of endowment assets

for expenditure (256,820) (291.314) - (548.134)

Endowment net assets, June 30, 2009 $_4,167,.790 $_1.131.680 $_4337.960 $_9,637.439
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Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2010 and 2009

17. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a
liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The Law School utilizes
a fair value hierarchy, based on three levels of inputs to measure fair value, that maximizes the use
of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) or identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the
entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs
that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect the Law School’s own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

Assets measured at fair value are summarized below:

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010, Using
Quoted Prices  Significant

In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable  Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

June 30, 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Valued on a recurring basis:

Intermediate cash fund s 27335 §$ 27335 §$ - $ -
Other fixed income 520,771 - 520,771 -
Domestic equities 4,763,704 4,763,704 - -
Corporate bonds 474,678 - 474,678 -
U.S. Government bonds 2,453,807 - 2,453,807 -
Foreign equities 1,674,766 1,674,766 - -
Life insurance 56,329 - 56,329 -
Real estate funds 12,729 - 12,729 -
Investments $_9984.119 §__ 6465805 § 18314 S$_____-
Investments held in trust by
others $ 130 A - $§___130.000 $ -
Valued on a non-recurring basis:
Contributions receivable $___616543 S - $ = $ 016543
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Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2009, Using

Quoted Prices Significant

In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable  Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

June 30, 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Valued on a recurring basis:

Intermediate cash fund $ 24234 § 24234 § - $ S
Other fixed income 1,103,460 - 1,103,460 -
Government securities fund 1,419,080 - 1,419,080 -
Mutual fund equities 83,313 83,313 - -
Domestic equities 5,391,262 5,391,262 - S
Life insurance 53,949 - 53,949 -
Real estate funds 398.324 - 398.324 -

Investments $_8473622 $__ 5498800 $__2974813 $ -
Investments held in trust by

others $___ 120000 $ - $___120000 § -

Valued on a non-recurring basis:
Contributions receivable $ 376374 $ = § - $___376374

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market prices. However, in certain instances, there
are no quoted market prices for the Law School's various financial instruments. In cases where
quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or
other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates
may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument.
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The fair value for level 2 investments is primarily based on estimates using market prices of
comparable securities. The fair value for level 2 investments held in trust by others is primarily
based on an estimate of the present value of underlying securities invested in by the trusts. Those
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and
estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in an
immediate settlement of the instrument.

The fair value for level 3 contributions receivable is based on the present value of expected cash
flows.

Retirement Benefits

Substantiaily ali employees of the Law School are eligible to participate in a defined coniribution
plan sponsored by Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association and College Retirement Equities
Fund. Total contributions, at the rate of 8% of salaries of participating employees, amounted to
$755,025 and $680,813 for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Health Insurance

The Law School was on a self-insured plan in 2010 for medical and dental coverage. Effective July
1, 2010, the Law School has converted back to a fully insured plan. Members of the plan include
Law School employees and students. Included in accrued expenses is a reserve for 2010 claims
incurred before year end but not reported. The reserve is $160,000 and $150,000 at June 30, 2010
and 2009, respectively. The Law School carried insurance with an individual stop loss limit of
$160,000 for the contract period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2010 and an aggregate stop loss
percentage of 120%. The aggregate stop loss amount is the aggregate expected claims level
multiplied by the aggregate stop loss percentage.

Disclosures of Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments

The College's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, student tuition receivables,
other receivables, contributions receivable, investments held in trust by others, investments, notes
and interest on notes receivable from students, accounts payable, accrued expenses, bonds payable,
capital leases, and refundable advances - U.S. government grants. The estimated fair value of
bonds payable, based on discounted cash flows at current market interest rates, was approximately
$11,400,000 and $10,900,000 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The fair values of all other
financial instruments approximate their carrying values.

Related Party Transactions

The Law School received $909,403 and $496,518 in contributions from various Board members
during 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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APPENDIX C-1

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS AND
SUMMARIES OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE TRUST AGREEMENT FOR THE BONDS

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS

The following is a summary of the definitions of certain items contained in the Loan Agreement and the
Trust Agreement for the Bonds and used in this Official Statement.

“Balloon Indebtedness” means Indebtedness as to which twenty-five percent (25%) or more of principal
payments (measured by reference to the original principal amount thereof) is due, whether at maturity or by
operation of mandatory sinking fund redemption, in a single Fiscal Year, including Indebtedness which is required
to be purchased by the Corporation at the option of the holder thereof,

“Bonds™ means the Bonds of the Agency issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement.
“Bond Fund” means the Bond Fund created under the Trust Agreement.

“Bond Year” means the period commencing on the first day of January of any year and ending on the last
day of December in such year.

“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a day on which
banking institutions in any city in which the principal office of the Trustee is located are authorized or required by
law or executive order to close, or (ii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Corporation Representative” means each of the persons at the time designated to act on behalf of the
Corporation in a written certificate furnished to the Agency and the Trustee, which certificate shall contain the
specimen signature(s) of such person(s) and shall be signed on behalf of the Corporation by its president or chief
financial officer.

“Cost” means, without intending thereby to limit or restrict any proper definition of such word under the
Act, all items of cost set forth in the Trust Agreement.

“Defeasance Obligations” means (i) noncallable Government Obligations, (ii) evidences of ownership of a
proportionate interest in specified noncallable Government Obligations, which Government Obligations are held by
a bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof
in the capacity of custodian, (iii) Defeased Municipal Obligations and (iv) evidences of ownership of a proportionate
interest in specified Defeased Municipal Obligations, which Defeased Municipal Obligations are held by a bank or
trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof in the
capacity as custodian,

“Defeased Municipal Obligations” means obligations of state or local government municipal bond issuers
which are rated in the highest rating category by S&P and Moody’s, respectively, provision for the payment of the
principal of and interest on which shall have been made by deposit with a trustee or escrow agent of (i) noncallable
Government Obligations, (ii) evidences of ownership of a proportionate interest in specified noncallable
Government Obligations, (iii) cash or (iv) any combination of such noncallable Government Obligations, evidences
of ownership and cash, which Government Obligations or evidences of ownership, together with any cash, are held
by a bank or trust company organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state
thereof in the capacity of custodian, the maturing principal of and interest on such Government Obligations or
evidences of ownership, when due and payable, being sufficient, together with any cash, to provide money to pay
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such obligations of such state or local government municipal bond
issuers.
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“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of the principal
of and interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America.

“Guaranty” means any obligation of any Member of the Obligated Group guaranteeing in any manner,
directly or indirectly, any obligation of any Person that is not a Member of the Obligated Group which obligation of
such other Person would, if such obligation were the obligation of a Member of the Obligated Group, constitute
Indebtedness under the Master Indenture.

“Holder” means a person in whose name a Bond is registered in the registration books of the Trustee.

“Indebtedness” means (i) all indebtedness of Members of the Obligated Group for borrowed money, (ii) al
installment sales, conditional sales and capital lease obligations incurred or assumed by any Member of the
Obligated Group, and (iii) all Guaranties (other than any Guaranty by any Member of the Obligated Group of
Indebtedness of any other Member of the Obligated Group). Indebtedness shall not include normal trade credit
incurred on terms and conditions accepted in the industry of the supplier or the Member of the Obligated Group.
Indebtedness shall not include obligations of any Member of the Obligated Group to another Member of the
Obligated Group.

“Interest Payment Date” means each January 1 and July 1.

“Interest Requirement” for any Bond Year means the amount that is required to pay interest on July 1 in
such Bond Year and January 1 of the following Bond Year.

“Investment Obligations” means:
4))] Defeasance Obligations;

) bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by any of the following
agencies or any other like governmental or government-sponsored agencies which are hereafler created: Bank for
Cooperatives; Federal Intermediate Credit Banks; Federal Financing Bank; Federal Some Loan Bank System;
Export Import Bank of the United States; Farmers Home Administration; Small Business Administration
Inter-American Development Bank; International Bank for Reconstruction and Development; Federal Land Banks;
and Government National Mortgage Association;

3) direct and general obligations of any state of the United States of America or any municipality or
political subdivision of such state, or obligations of any corporation, if such obligations are rated in one of the two
highest rating categories by each of S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any gradations within such categories), or,
upon the discontinuance of either or both of such services, any other nationally recognized rating services;

“) negotiable or non-negotiable certificates of deposit, time deposits, or other similar banking
arrangements, issued by any bank (including the Trustee), banking association or trust company or any savings and
loan association, and either (i) the long-term obligations of such bank or trust company or savings and loan
association are rated in one of the two highest rating categories by each of S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any
gradations within such categories) or, upon the discontinuance of either or both of such services, any other
nationally recognized rating services or (ii) the deposits are continuously secured as to principal, but only to the
extent not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or similar corporation chartered by the United
States of America, (2) by lodging with a bank or trust company, as collateral security, obligations described in
paragraph (1) or (2) above or, with the approval of the Trustee, other marketable securities eligible as security for
the deposit of trust funds under applicable regulations of the Comptroller or the Currency of the United States or
applicable state law or regulations, having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) not less than the amount of
such deposit, or (b) if the furnishing of security as provided in clause (a) of this paragraph is not permitted by
applicable law, in such manner as may then be required or permitted by applicable state or federal laws and
regulations regarding the security for, or granting a preference in the case of, the deposit of trust funds;
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3) repurchase agreements with respect to obligations listed in paragraph (1) or (2) above if entered
into with a bank (including the Trustee), banking association, trust company or a broker or dealer (as defined by the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) which is a dealer in government bonds which reports to, trades with and is
recognized as a primary dealer by a Federal Reserve Bank, and which is 8 member of the Securities Investors
Protection Corporation if (i) such obligations that are the subject of such repurchase agreement are delivered to the
Trustee or are supported by a safe-keeping receive issued by a depository satisfactory to the Trustee, provided that
such repurchase agreement must provide that the value of the underlying obligations shall be maintained at a current
market value, calculated no less frequently than monthly, of not less than the repurchase price, (ii) a prior perfected
security interest in the obligations which are the subject of such repurchase agreement has been granted to the
Trustee and (iii) such obligations are free and clear of any adverse third party claims;

6) commercial paper rated in the highest rating category by S&P and Moody’s;

@) mutual funds that invest primarily in obligations listed in paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) above which
mutual finds are rated in the highest category by each of S&P and Moody’s;

8) investment agreements continuously secured by the obligations listed in paragraphs (1), (2) or (4)
above, with any bank, trust company or broker or dealer (as defined by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) which
is a dealer in govemment securities, which reports to, trades with and is recognized as a primary dealer by, a Federal
Reserve Bank, and is a member of the Securities Investors Protection Corporation if (i) such obligations are
delivered to the Trustee or are supported by a safekeeping receipt issued by a depository satisfactory to the Trustee,
provided that such investment agreements must provide that the value of the underlying obligations shall be
maintained at a current market value, calculated no less frequently than monthly, of not less than the amount
deposited thereunder, (ii) a prior perfected security interest in the obligations which are securing such agreement has
been granted to the Trustee, and (iii) such obligations are free and clear of any adverse third party claims; and

9) investment agreements with any bank or trust company which has long-term obligations rated in
one of the two highest rating categories by each of S&P and Moody’s (without regard to any gradations within such
categories), or upon the discontinuance of either or both of such services, any other nationally recognized rating
services.

“Loan Repayments” means the payments so described under the caption “Loan Repayments; Required
Payments Under the Loan Agreement” in this Appendix C-1.

*“Maximum Annual Debt Service” means, as of the date of calculation, the greatest Annual Debt Service for
the current or any succeeding Fiscal Year.

“Long-Term Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness with an original term of greater than 364 days or
Indebtedness with an original term of less than 364 days if the documents authorizing the incurrence of such
Indebtedness allow the Corporation to extend the term of such Indebtedness beyond 364 days.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, its successors and their assigns, and, if such corporation
shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s”
shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency appointed by the Corporation
and approved by the Agency.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by an Agency Representative or a Corporation
Representative, as the case may be.

“Outstanding” when used with reference to Bonds means, as of a particular date, all Bonds theretofore
issued under the Trust Agreement, except:

(a) Bonds theretofore paid or redeemed delivered to the Bond Registrar for cancellation;
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(b) Bonds, for the payment of which money, Government Obligations, or a combination of both,
sufficient to pay, on the date when such Bonds are to be paid or redeemed, the principal or Redemption Price of, and
the interest accruing to such date on, the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, has been deposited with the Trustee or the
Bond Registrar in trust for the Solders of such Bonds; Government Obligations shall be deemed to be sufficient to
pay or redeem Bonds on a specified date if the principal of and the interest on such Government Obligations, when
due, will be sufficient to pay on such date the principal or Redemption Price of, and the interest accruing on, such
Bonds to such date;

(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been issued and authenticated under
the Trust Agreement; and

(d) Bonds deemed to have been paid in accordance with the Trust Agreement.

“Principal and Interest Requirements” for any Bond Year means the sum of the Principal Requirements and
Interest Requirements for such Bond Year.

“Principal Requirements” for any Bond Year means the Sinking Fund Requirement for any Term Bonds
due on January 1 of the following Bond Year and the principal of any Serial Bonds coming due on January 1 of the
following Bond Year.

“Redemption Fund” means the Redemption Fund created under the Trust Agreement and described in the
Summary of the Trust Agreement in this Appendix C-1.

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to Bonds or a portion thereof, the principal amount of such Bonds
or portion thereof plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof.

“Required Payments Under the Loan Agreement” means the payments so described under the caption
“Loan Repayments; Required Payments Under the Loan Agreement” in the Summary of the Loan Agreement in this
Appendix C-1.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, its
successors and their assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the
functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securitics
rating agency appointed by the Corporation and approved by the Agency.

“SIFMA Swap Index” shall mean, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade
market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data, Inc., and
published or made available by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (“SIFMA™) or any person
acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and effective from such date; provided, however,
that, if such index is no longer provided by Municipal Market Data, Inc. or its successor, the “Municipal Index”
shall mean such other reasonably comparable index selected by the Master Trustee (who may conclusively rely upon
an opinion of a commercial or investment banking firm knowledgeable in municipal finance).

“Sinking Fund Requirement” means, with respect to Bonds for any Bond Year, principal amount fixed or
computed as hereinafter provided for the retirement of such Term Bonds by purchase or redemption on January 1 of
the following Bond Year.

The Sinking Fund Requirement for the Bonds for each Bond Year shall be initially the respective principal
amounts of such Bonds to be redeemed, or otherwise retired, on January 1 of the following Bond Year as provided
in the Trust Agreement. The Sinking Fund Requirements for the Bonds are as set forth under the subheading
“Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” under the heading, “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS” set forth herein.

“State” means the State of Vermont.

“Total Required Payments” means the sum of Loan Repayments and Required Payments.
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“Variable Rate Indebtedness” means any portion of Indebtedness the interest rate on which is not
established at the time of incurrence at a fixed or constant rate until maturity.
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SUMMARY OF LOAN AGREEMENT
Loans Repayments; Requi me der the eme;
The Corporation is required to make Total Required Payments under the L.oan Agreement when due.
Loan Repayments are required to be sufficient in the aggregate to repay the Loan and interest thereon and
to pay in full all Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, together with the total interest and redemption premium,
if any, thereon. The Corporation is required to repay the Loan in installments, each installment being deemed a

Loan Repayment. The Corporation may prepay all or any part of the loan as provided in the Loan Agreement.

The Corporation shall also pay, when due and payable, as Required Payments under the Loan Agreement,
the following costs and expenses, exclusive of costs and expenses payable from the proceeds of the Bonds:

(i) the fees and other costs incurred for services of the Master Trustee (and, if not paid when due,
interest thereon at its base rate) and any rating agency rating the Bonds;

(ii) the fees and other costs payable to the Trustee (and, if not paid when due, interest thereon at its
base rate);
(iii) all costs incurred in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds to the extent money is

not otherwise available therefor;

(iv) the fees and other costs incurred for services of such engineers, architects, attorneys, management
consultants, insurance advisers, and accountants as are employed to make examinations, provide service, render
opinions or prepare reports required under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture or the Trust Agreement;

w) reasonable fees and other costs that the Corporation is obligated to pay, not otherwise paid under
the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement, incurred by the Agency in connection with its administration and
enforcement of, and compliance with, the Loan Agreement or the Trust Agreement, including, but not limited to, the
annual administrative fee imposed by the Agency in an annual amount not to exceed 1/10 of 1% of the original
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, which annual amount is payable July 1 of each calendar year commencing
July 1, 2011, and reasonable attorneys’ fees;

(vi) all costs incurred by the Agency or the Trustee in connection with the discontinuation of or
withdrawal from any book-entry system for the Bonds or any transfer from one book-entry system to another,
including, without limitation, the printing and issuance of additional or substitute Bonds in connection with such
withdrawal, discontinuance or transfer; and

(vii) fees and other costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds to the extent such fees
and other costs are not paid from the proceeds of the Bonds.

Absolute Obligation to Make Total Required Payments

So long as any Bonds remain Outstanding, the obligation of the Corporation to make Total Required
Payments shall be absolute and unconditional. The Corporation will pay without abatement, diminution or
deduction (whether for taxes or otherwise) all such amounts regardless of any cause or circumstance whatsoever
including, without limitation, any defense, set-off, recoupment or counterclaim that the Corporation may have or
assert against the Agency or the Trustee or any other person.

Secondary Market Disclosure

The Corporation covenants for the benefit of the persons who from time to time are the owners of the
Bonds for federal income tax purposes (the “beneficial owners”):
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(A) to file within 120 days after the end of each of its fiscal years, beginning after its 2011 fiscal year,
with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB™), core financial information for the prior fiscal year,
including (i) the Corporation’s audited financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in effect from time to time, and (ii) material historical quantitative data concerning the
Corporation of the type generally found in Appendix A to the Official Statement for the Bonds; and

(B) to file, in a timely manner, not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the applicable
event, to the MSRB, notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:

1. principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. non-payment related defaults, if material;

3. unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

4. unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

5. substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6. adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or
determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status

of the Bonds;
7. modifications to rights of security holders, if material;
8. bond calls, if material;
9. defeasances;
10. release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
11 rating changes;
12. bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Corporation;
13. the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Corporation or

the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, other than in the ordinary course of
business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive
agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant 1o its terms, if material; and

14, the appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material,

© in a timely manner, to the MSRB, notice of a failure of the Corporation to provide required annual
financial information described in (A) above on or before the date specified.

Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB
shall be provided to the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet address
of which is www.emma.msrb.org. All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided
in an electronic format prescribed by the MSRB (currently, portable document format (pdf), which must be word-
searchable except for non-textual elements) and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by
the MSRB.
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No beneficial owner may institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity (“Proceeding”™) for the
enforcement of any covenant in paragraph (a) of this Section (the “Disclosure Covenant”) or for any remedy for
breach thereof, unless such owner shall have filed with the Corporation written notice of and request to cure such
breach, and the Corporation shall have refused to comply within a reasonable time. All Proceedings shall be for the
equal benefit of all beneficial owners of the outstanding Bonds benefited by the same or a substantially similar
covenant, and no remedy shall be sought or granted other than specific performance of the Disclosure Covenant at
issue. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no challenge to the adequacy of the information provided in accordance with
the filings mentioned in said paragraph (a) may be prosecuted by any beneficial owner except in compliance with
the remedial and enforcement provisions of the Loan Agreement.

Any amendment to the Disclosure Covenant may only take effect if:

¢))] the amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in
legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the Corporation, or type of business
conducted; this Section, as amended, would have complied with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 (the “Rule”™) of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) at the time of issuance of the Bonds, after taking into account
any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and the amendment does not
materially impair the interests of beneficial owners, as determined by parties unaffiliated with the Corporation or the
Agency; or

2 all or any part of the Rule, as interpreted by the staff of the SEC at the date of the adoption of this
resolution, ceases to be in effect for any reason, and the Corporation elects that this Section shall be deemed
amended accordingly.

In the case of any amendment, the annual financial information containing the amended operating data or
financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in
the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

Any assertion of beneficial ownership must be filed, with full documentary support, as part of the written
request described in the preceding paragraph.

Other Covenants of the Corporation

The Loan Agreement provides that the Corporation will comply with each covenant, condition and
agreement in the Master Indenture. The Loan Agreement also sets forth certain other agreements of the Corporation
with respect to among other things: merger, sale and transfer of assets; examination of books and records of the
Corporation; furnishing to the Agency, the Bond Trustee and any Holder who requests in writing, the financial
statements and certain other information required to be furnished under the Master Trust Indenture; the execution,
acknowledgment and delivery of supplements, amendments and such further instruments as may reasonably be
required with respect to the performance of the Loan Agreement; and inspection of any Operating Assets by the
Agency, the Trustee and the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the
Outstanding Bond.

Amendments to Master Indenture

So long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the Master Indenture shall not be amended without the prior written
consent of the Agency.

Defaults and Remedies

Events of Default are defined in the Loan Agreement to include: (a) failure of the Corporation to make any
payment required under the l.oan Agreement (including, but not limited to, Loan Repayments but excluding
Required Payments under the Agreement as described in paragraph (c) under the caption “Loan Repayments;
Required Payments under the Loan Agreement” above or under the Obligation related to the Loan Agreement when
due, whether at maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise, (b) failure of the Corporation to perform, observe or
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comply with any covenant, condition or agreement on its part under the Loan Agreement (other than a failure to
make any payments described under clause () of this paragraph), including any covenant, condition or agreement in
the Master Indenture applicable to the any Member of the Obligated Group and incorporated by reference in the
Loan Agreement, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after the date on which written notice of
such failure, requiring the same to be remedied, has been given to the Corporation by the Bond Trustee or to the
Corporation and the Trustee by the Holders of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of
the Bonds then Qutstanding; provided, however, that if such performance, observation or compliance requires work
to be done, action to be taken or conditions to be remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken
or remedied, as the case may be, within such 30-day period, no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred
or to exist if, and so long as, the Corporation shall commence such performance, observation or compliance within
such period and shall diligently and continuously prosecute the same to completion; or (c) the Master Trustee has
declared the aggregate principal amount of the Obligation related to the Loan Agreement and all interest due thereon
immediately due and payable in accordance with the Master Indenture,

Upon the happening and continuance of an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, the Agency may
take the following remedial steps: (i) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (a) in the preceding
paragraph, take whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to collect the payments then due under
the Obligation related to the Loan Agreement; (ii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (b) in the
preceding paragraph, take whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to enforce the performance,
observance or compliance by the Corporation with any covenant, condition or agreement by the Corporation under
the Loan Agreement; and (iii) in the case of an Event of Default described in clause (c) in the preceding paragraph,
take such action, or cease such action, as the Master Trustee shall direct, but only to the extent such directions are
consistent with the provisions of the Master Indenture.

Prepayment of the Loan

The Corporation has the option to prepay, together with accrued interest, all or any portion of the unpaid
aggregate amount of the Loan by redeeming Bonds in accordance with the Trust Agreement. Such prepayment will
be made by the Corporation taking, or causing the Agency to take, the actions required (i) for payment of the Bonds,
whether by redemption or purchase prior to maturity or by payment at maturity, or (ii) to effect the purchase,
redemption or payment al maturity of less than all of the Outstanding Bonds according to their terms.

The Corporation has the option to prepay the unpaid aggregate amount of the Loan, together with accrued
interest to the date of prepayment upon the occurrence of the following events: (a) damage or destruction of all or
any part (if damage or destruction of such part causes the Corporation to be impracticable to operate, as evidenced
by an Officer’s Certificate filed with the Agency and the Trustee) of the Operating Assets by fire or casualty, or loss
of title to or use of substantially all of the Operating Assets as a result of the failure of title or as a result of Eminent
Domain proceedings or proceedings in lieu thereof; or (b) changes in the Constitution of the United States of
America or of the State or of legislation or administrative action, or failure of administrative action by the United
States of America or the State or any agency or political subdivision of either, or any by reason of any judicial
decision; in either event to such extent that in the opinion of the board of directors of the Corporation (expressed in a
resolution) and in the opinion of an independent architect, engineer or management consultant (as may be
appropriate for the particular event), both filed with the Agency and the Trustee, (i) the Loan Agreement is
impossible to perform without reasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or excessive liabilities not being
imposed on the date of the Loan Agreement are imposed on the Corporation.

The Corporation shall have the right to revoke any notice of prepayment given pursuant to the Loan
Agreement if and to the same extent that a notice of optional redemption given pursuant to the Trust Agreement
contains conditions under which the call for redemption may be revoked.

Amendment of Loan Agreement

The Loan Agreement may be amended, without the consent of or notice to any ol the Holders, to cure any
ambiguity or formal defect or omission therein or in any supplement thereto; to correct or supplement any provisions
therein which may be inconsistent with any other provisions therein or make any other provisions with respect to
matters which do not materially and adversely affect the interest of the Holders; to grant to or confer upon the Bond
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Trustee for the benefit of the Holders any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may lawfully
be granted or conferred upon the Holders or the Bond Trustee; or to add conditions, limitations and restrictions on
the Corporation to be observed thereafier.

Other than amendments referred to in the preceding paragraph, the Holders of not less than a majority in
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, to consent to and
approve the execution by the Corporation and the Agency of such supplements and amendments as shall be deemed
necessary and desirable for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular,
any of the terms or provisions contained in the Loan Agreement; provided, however, nothing in the Loan Agreement
shall permit or be construed as permitting a supplement or amendment which would:

1) extend the stated maturity of or time for paying interest on the Obligation related to the Loan
Agreement or reduce the principal amount of or the redemption premium or rate of interest payable on such
Obligation without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then Outstanding;

(ii) except as expressly permitted at the time of execution of the Loan Agreement, grant to the
registered owner of any Indebtedness (as defined in the Master Indenture) a Lien on the Mortgaged Property
superior to that of the Holders without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then Outstanding; or

(iii) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding the consent of the Holders of
which is required to authorize such supplement or amendment without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then
Outstanding.

Members, Directors, Trustees, Officers and Employees of the Agency and the Corporation Not Liable

Neither the members, officers and employees of the Agency nor the members of the board of directors or
the trustees, officers and employees of the Corporation will be personally liable for any costs, losses, damages. or
liabilities caused or subsequently incurred by the Corporation or any officer, director or agent thereof in connection
with or as a result of the Loan Agreement.

SUMMARY OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT

Various Funds and Accounts Created by the Trust Agreement

The Trust Agreement creates the following funds:

1. the Bond Fund
2. the Redemption Fund
3. the Construction Fund

Money received by the Agency from any source for the construction of any portion of the Project shall be
deposited immediately upon receipt to the credit of the Construction Fund. Payment of the cost of the Project shall
be made from the Construction Fund.

The Trust Agreement also creates separate accounts in the Bond Fund designated the “Capitalized Interest
Account,” the “Interest Account,” the “Principal Account” and the “Sinking Fund Account.”

The money in each of such funds and accounts shall be held in trust and applied as hereinafter provided
and, pending such application, shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the Holders and for the further
security of such Holders.
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Deposits to the Bond Fund

The Trustee will deposit all amounts received as Loan Repayments and Required Payments under the Loan
Agreement in the following order, subject to the credits provided in the Trust Agreement:

(i) into the Interest Account, on June 20, 2011, and on the 20th day of each June and December
thereafier, the entire amount of interest payable on the Bonds on the next ensuing Interest Payment Date;

(ii) into the Principal Account, on the 20th day of December in each year in which a Serial Bond
matures on the next succeeding January 1, the entire amount of principal maturing on such January 1; and

(iii) into the Sinking Fund Account, on the 20th day of December in each year in which there is a
Sinking Fund Requirement for Term Bonds on the next succeeding January 1, the entire amount required to retire
the Term Bonds to be called by mandatory redemption or to be paid at maturity on the next ensuing January 1 in
accordance with the Sinking Fund Requirement therefor; and

If, after giving effect to the credits specified below, any installment of Total Required Payments is
insufficient to enable the Trustee to make the deposits required above, the Trustee will notify the Corporation and
request that it increase each future installment of the Total Required Payments to make up any previous deficiency
in any of the required monthly payments and to make up any deficiency or loss in any of the above-mentioned
accounts and funds.

To the extent that investment earnings are credited to the Interest or Sinking Fund Accounts in accordance
with the Trust Agreement, or amounts are credited thereto as a result of the application of Bond proceeds or a
transfer of investment earnings on any other fund or account held by the Trustee, or otherwise, future deposits to
such accounts will be reduced by the amount so credited, and the Loan Repayments due from the Corporation in the
months following the date of the credit will be reduced by the amounts so credited.

Interest Account

Not later than 10:00 A.M., Eastern time, on the Business Day next preceding each Interest Payment Date,
or date for the payment of Defaulted Interesi, or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed, the Trustee shall
withdraw from the Interest Account and wire transfer to the Bond Registrar, in Federal Reserve or other
immediately available funds, the amounts required for paying interest on the Bonds. Upon receipt thereof, the Bond
Registrar shall remit by mail to each Owner of Bonds, or, if requested by any Holder of at least $500,000 aggregate
principal amount of Bonds, by wire transfer on the next day immediately following the applicable Interest Payment
Date to any bank designated by such Holder, the amount required to pay interest on such Bonds when due and
payable; provided, however, that if the Bonds are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, then such
remittance may be made by wire transfer on the Interest Payment Date.

In the event the balance in the Interest Account on the 20th day of the month next preceding an Interest
Payment Date or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed is insufficient for the payment of interest becoming due
on the Bonds on the next ensuing Interest Payment Date or date upon which Bonds are to be redeemed, the Trustee
shall notify the Corporation of the amount of the deficiency. Upon notification, the Corporation shall immediately
deliver to the Trustee an amount sufficient to cure the same.

Principal Account

Not later than 10:00 A .M., Eastern time, on each January 1 on which a Serial Bond is maturing, the Trustee
shall withdraw from the Principal Account and remit by wire transfer to the Bond Registrar, in Federal Reserve or
other immediately available funds, the amount required to pay the principal amount due on any Serial Bonds
maturing on such January 1. Upon receipt thereof, the Bond Registrar shall remit by mail to each Owner of Bonds,
or, if requested by any Holder of at least $500,000 aggregate principal amount of Bonds, by wire transfer on the next
day immediately following the corresponding January 1 to any bank designated by such Holder, the amount required
for pay the maturing principal of such Bonds; provided, however, that if the Bonds are registered in the name of
DTC or its nominee, then such remittance may be made by wire transfer on the corresponding January 1.
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In the event the balance in the Principal Account on the 20th day of December next preceding any January
1 on which a Serial Bond matures or is to be redeemed is insufficient for the payment of the principal of such Serial
Bond at maturity or redemption, the Trustee shall notify the Corporation of the amount of the deficiency. Upon
notification, the Corporation shall immediately deliver to the Trustee an amount sufficient to cure the same.

Sinking Fund Account

Money on deposit in the Sinking Fund Account of the Bond Fund will be applied during each Bond Year to
the retirement of Term Bonds then Outstanding as follows:

(a) The Trustee will endeavor 1o purchase and cancel Bonds or portions thereof then subject 1o
redemption by operating of the Sinking Fund Account at the most advantageous price obtainable with reasonable
diligence, such price not to exceed the Redemption Price thereof plus accrued interest. The Trustee will pay the
interest accrued on such Bonds or portions thereof to the date of settlement therefor from the Interest Account, and
the purchase price from the Sinking Fund Account but no such purchase will be made by the Trustee from money in
the Sinking Fund Account within the period of forty-five (45) days immediately preceding the next January 1 on
which such Bonds are subject to redemption. The aggregate purchase prices of the Bonds so purchased will not
exceed the amount deposited in the Sinking Fund Account on account of the Sinking Fund Requirement for such
Bonds; provided, however, that if in any Bond Year the amount held for the credit of the Sinking Fund Account plus
the principal amount of all Bonds purchesed during such Bond Year exceed the aggregate Sinking Fund
Requirements for all Bonds then Qutstanding for such Bond Year, the Trustee shall endeavor to purchase any Bonds
then Qutstanding with such excess money;

(b) The Trustee shall call for redemption on the January 1 immediately following such Bond Year
Bonds or portions thereof then subject to redemption in a principal amount equal to the aggregate Sinking Fund
Requirement for the Bonds for such Bond Year, less the principal amount of any such Bonds retired by purchase
pursuant to clause (a). If such January 1 is the stated maturity date of any such Bonds, the Trustee shall not call such
Bonds for redemption but, on such maturity date, shall withdraw from the Sinking Fund Account and remit to the
Bond Registrar the amount required for paying the principal of such Bonds when due and payable. Not later than
10:00 A.M., Eastern time, on each such redemption date, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and
the Sinking Fund Account and wire transfer to the Bond Registrar the respective amounts required for paying the
interest on and the Redemption Price of the Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption.

In the event the balance in the Sinking Fund Account is insufficient for the payment of the Redemption
Price on the Bonds on the next ensuing payment date, the Trustee shall cause the Corporation to transfer to such
account such amount as may be necessary to remedy the deficiency therein.

Redemption Fund

Money held for the credit of the Redemption Fund shall be applied to the purchase or redemption of Bonds,
as follows:

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (c) below, the Trustee shall endeavor to purchase and
cancel Bonds or portions thereof, whether or not such Bonds or portions thereof shall then be subject to redemption,
at the most advantageous price obtainable with reasonable diligence, such price not to exceed the Redemption Price
that would be payable on the next redemption date to the Holder of such Bonds if such Bonds or portions thereof
should be called for redemption on such date from the money in the Redemption Fund. The Trustee shall pay the
interest accrued on such Bonds or portions thereof to the date of settlement therefor from the Interest Account and
the purchase price from the Redemption Fund, but no such purchase shall be made by the Trustee from money in the
Redemption Fund within the period of forty-five (45) days immediately preceding any Interest Payment Date on
which such Bonds are subject to redemption;

(b) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (c) below, the Trustee shall call for redemption on each

Interest Payment Date such amount of Bonds or portions thereof as, with the redemption premium, if any, will
exhaust the money then held for the credit of the Redemption Fund as nearly as may be practicable; provided,
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however, that not less than $50,000 principal amount of Bonds shall be called for redemption at any one time. On
the redemption date the Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account and from the Redemption Fund and wire
transfer to the Bond Registrar, in Federal Reserve or other immediately available funds, the respective amounts
required for paying the interest on and the Redemption Price of the Bonds or portions thereof so called for
redemption; and

(c) Money in the Redemption Fund shall be applied by the Trustee each Fiscal Year to the purchase,
or the redemption of Bonds then Outstanding in accordance with the latest Officer’s Certificate filed by the
Corporation with the Trustee designating the Bonds to be purchased or redeemed. The Trustee shall purchase or
redeem Bonds in the inverse order of their maturities and within maturities as the Trustee may, in its discretion,
determine. For purposes of this clause (c), Bonds shall be considered to mature on January 1 in amounts equal to the
aggregate Sinking Fund Requirement therefor.

Money Held in Trust

All money that the Trustee shall have withdrawn from the Bond Fund or shall have received from any other
source and set aside or transferred to the Bond Registrar for the purpose of paying any of the Bonds hereby secured,
either at the maturity thereof or by purchase or call for redemption, shall be held in trust for the respective Holders.
Any money that is so set aside or transferred and that remains unclaimed by the Holders for a period of three (3)
years after the date on which such Bonds have become payable shall be paid to the Corporation, or to such successor
as may then be entitled by law to receive the same, and thereafter the Holders shall look only to the Corporation, or
to such successor, as the case may be, for payment and then only to the extent of the amounts so received, without
any interest thereon, and the Trustee, the Bond Registrar, the Bank and the Agency shall have no responsibility with
respect to such money.

Investment of Money

Money held for the credit of all funds and accounts, as nearly as may be practicable, will be continuously
invested and reinvested by the Trustee in Investment Obligations. Any such Investment Obligations will mature not
later than the respective dates when the money held for the credit of such funds or accounts will be required for the
purposes intended.

No Investment Obligations in any fund or account may mature beyond the latest maturity date of any
Bonds Outstanding at the time such Investment Obligations are deposited.

Investment Obligations acquired with money and credited to any fund or account established under the
Trust Agreement will be held by or under the control of the Trustee and will be deemed at all times to be part of
such fund or account in which such money was originally held. Interest accruing on such Investment Obligations
and any profit or loss realized upon the disposition or maturity of the same will be credited to or charged against the
fund or account to which the same are credited. The Trustee will sell at the best price attainabie or reduce to cash a
sufficient amount of such Investment Obligations whenever it is necessary to provide money to make any payment
or transfer of money from any such fund or account. The Trustee will not be liable or responsible for any loss
resulting from any such investment.

Valuation

For the purpose of determining the amount on deposit in any fund or account, Investment Obligations in
which money in such fund or account is invested will be valued (a) at face value if such Investment Obligations
mature within six months from the date of valuation, and (b) if such Investment Obligations mature more than six
months after the date of valuation, at the price at which such Investment Obligations are redeemable by the holder at
his option if so redeemable or, if not so redeemable, at the lesser of (i) the cost of such Investment Obligations plus
the amortization of any premium or minus the amortization of any discount thereon and (ii) the market value of such
obligations.
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The Trustee will value the Investment Obligations in the funds and accounts established under the Trust
Agreement as of the last business day of each month. In addition, the Investment Obligations will be valued by the
Trustee at any time requested by the Agency Representative on reasonable notice to the Trustee (which period of
notice may be waived or reduced by the Trustee), except that the Trustee will not be required to value the
Investment Obligations more than once in any calendar month.

Events of Defaul
Each of the following events is an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement:
(a) payment of any installment of interest on any Bonds shall not be made when due and payable; or

(b) payment of the principal or the purchase price or the redemption premium, if any, of any Bonds
shall not be made when due and payable, whether at maturity or by proceedings for redemption or pursuant to a
Sinking Fund Requirement or otherwise; or

(c) default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements
and provisions contained in the Trust Agreement or any agreement supplemental thereto and such default shall
continue for thirty (30) days or such further time as may be granted in writing by the Trustee after receipt by the
Agency, of a written notice from the Trustee specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied.

Remedies on Default

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, the Trustee may,
and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding must, by notice in writing to the Agency and the Corporation, declare the principal of all Bonds then
Outstanding to be due and payable. Such declaration may be rescinded under circumstances specified in the Trust
Agreement.

Upon the happening and continuance of any Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, then and in every
such case the Trustee may proceed and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate
principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the
Holders under the laws of the State or under this Trust Agreement by such suits, actions or special proceedings in
equity or at law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer having jurisdiction, either for the specific
performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein or in aid or execution of any power herein granted or
for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel chosen by the
Trustee, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce such rights.

No Holder may institute any suit, action or proceeding on any Bond for any remedy under the Trust
Agreement unless such Holder previously has given to the Trustee written notice of the Event of Default under the
Trust Agreement on account of which suit, action or proceeding is to be instituted, and unless such Holder has made
a written request of the Trustee to act and furnished indemnity as required in the Trust Agreement and afforded the
Trustee a reasonable opportunity to act and the Trustee has refused or neglected to comply with such request; except
that the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding may institute any
such suit, action or proceeding in their own names for the benefit of all Holders. Except as otherwise provided in
the Trust Agreement, no Holder will have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the
security of the Trust Agreement or to enforce any right thereunder except in the manner provided in the Trust
Agreement, and any individual rights given to such Holders by law are restricted by the Trust Agreement to the
rights and remedies therein granted.

Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, no provisions of the Trust Agreement shall affect or
impair the right of any Holder to enforce the payment of principal of and interest on his Bond or the obligation of
the Agency to pay the principal of and interest on each Bond to the Holder thereof at the time and place in said Bond
expressed.
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Notice to Bondholders

Except as described below, notice of any Event of Default will be mailed to all Holders at their addresses as
they appear on the registration books within 30 days after the Trustee receives notice of the same. The Trustee shall
not be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of its failure to mail any such notice.

Except upon the happening of an Event of Default with respect to, among other things, the payment of the
principal of and interest on or redemption premium on bonds when due, the Trustee may withhold notice of any
Event of Default to Holders if in its opinion such withdrawal is in the interest of the Holders. The Trustee shall not
be subject to any liability to any Holder by reason of its failure to mail any such notice.

Payment of Trustee’s and Bond Registrar’s Fees
If the Agency fails to cause required payments to be made to the Trustee or the Bond Registrar for
compensation and expenses, the Trustee or the Bond Registrar may make such payment from any monies in its

possession and will be entitled to a preference therefor over any Bonds Outstanding.

Modification of the Trust Agreement

The Agency and the Trustee may, from time to time, execute such supplemental trust agreements as shall
be consistent with the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement and, in the opinion of
the Trustee, who may rely upon a written opinion of counsel, shall not affect adversely or prejudice the interest of
the Holders to cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission, to modify, alter, amend, add to or rescind in any
particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in the Trust Agreement, to grant to or confer upon the Trustee
for the benefit of the Holders of Bonds any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may
lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Holders or the Trustee, to add to the conditions, limitations and
restrictions on the issuance of Bonds under the provisions of the Trust Agreement or other conditions, limitations
and restrictions thereafter to be observed, to add to the covenants and agreements of the Agency contained in the
Trust Agreement, to surrender any right or power reserved to or conferred upon the Agency, to comply with any
federal or state securities law, to provide for the issuance of Bonds in bearer form, or to provide for the issuance of
Bonds under a book-entry system.

The Trust Agreement may be amended in any particular with the consent of the Holders of more than fifty
percent (50%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, provided, that nothing contained in the Trust
Agreement will permit (2) an extension of the maturity of principal of or interest on any Bonds, (b) a reduction in
the principal amount of or the redemption premium or the rate of interest on any Bonds, (c) the creation of a pledge
of receipts and revenues to be received by the Agency other than the pledge created by the Trust Agreement, (d) a
preference or priority of any Bonds over any other Bonds, or (e) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of
Bonds required for consent to such supplemental trust agreement.

Defeasance

‘When, among other things, the principal, premium, if any, and interest due upon all of the Bonds is paid or
sufficient money or Defeasance Obligations are held by the Trustee for such purpose under the conditions specified
in the Trust Agreement, then the right, title and interest of the Trustee in the funds and accounts created in the Trust
Agreement will cease and the Trustee will release the Trust Agreement.

No Recourse Against Members, Officers or Employees of the Agency

No recourse under, or upon, any statement, obligation, covenant, or agreement contained in the Trust
Agreement; or in any Bond secured thereby; or in the Loan Agreement; or in any document or certification
whatsoever; or under any judgment obtained against the Agency or by the enforcement of any assessment or by any
legal or equitable proceeding by virtue of any constitution or statute or otherwise or under any circumstances, shall
be had against any member, officer or employee, as such, of the Agency, either directly or through the Agency,
respectively, or otherwise, for the payment for or to, the Agency or any receiver of cither of them, or for, or to, any
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Holder or otherwise, of any sum that may be due and unpaid upon any such Bond. Any and all personal liability of
every nature, whether at common law or in equity or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such member,
officer or employee, as such, to respond by reason of any act or omission on his or her part or otherwise, for the
payment for, or to, the Agency or any receiver of either thereof, or for, or to, any Holder or otherwise, of any sum
that may remain due and unpaid upon the Bonds hereby secured or any of them, is expressly waived and released in
the Trust Agreement as an express condition of, and in consideration for, the execution of the Trust Agreement and

the issuance of the Bonds.
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“Masier Trusiee™),
WITNESSEIH
'WHEREAS, tbe Carparation is suthorized and deemns il necessary and desirable to enter
into this Master Trust Indenture for the purpose of providing €or the issuance from time o time
byManbaIuﬁheObhgndOtmp(udeﬁnedm)uthhmm(ndaﬁndm)m
finance or refi of its ach ! facilities or

mbuﬁulha.wﬁrnhluwﬁﬂmdmnmunﬂhsﬂrmmﬂmymm
of the Obhgated Group, and

'WHEREAS, mmlu!lhul to constitute this Master Trust Indenture & valid
ding to its terms have been done and performed, the Corparstion
mmmmowwammunuynrmmurmmmw
Corporation, in the exercise of ths legal rights and powers vested in i, exacutes this Mestor Trust
Indestitre mnd proposes to maks, sxacute, izsue and defiver Obligations hereunder; and

‘WHEREAS, the Master Trustee agrees to accept and administer the trusts cremted hareby,

'NOW, THEREFORE, in idernth siscs, of the accep bry the Masier
demmhuwyuud.uddthmamwmmd
Obli issued b by the regis mﬂ:ﬂwf,mdﬁﬂhewpoudﬁmmd
declaring the tesms and conditions upon which Obligations are to be issued, authenticated,
delivered and sccepted by all persons who shall from tims to time be or become registared
mhﬂh%monmﬂwmmmTMfmlhqwmd
prop benefit of the d owners from time to time of Obligationa tssued
tereunder, as fallows:

S B

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS
CONCERNING INTERPRETATION

Section 1.01. Definfiions. Por the purposes hereof, unless the comext otherwise indicates,
the following words and phrasas shall have the following meamings:

“Accountan”™ means ¢ firm of independert cartified public accountants that is s member
of the American Institute of Cenified Public Accruntaes.

“Accounts™ means any right to paymeni for goods sold or teased or for sarvices rendered
which is not evidenced by an ingirureent or chatiol paper, whether o7 not it has been parned by
performence.




= Affiliste™ means a corporation, limited lisbility company, partoership, joint venture,
mmmmwnmllumywpmduwmmothmadmﬁ
Awnumymnhmfwhchuﬁm:ﬂyummvﬂdbymymdm
Obligated Gmnp,bymyoﬂ'-AﬂihmabymyhmMMumdmdymdx
aay Member of the Obligated Group or which directly or indirectly controls anry othes Affiliate,
For purposes of this definition, contro} menns the power to direct the masagement and policies of
lemmmﬂpdmthmdmmmmmﬂwm
designate or soct pot deas tham a amjority of the members of its board of directnm or other
govorning board of body by coutract or otharwize.

“Agency” means the Vermont umd Health Buildi ing Agency,
body and paolitic 2 public b dmsw.wfmedny
saccessar thereto.

“Agency Lown A dloctively, the Loan A each daiod ss of
May 1, 2003, w»ﬂmmwmmw

“Audited Financial 84 ™ means the d Aosacial ofthe
mmmonm.mmmotmhmmm&whammhm
performed, prepared in d which bave

beenmdnedwmpondupoubymdepu\dunmﬁedpﬂmw Audnedfmleld
Statements shall also include, in gn i section, i
financial satemems for the same twelve-onth period from which the scoounts of any affiliste

“Code” means the Interual Revenve Code of 1986, »s amended, and all regulstions
promulgated thereunder

“Consultant” means a firm or firms which is not, and no member, stockhnlder, divector,
officer, trustee or employes of which is, en officer, dumm,mmcrmby—dnyuunhr
of the Obligated Group ov any Affiliste, mnd which is a profe of
national repute for having the skill and experience necessary to render the particular report
required by the provision bereof in which such requirement appesss.

“Corporate Chartas” means, with respect 10 any corporation, the articles of incorporation,
certificate of incorporation, wmemnaarmmmmmmmmmmhw
corporstion is organized and existing undes the laws of the United States of Arserica or any siaia
thereaf.

“Corporate Trux Office™ means ke office of the Masier Trustee of which its principa)
cofporute trst business is conducted, which at the date hereof is located in Burlington, Vermont

“Corporstion”™ means Vermont Law School, Inc., an eligible institution umder Chapter
131, Sections 3851 to 3862, inchusive, of Tale 16, Vormont Stahutes Annotsied, s amended, and

2

"N unane

.memmmmwmmmmumnfMSmgndmm
and assigns and any surviving, resulting or trensfereo corporation thereaf”

"t Obligations” 0 Uahle G Obligations, (ii) ovid
of gemership of & proportionate imterest in specificd llabic Gr Obligations, which
Government Obligations are held by & bank or trust company arganized and existing under the

lnw-uthnnadmdm«mymthuwfmdwqpﬂyofnmodm(m)

Defeased Municipal Cbli and (iv) evid: of p ofn interest in
npedﬂndDdhdM\mu:p:lObllpuongwhichDMMmupuOhllpuonsuehddbyl
bank or trust cormpany organized and existing wnder the laws of the United States of America or
any state thereof in the expacity of custodisn,

“Defeased Municipal Obligations™ meams obli of mats or local government
mmapdmlmmwhxchmmmhnmmdhdiwpktwmm«m
which irevocable instructions have been given by the obligor to pey such cbligations on the dute
fized by redemption and which arc rated, based oo an i escrow sccount or fund, in the
mmmwm-rmwwnduuy-,umuymwy:
respectively, provision for the payment of the principal of, jum, if any, and
manwhnch-hllhswbemmdebydepmmumﬁmdumwﬂhnmz
cacrow agent of Defeasance Obligations or cash, which escrow fund or scoount shall be spplied
only 1o the pymant of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and imorest on such
abhpnomofmwloml;mmmmnpdhuﬂmwmmqumﬁll
be mifficient, as verified by & nati dert cenified public accountant, to
pay the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest en such obligations of sate or
local government municipal bond issucers. An obligation oeed 2ot bo rated by both S&P and
Moody’s to qualify as a Defeused Munivipal Obligation bot must be rated by either S&P o
Moody's to 30 qualify.

wDefansed Obli

™ means Obligations issued under ¢ Supplement that kave been
d, or provision for the disch ofwh)chh:bemmde.puumubunmmin\e
lamnf-nhSupyluncm

*Event of Defsull™ means anry one or more of those svents set forth in Section 4 01
bereof.

“Facilities™ means the Project and ay other educations! Aciliticy hareafior ownod by
any Member of the Obligated Group and operated by or oa behalf of any Member of the
Obligated Group.

“Financial S " means the dired combining financisl of the
Obligated Group Inctudsd, in an additions! information seion, i the Audited Finapcial
Stavemants of the Corporstion and covering the exme twelve-month period us the Audited
Financial Statementa, from which the sccounts of any affiliste which is pot 8 Momber of the
Obligaied Group have been etiminsted and 10 which the accounts of any Member of the
Obligated Group which is 0ot an affilists have been added;, provided, however, that for purpoacs
of adding the accounts of s Member of the Obligsted Group which is not an sffiliate, the

balances of sach shall be d from sudited financial
of the Obligated Group and its affiliates, il any.

“Fiscal Year™ roeans the fiscal year of each Member of the Obligated Group, which shall
be the period cammencing on the first day of July of any yesr and ending on tho kut day of June
of the pext nucceeding year unless the Master Trustee is notified in writing by the Corporation of
s change in such period, in which case the Fiscal Year simi] ba the period set farth in sach notice,
provided, however, that esch Member of the Obligatad Group shall have the same Fiscal Y ear

“Fiteh™ means Fitch Ratings, s corporatian organized and existing wsder the laws of the
State of Delaware, its successors and their assigns, and if such corporation shall be dissolved or
liquidated or shall oo longer perform the functions of e securities rating agency, “Fitch” ahall be
decmed to refar to any othsy petiocally recognized scauritie rating agancy designaiod by the
Ageacy, with the spproval of the Corparatiom, by votice to the Master Tnutea,

“Governing Body™ means, when used with respect 1o any Member of the Obligated
Group, its board of directors, board of trustees, or other board or group of individuals in which
the powerns of such Member of the Obligated Group are vested.

“Government Obli; ™ means direct obligstioss of, or obligations the timely payment
of principa) and interest an which are fully and pnconditionslty guarastecd by, the United States
of Amesica.

of gch Member

“Gross Reveoues™ nyesns all revemuss, income, receipts and money (otber than proceeds
of borrowing) received (n any period by or o behalf of any Member of the Obligated Group,
inchuding, but mhmmsm genenlny of the fomgoms. (I) miﬁnalnd other revemues
derived from ita operations, (b) gifts, grants, b ions and the

incomne therefrom, of any gifis, grants, b dh ' and ibutians to the
mauxpecnﬁculyruhmdbythdowmnnmlumotawwﬂhlhvmh
the payment of Obligations, (¢) procoeds dorived from (j) insurance, except to tho extent roquired
or permitied by this Indenture to bo applied i & manner mconsistent with their uso 23 Gross
Revenues, {[i) Accounts, (iii) securities and uuwrmmnuu. ) mvuurynndmhumgiblz
and intangible p'ropwfy and (v) ] gonerdl i contrac rights, chattel
paper, instruments and other n@tsmdumwwuhmﬁawd.hcldwwbymy
Member of the Obligated Group, and (d) rentals reczived from the leasing of real ar tangible
personal property.

“Guarsaty” means any obligation of any Member of the Obligated Group gusrsntecing in
any manner, directly ar indirecily, any obligation of any Person that is no1 & Member of the
Obligated Group which obligation of such other Parwn woulsL ummmm
obligation of 8 Member of the Obligated Group,

“Hokder™ means an owner of any Obligation issued in other {han boarer form.

“Indebtedness™ means (i) all indebtodness of Membery of the Obligated Group for
bormowed moncy, (ii) all installment sales, canditional sales snd capital lease obligations incurred
or sasumed by nay Member of the Obligated Group, rad (iii) all Guaranties (other than any
Guaranty by any Member of the Obligxied Group of Indebiedness of any ather Member af the

4
NTi TS

Obligaied Gronp). Indebtedness shall pot include normal trade credit inaured oo tenm and
conditions accepied io the industry of the supplier or the Member of the Obligatod Group
Indobtedness shall aot include obligations of any Member of the Otdigated Group 10 another
Memnber of the Obligated Group.

“Innrence Consuhant™ means 4 firm or Person selected by the Corporation (which may
be an insurance broker ar agent to the Corporation) which i not, and no member,
direczor, trustes, officer or employee of which is, un officer, director, Immoremplnyeenflny
Mmbudmmhwdﬂrwpanmlmqﬁnquwlﬁdmmwmksu\dm
wge for engaged in such operstions

“Lien” means anry martgage, deed of trust or pledge of, security interest is or
Mwmhupmyofmw-dh%hm&wwhmhmmy

doegs or any othor of of any Member of the Obligzied Group or which secures
amy obligation of gy Parson, other than an obligation to any Member of the Obligated Group

“Magier Indenture” or “Indenture™ means this Master Trust Indanture, duted ae of May |},
2003, inchuding any emend or puppl bereto,

“Maxter Trustes” mesna Chittenden Trust Company, Burlington, Vermont, und its
succeasnys in the trusts ereated under this Indenture

“Member of the Obligsted Group™ maan, iniually, the Corporation and, theroafier, xny
other Persan which shall join the Obligated Group pursssnt to Section 3 11 hereof and act
including any Parsom which shall have withdrawn from the Obligated Group purmmnt to Section
3.12 hereof

“Moody's” means Moody's 1 Service, a i izad and usting under
the laws of the State of Delxware, its successovs and their mmnﬂnfww:wl
be dizxsotved or liquidated or thall nn longsr perform the fumctions of s securities rating sgency,
*“Moody'r” stall be desmed 1o refer to any other nationally recognizod securitiss rating agency
designated by the Agency, with the approval of the Corportion, by notice to the Master Trusiee

WmlﬂuMmWMdﬂuduofMayl 200) cxocuted by the
Corporution as security for the of the Ob ing amy to mid
morigage as permitted thersin.

“Meortgaged Property” mesns the real property described in the Mortgage, together with
all real property acquired as an addition 10, in replacement of, of in substitution for, all or sy
mofmevdmdmﬁdmmwglm-nhrdmnmbuﬁmed
from the Mortgags pursusut to the tarms theveol

“Obligated Group” means, collectively, the Membery of the Obligated Group.

*Qbligated Group Represcntative” means cach of U Poraon(s) at the time desigrated w0
a2 on behalf of the Obligatsd Group in a written oevtificate furmithed to the Master Trustee,
'which certificaie shall contain the specimen signature(s) of such Parson(s) and shal) be signed an
behalf of the Obligated Group by the Presidem or the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation.

s
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Each centificate of an Obligated Group Represestative presented pursuant to this
wmmmn-mﬁmmw(ﬂmwmmmm

o of), mod shall i by and ups in all appropriste instances all torma
defined in, this Indenture. Exch osttificate of an Obligated Group Representative simll sate ()
whether the terms thereof are in conpliance with the requirements of the section or subsection
purmant (o which such certificate i delivered or shall stxte in reasonable detail the nature of my
non—wmphmeemdlhemhn.uhnwmdymmwmnd(ﬁ)mnkhm
delivered together with mnry oph k required in
comnection therewith.

“Obligation™ means the evidence of pardcnlar Indebtednoss isped under this Indenture.
“Officer’s Cextificate”™ means & certificate signed by the chairman of the

Goveming
Body, or the presidant of chisf executive officer, of the chief financial offiver, or the chainman of
b finance commitien of the Govaming Body of such Member of the Obligated Group as the
requires

context

Each Office’s Cotificate mmwmnwm‘mnmunum
Mvmmb(nﬂﬂlmmfylh:mw sbezction of), and thall i by

and use in all spprop mmumnmmmomw'.
mmmmmwmmummhwmmummum
soction or subssction pursuant to which sach Officer’s Centificate is delivered o shall s in
reasonable detail the neture of any non-compliance and the steps being taken to remedy such
mﬁmmﬂ(ﬁ)hnhmwm'hhmupmnm

or other & requirsd in

“Opinion of Boad Cowmne!” means an opinion in writing signed by an attomey or firm of
lwwmmmmnundwhtheﬁddarmmmﬂbmm
whase opinions wre pal bonds

'Opinhnnfw“uwﬁonhmimiwhyummmyuﬂmof
stiomeys, sconpisbie to the Maxter Trustee, who may be courmel for wy Member of the
Obligatad Group or ather counsel acceptable to the Master Trusten,

wmummwwm-ofmyma
d or incurred and oot paid and discharged other
mmwmmmubymumTMquhm
Tmhmhm(u)mbmdmdwdndmbmw usder the
ich mach 1 wmmut(m) Dc!'wed Obhpmmmd(nv)

mhpllolulnllmof'ﬁ:hm(“ ions have been

been paid p 10 the provis of the Supph di d i Innnr
wolen Obligations unlets proof sxtisfy mtbeMuuTmuhb-mmwvadthnmyM
Dbhgwonuh!dbylhulﬂdl h s P ided, b , that for p of d
M\e(hulhel-lou:i the requisite princh mnoff‘“ ioas have in any

person direcily or indirectly controlling or comiroiled by or wmder direct ar indirect cogmmon

1 OIS

control with such Member shall be deemed oot 10 be Outstanding, provided further, however,

that for the purposes of detarmining whather the Master Trumes shall be protected in relying on

any mch dirsction, consent or waiver, only mch Obligations or Relxted Bonds which the Master

Trusiee has actial notice or knowledge are 80 owned ahall be deemed to be not Outstanding.
“Permitted Licas” shall bavo the meaning gives in Section 3.05 hereof.

“Peraon” includes an individual, iath ] i
timited lishility company, pmshp,;mvmhummaamumumw
or & pofitical subdivision thereof, or any other entity.

“Plodged Asscts™ means oll Gron of the Membera of the Obligated Group,
now owned or hereafier sequired, and all proceeds thareof.

“Project™ means Lhe Project as defined in the Agency Lown Agreament

“Propesty” means any and all rights, titles and interesis in sod to sty and ull property
whether real or persomal, tangible or intangible and wherever situated

'P'opmy.l’hmndﬂmlwm mmmwmmdmo&w

Group which is propetty, plant end equipment under lly accepted princip
“Rating Agencies” mesns Fitch, Moody's and S&P.
“Reluted Bond | " mesm any ind trust agreement, hond i00 of other

mmmmmmm.mamm.sm For all purposes of
this Indevture, thoss cestain Trust Agreaments, each dated ae of May 1, 2003, by and betwoen
mmcmmrmc«mm 23 bood trustee, shall each be deemed to be a

“Related Bond Issuar™ meam the ismer of any issuc of Reluted Boods.

WBM’MMWMMGM&WMWWM
tailory af possession of the United Sttes or any municip cal
ﬁn-medund«thehwﬂh.wfwmywmmmdmﬂumyutgcmynrmmmmdﬁyofmuf
the foregoing empowered to izsue obligations on behalf thereof (“govemmental issuer'™),
pursusnt to a single Related Bond Indemture, the proceeds of which are lomned or otherwise made
Ivdhbluo()lMembanhheObhgnedGmpmmdnmoflhm
authamtication and delivery of an Obligation to or for the arder of such goveramental ismuer,
(n)myhmuhlhn.)ﬁnhnﬂheobhwﬂmupmwuﬁhmmoﬂhﬂmm

such goversmental issoer (A) by msch Person of any indebtedness or other obligation of such
Parson aad (B) by a Member of the Obligated Group of s Guaranty i respect of such
indebtedoess or otber obligation, which y is d by an Obliguti

“Related Bond Trustes” means the trustee and its successor io the trusts cranted undey
any Reisted Bond Indenture.

“S&P” meany Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, » division of The MoGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc., its successors and thexr assigns, and, if S&P ghall be dissolved or liquidated or
shall 0o loager perform the fnctians of a securities rating agency, “S&P shall be deemed to
refer to any other mmiionally recognized sexurities raling agency designated by the Agency, with
the epproval of the Corporation, by aotioe to the Master Trustee and the Carporation.

“Siate" means the Slate of Yarmont.

means an PP to, and ized and d parsuan
to the terms of, this Indeature.

“Tax-Bremp Organization” means a Person organized under the laws of the United
Setes of Amezica or any sare thereof which is sn organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of
the Code and exempt fiam foderal incoms taxes uader Section 501(a) of the Cods, or
corresponding provisions of federal income tax laws from time 10 time in effect.

“Transfer” moans any 82 o7 coaunTence the resutt of which is to disposseas any Person of
mny Ksset o interest therein, inchuding speci fically, but without limitation, the forgivertss of any
debt or the loase of any much ssset.

Section 1.02. Imiortatico.

(s)  Any reference berein to any officer or member of the Goveming Body of »
Member of the Ohligated Group shull include thase succeeding t their functions, chtiea or
my‘hlmapnmmabyopu:ﬁmoﬂswuvbnhwﬁaﬂymm

(®)  Unleas the context otherwise i words importing the singular shall include
mMndmmndthemoflhemamdmor&mmnegcndauh
convenience only and shall be deemed to mean and inchude the neuter, masculing or feminine
gender.

© Whnhn:hnmuwmnfmymwmywmoﬁmuw
is required to be d: ined ar sy o other
ummdmhndehthwmnhmfwdmymmm certificate

ed and deli wuhup\mmwmuhdmdnmnhnbedue

d = 11
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(d)  Hoadings of wiicles and sections herein and in the table of contents hervol are
solely for convenience of refirence, do rot comstitute 8 part herenf and shall not sffect the
‘mearing, construction or effect heroof

()  Provisions calling for the redemption of Obligations or the cling of Obligations
for redemption do not mean or inchude the peyment of Obligstions at their atated maturity or
maturities.

()  Provisions calling for or referring to the delivery by each Member of the
Obligated Group of financial statements for any givem period shall be deamed satisfied if the

T 3190w

or i fmancial for such poriod, prepared in sccordance with
l d ing principles, of such catities are 60 delivered

ARTICLE O

INDEBTEDNESS, AUTHORIZATION, ISSUANCE
ANDR TERMS OF OBLIGATIONS

Section 2.01. Amm&[lndm.l MWO’MW@‘*‘PM!W

Indsbtedoess by issuing ek 42 of by der any oth
mmmwmummmmmmwm
ipal xmount of that may be crested heramder are

nmlmﬂd.muhmhdbyhprwmnmmfmmmloshwlunfny
&wmmworhmwmmmmc«wmmh
mmrlnddn‘heq wnnmmoﬂheCorpotmwhchu—iMlbu
d by & resohuti cﬁhf‘ : ning Body filed with the Masier Trusice
mumauwwm-mtymmmumhamm

Section 2.02. Desigastion of Obligations. Obhpmdnllh-dmmhmu
may from time to time bo crested by Suppl Each Oblj or
Wd%lnmﬂlhww-mswmdﬂhWMMI
mynner © will differsatiste such Obligation from any other Obligstion

Section 2.03. Execution and Authentication of Obligations. Each Obligation shall be
exeouted for and on behalf of v issumy thereof, by the chairman of #ts Governing Body, ita
wwdunu'mdwﬂ'mnl!niﬁu Thwnfanhnmwmyhmhmmllyu

d on the Obdi If any officer whose signsturs appers on any

Mnﬂdmh-ﬂmuf-ﬁoﬁc«hdmmﬂmnﬁamﬂmw Each
Obti shall be byan officer of the Master Trustee,
mmm»mummmmummmuw

The Master Trusteo's authentication certificate shall be subatantislly in the following

MASTER TRUSTEE'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE

mwmwmwnmﬁummoumm i1 ooe of
the Obli deseribod in the withi
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Authorized Signatory

Section 2.04. Suppicment Croating Iodelxedooss. Any Member of e Obligated Group
NhMﬂuTnmmy&mmbmmmu!uw{nﬂﬁmmbm
Such Suppl shali, with respect (o sn Obligation evidescing
Indsbtednoss crested thoreby, set forth the date thercof, end the dte or dates on which the
principal of aad premium, if £ny, end interest oo such Obligation shall be payable, and the form
of such Obligation and such other terms and provisions w xhall comftwrm with the provisions
bareof,

debiodnots croated hevawder, simul ,mmotwmrmtbc
defivery of Obligatk idencing such P to this

() Al requirements and coaditions to the imuance of much Obligations, if any, set
forth in the Supplement or in this Indenture shall have been complied with and satisfied, e1
provided in an Officer"s Carificats, a centified copy of which shall be dellvered to the Master
Trastes;

) mwd‘mobhpuonsshllhnwwmlbmfmm
Ommono{(:o\mdlnﬂneﬂhadm(l) of mch Ot under tha Adt
of 1933, as amended, and @nhﬁﬁmnofmwwhSwplmmmbM
MmunAnofw:w 23 mmended, 18 not required, or, if such registration or qualification is
required, that all applicable registration snd qualification provisiom of said acts heve been
complied with, and (2) the Master ladewture soe! the Obligations are valid, binding e

of the of the Obliga Gro\lplll with their torma,
wuuﬁvﬂhymhhmﬂby‘ frandul Y and
other laws mdnnnleqwzyprinapm and

()  Each Obligation shall be 8 joini xad sevenal genaral obligation of each Member of
the Obligsted Group. Bach Member of the Obligsted Group sball bave delivered to the Master
Trustes en Officer's Centificate stting that, 10 the besz of the knowledge of the signer thereaf,
mdhmmhmhlmwudmemmmmWh
umhm Irylﬂf‘" o directly or with the aseots of,
orin ting by it in any way mvolving, sy
uwbyubudhphnwhhmpumwhch()uyemphyeed‘nyMemoﬂbww
Group or the Master Trustes, ia its tndividual capacity, \up-uﬂpuucr(i:)mymdlhz
MMwhanmmmnﬂmﬁnlapuny ornyohhraﬂ\lam
olbarwise & party in interest, all within the of the Emp}

Act of 1974, &2 amended.
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{2)  Bach Obligation issued pursuant to this Indemure shall be 2 joim and several
genenal obligation of each Member of the Obligated Group.

To maaumre the prompt payment aof the priscipal of, jum, il any, and the
MMMOBllgmmuﬂﬁembymtmdmeObhmwﬁwpofﬂi
other dey, the Corporati d and d d to the Master Trustoe
the Montgage.

To fimther socure the prompt pryment of the principal of, redesspiion premium, if sny,
nnd the inlerest on the Obligations axd the by.d!Mombﬂ'oﬂbeObllgaederp
of it other obligations herounder, each Member of the Obligated Group hereby plodges, assigna
rd grants to the Master Trustee & sccurity imerest in ita Pledged Amets. Prior to its receipt of &
request from the Master Trasiee pursuaat 1o Section 3.01(c) hereof, any Member of the
Obligated Group may ransfex all or any part of its Plodged Assets, freo of mich socurity interest.
In the event of such tressfer of Pledged Assets, upon the request of 3 Member of the Obligated
Group, the Master Trustes shall exoete a release of ity security interest with respect to tho esscts
0 trauferred. Upon the request of any Member of the Obligated Group, the Mastor Trustes will
provide to such Member of the Obligated Group a written certification as to whither there is

currently ounstanding a request from the Master Trustee purseant to Section 3.01(c) hereof

Mhmwhmbypncrmhddwyofﬁe(blmm Ihnnnd-r there
shall be delivered to the Master Trustee & duly encing the
mmymdthmnafmmwl'ledsedMummelbmvequuedbymudrum
Commercial Code with cogics sufficien in mumber for filmg i the office of the Secrelary of
State in Moatpelier, Yormonl.

MMﬂmﬁdeGmupMﬂwmmdﬁmeMTmu
from time to time soch 23 may be or
wmhmlﬁenmnyhuwnduh?ledgadmhmwmdh
Ww&wmhumﬂmwfh-ﬂ’ i
toor of existing Mhﬂ,m!he()pwuonofmwbe
mybmplywﬂhqphnbhlwuumudﬁnmnhgummmhgmd&wp
mcludmg,mhunhmhuommmhmbeeomuglebnroﬂhoObhpmdﬁmwu
{H)} any Member of the Dbligeted Group ceasing to be a Member of the Obligsted Group. In
mthndMembuofﬂnDblmed&wpliwﬂanm(W)ﬁp
prior to the expiration of any fi preparc and file such continmation tatemonts
of cxisting financing stateroents gs shall, in the Opinion of Counisel, bo necessary to tontimue the
security interest created herounder purnant to applicable law and shall provids to the Master
Trustee written notice of such filing accompanizd by an Opinion of Counse) that much
coniimuation statements have beeo filed and reconded and sre in full force snd effect UWthe
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Master Trustee shall pot kave received such notice of lsast gty (60) days prior to the expiration
date of mry such fimancing sistement, the Master Trustew shal) prepase and file or canse each
Member of the Obligated Group to prepare and file such continuation sistements in 8 timety
manner 10 axsure that the securily imerest in Pledged Assets ahall remmin perfected.

()  Each Obligation shall be » joint snd severs genoral obligation of each Member of
the Obligated Group. Each Member of the Obligated Group covenants to promptly pay or cause
1o be paid the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each Obligation issued pursuant to
mumnmmmuthmemhmwumm
Obligation according Lo the termus therenf whether st maturity, upon proceedings for redamption,
by scceleration or otherwise,

(c) Each Msmber of the Obligaird Group covemsnts that, if an Event of Defiult ghall
have ooanred snd be contimuing, it will, upon request of the Master Trustee, deliver or direct to
be delivered to the Mastzr Trastee afl Gross Revermes urai] such Event of Defimk has been
mm&umwuw&dnmm&wm4mm

XiBlenc
meormmmampwm

()  Except as otherwise expressiy provided herein, to preserve its corporate or otber
legal cxistence and al) its rights and licenses to tho oxtent necossary or desintble in the operation
of its business and affairs and be qualified to do business in cach jurisdiction where its ownership
of Property or the conduct of jty business requires such quatifications; provided, bowever, that
nothing herein contained shall be constrund to obligate it o retin or presarve any of its rights ar
licenaes, no langer bsed or, in the judgment of its Governing Body, useflsl in the conduct of ity
business,

®©) Mdlumhm-mhvyﬂlymhmmd.p—vd-dmmmd
repair, working arder aod camdition and all neoded and propar repairs, renowals snd
roplacements therzof to be made;, provided, however, thet nothing contained in tis subscction
Mhmmonmemkmmmopnemypomonofhm fin ke
judgment (evidenced, in the case of mach a cessation other than in the ordinary course of business
by Bn opinion or centificais of a Consultant) it is advisable not to operate the same, or if it intends
10 sell or otherwise dispose of the mme and within a reasonzble time endeavors to effect such
sale or other dirposition, or (i) obligate it to retain, praserve, repair, renew or replace zmy
Property, leases, righta, privileges or licenses no Joager used or, in the judgment of #ts Governing
Body, useful in the conduct of its business

(©  To do all things reasombly necessary 1 conduct ity affsirs and cary on i
business and operations in such manner as 0 comply with any and ofl spplicsble lsws of the
United States and the acveral states thereof end duly abserve and conform to afl valid orders,

lations of requi of any go | authority relative (o the conduct of its business
and the ip of its Propesty; provi heless, that nothing hevein oontaired ahall
mumnmmplywmb-v-dwnfommnymhwwdu'npdmormqumm(
of any governmental anthority so long as the validity thareof or the npplicability thersof to it
shall be contenied in good faith

Wo unmw

(d)  To pay promptly all lawful taxes, gor I charges and at any
time levied or asseszed upon or againat it or its Propeny; provided, bowcvu'ﬂmiuhllhnﬂu
fight to contest in good faith any such taxea, charges or Axsesments o the collection of soy auch
sums and pending mich contesi may delay or defer payment thereof.

(¢)  Topay promply ar ise satisfy and discharge all of i Indobicdness and all
Mludclummmnu-d‘mhmmhndpmkmhmy
therenf {(exclutivo of the Indeb created and Ox ing h ) whose validity,

mmwdhﬂmlkyubungmdhwm

{0 Atall times o comply with all terms, covenants snd provisions of any Licns st
such time existing upon ita Property or any part thereof ar ssaring any of its

(@)  To procure and maintain sl necessary licenses and permits and maintain

ofits ional facilities; provid hvwwathalnnndmlmmplywnmhl
Section 1.02(g) with rexpeet to the md of of its ech facilities if and
10 the extent that its Governing Body thall kave imed in good fith, d by s

resalution of the Governing Body, thal much complisncs is not m its best interests and that lack of
such compliance would not materially impair its ability to pay its Indobtedness when due

()  Solong as this Indennure thall remain in force snd effect, each Member of the
Obligated Group which is # Tax-Exsmpt Organization al the time it b s Mamber of the
Obligated Group agrees that, so kang a3 all amousts dus or to become duc on sy Relsted Bond
lwve not beem fully paid to the holder thereof, it will not take any scion or suffer any ection to
be taken by others, including anry action which would result in the siteration or loss of its mews
as 8 Tax-Exempt Organization, which, or fail to take any sction which failurs, in the Opinion of
Bond Counsel, would result in the interest on any Refsted Bond becoming inchuded in the gross
income of the holder thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Section 3.03. Jpsurgncy Bach Member of the Cbligated Group agrees that it will
muumhwﬂmhmmafmm(mludmgmwm
o be ad by the jtant, other than a eelf-
mmmmmmnngqmnnyumdtybnwu?mpmy)mmhmu.hm
Wgndmmmmnudmhmnﬂopemm ()oomprehennvemd
public liability ng blanket I hizbility and
including owned and hired mmmhda(mludmgedmmdwdm\nwwwm
thereon), (i) fire, lightni hail, explasion, tiot, fiot ding 8 strike, civil
mmnnmdamce&omumﬂ.mnhndwfumnmdudwmdvmddummd
and business up covering such periods, (iii)

wd‘mml lubllnymsmnlx. (iv) workers’ comp o T and (v) boiler

The Corporation shall employ an L Consultant to review the insuranco
lqmuumaof\hethbmoftheObhsmdCu'm&mumwume(hunmluﬂqm'y
thmn bi ). Kthe for the increase of &y

mth%llybd&umdﬂﬂwwmhhmdnchmm
with puch llb)oﬂblgnodﬁnhﬂlmcﬂhe
mwhnlewmpm.nlnmnbnmam

Body of he Carporation thet much
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of the Obligated Group. If the L hant makes dations for the d or
ﬁnﬂmdmmhobwmmdmmdlmﬁmm
with such i subject o a good €aith determination of the Governing
Body of the that such recommendations, in whole of in part, arc in the best interests
of the Obligxted Group. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the conirury, mach Member
of the Obligated Group shall have the right, without giving rise to sn Event of Defiilt solely on
mmmemmmmemwu
if the Obligated Group fisrnishes 1o the Master Trastoe 8 roport of the
thmthlhﬁmmnManthmmof
mmdlbhﬁxtbmkbanamdwnmuwﬁchhhmdsmmoﬁh

in with and app risk
mmxemm.w O undon risk programs which thy
o) Including, without himitation, 10 self-izsure in whole o7
hptﬂ dividuall orin with other instinutions, to p in aptive
& fes, o icipate with other ioral inst in mutal or other
or other risk to participate in state or federal

grams, W take adviatag of siate or foderal lewn now or hereafter in existence
ummumednlmdmllpnamhabﬂny.mmﬁlblhmptmapmhmmm
managemem programs; il &3 may be approved by the « a shis wnd
appropriate risk by the Obligated Group. ummdmoumedam
Mkqumdfwmywvmqmmnofthmwm
Mmm}ammxwadﬁmdmgo(mydfmﬂmdumuﬂynmwlf

that the preicipated funding of any self-i fand by not
Gmmmﬂnuwill fund such seif-insurance fimd in the manner recommended by the
Insurance Consuhant.

Section 3 04. Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds. Proceeds received by sny Member
of the Obligated Group for casualty Josses or condemnation awards mury be used fine soh Lawful
wwuuwmmamwmmdudmghnmhnudm,mwu
repak of the d P l’hnnl" i lndthc
Mwhmymulor P debtod rd wnhlhnamlhued;
mmuumum&mwwmwmumtmd
the receipt and use of mch procoods.

Section 3,05 Limitations on Creation of Liess.

(x)  Each Member of the Obligated Group agrees that it will not create ar wuffer to be
ereated or parmil the exisience of any Lien upon the Morigaged Property now ownad ar hereafter
scquired by it other than Permitted Liens.

()  Permitied Liens shall consist of the following:

()  TheLien created by the Mortgage;

MY SyTisevw

(i)  Lions arising by reasoq of good faith dapasits with any Member of the
Obligated Group in counection with leases of real estato, bida or conuracts (other than
contracts for the payment of money), deposits by any Member of the Obligated Group to
seaumre public or statutory obligations, of 10 secure, ar in licu of, murcty, stay or appeal
bonds, and deposits as security for the payment of taxes or asscasments or other similar
charges;

(@) Aay judgment bien sgaingl axy Member of the Obligated Group s0 loog as
wich jdgment is being contested i good fhith ead executinn therean is stayed,

(iv)  (A) Rights reserved to or vested ia sty mumicipality or public suthority by
1ko terms of any right, powes, Ganchise, grat, liowme, pormit or provision of Jaw,
affecting any Propesty; G)nylimﬁtlm.mmm,bnea,fw,mmd-w
rexxs, snd other governmental and timller charges and any liens of mechanics,
materiaimen, lsborers, auppliers or vendars for wark or servioss or materials
farnished, which are not due end payable or which me not delinquent or which, orthe
mmwmnﬁydwhhmhaummdmdmthmmuuydw.
respoct to fiens of mech laborers, liers or vendors, have been due
far Jess than 90 dsys; (C} easements, rights-of-way, servitxdes, restrictions, ail, gas or
other grineral rescrvations and other minor defecta, encumbrances, sod imegularitics is
ihe title 10 the Morigaged Property which do not materially impair the use of such
hvpatywmwmﬂynﬂ-dvuﬂynﬂ'uhvﬂmﬂwoof@)hmmnmn
affects title to the M Propary, this I and (E) landlord's liens;

(v)  Any Lien which is existing oo the date of suthentication and detivery of
Obligation No. lmmmlw-ﬂwﬁﬁquhMmum
writing to tho Mastar Trusteo; provided, bowever, that no much Lien may be increased,
exiended, renowed or modifiod o apply to sny Property of any Mutuuﬂhaﬂhhaned
Groop not aubject to such Lien on such date or to secure Indebtedness not ustanding es
of the dete horeof, unlens such Lien 83 80 cxtended, rencwed or modified otherwise
qualifics & & Permitied Lien hercunder, and

(vi)  Other liens, charges and encumhrances thal, in the writien Opinion of
Counsal, a copy of which is filed with the Masier Trustes, do not prevent or cuerially
mt&mthoWPmpmyMﬁaebyfuumﬂwm(ud\
counse] may raly upon & certificate of an indep aschitect or engineer
nmmwl»mgmumwwmmwm
property affocted thereby for its intended purposes).

Soction 3.06.
lovesments.

(8  EachMember of the Obligated Group may Transfer in any Fiscal Yoar Property,
Plant and Equipreat without limitation, subject only o the restrictions of the Mortgage aod any

Y| nnm

o~

()  Each Member of the Obligated Group msy Transfor cash and investments in wy
Fiscal Year without limitation.

Section 3.07.

{8)  Esch Member of the Obligated Group covenanis that it will aol merge or
consolidate with, or sell or convey all or substantiaily all of its assets to ezry Person that is not 2
Member of the Obligated Group unless:

()  Eithor a Mavber of ths Obligated Group will be the sucocsor corporation,
i3 not & Member of the Obligated Group, such sucomsor
Mmmddmmhunam-:mmd
bynOpnmonnlComuIMdn’ " the of
mmemmmmeormmm
premium, if any, and interest an all Qutsianding Obligations issied under this Indeature

according to their tensr and the dus and punctual and observance of all the
and conditions af this Ind: end sny ¢ hereto and granting to the
MTm-mymnhWMdmmm

and

(i  No Mamber of the Obligsied Group immediately afier such merger or
oomohdmun,wuﬁnkumveymce.wmddbehddmhmlﬂpuﬂ:mw
observance of any or of iy

(if)  Ifall smounts doc or to become due oa any Relsted Bond bave not been
fulty paid to the holder thesect, there shall have been delivered o the Mager Trusiee an
Opinion of Bond Counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to the Master Trustee, to the
effect that under then existing lsw the comummation of such mesger or consolidation or
mle or conveyance, whether or oot contemplated on sny date of the delivery of mich
Relxtod Bond, would not adversely affoct the exclusion of interest payabie on such
Ralaied Bord from the gross income of the holder thereof for purposes of fedoral income
upatiot

®) hmo{mymmhnwwanl:wmwy-numduponwy
by the corp shall Baccecd to end
hnbmedfmmmwhlﬁ:meﬁ'mnﬁ'uhdbmnmwdhudnnm
Mmum.umdhwmmmmmswwu
corporstion thereupon sy causs to be tigned, and may isve in
mmnmobhgmmmnbhh'w«mdmlhwﬂuﬂmmw
md subject to all the terms, conditions rad limi in chis } ibed, the Master
Trustee shall anthenticats and shall deliver Obligations that such ehall
uwmuuuu.wmwwummrmmmwwn
lmwwmmmmwmmmhwhmmw
poxition and benefit under this Ind: s On
nmwdmmdnavuhlbamoﬂhuhMuﬂmshmduthbm
inswed hereunder without any such eonsolidation or merger, or mle or cooveyance having
oocurred.

()  Incase ofany such consolidation of merger, or sale of conveyance such changes
in ptonseology and form (but mot in subsiance) may be mads in Obligations thereafier to be
tssued under the Master Indenture as may be sppropriste.

(d)  The Master Trustze may acoept sn Opinion of Counsel {not am employee of 2
Mnbuofthe(hhmﬁwuapwummmm:m)nmam any mch
cangolidation or mager, or sals or Yy and any suth lics with the
provisions of this Soction snd that it is proper for the Master Trustee under the provisions of
AmcleWndnfmsmmmmlheeuumormymrequedmhmnd
and delfivered by this Section.

Section 3.03. Fiti i0AnGL |
Information. The Obligated Group covenants tht it will:

{s)  Wihin thirty (30) days efier receipt of the mudit report mentionod betow but in no
cvent later than ome lusdred tweaty (120) days after the end of esch Fiscal Yenr for which the
Auditod Financiz) Statements are reported upon by an Accountant, file with the Master Trusteo
and with each Holder who may bave s requesied in writing or on whase behalf the Master
Trustee may bavo 80 requosted, s copy of Lhe Audited Financia) Sistermants a3 of the end of mch
Flnnl‘lul.ccompnmdbyhnpxmmcfmm MWMW

shall be p d in with lly accepted inciphes and shall include
mmmh-hmafmmndumwm
?:ﬂq;mmdnpmwmmmwmudmdof
such Fi eur.

()  Within thirty (30) days efter recapt of the mudit report mentioned sbove but in po
oveni later than one hundrod twenty (120) days aiter the end of each Fiscal Year, fllo with the
Master Trustes and with cach Holder who may have w0 requested or in whose bebalf the Master
Trusioe muy have 30 requested, en Officer's Certificate and a report of an Acoouniast stating
whether, to the best knowledge of the signers of asch Officer's Certificate o report of mch

aay Membex of the Obligaied Group is nol in compliance with any covenan
muhmwmwnw@mummummofwamw
dmomw’uc«hﬂmmdmnd’mmmmmymkmledgn whether
such faiture to comply has been cured. If any defuuit has not been cured, then the signers of such
Officer's Centificats and report of mch Accoumant shall identify, to the best of their knowledge,
what, if any, action will be taken 16 cure such noncompliance.

©) Hnsmdbﬁthvammdlndbewu)ﬁhmh
Master Trustee such other financial P and
l'muuil.llﬂ'lin(u'oflny i or ined group of incluging its

d or combined Affilistes, inciudi InyMembaaflhObhyderoup)nth
Mw'rnn-muy&wnmmnnwxasomb)ym and (i) provide access 30 its Eacilities
far the purpose of inspection by the Master Trustes during regular business hours or at mich other
times as the Master Trustee may reasooebly requen




(d)  Within thirty (30) days afier its receipt thereof, file with the Magter Trustee 8
oopy of eash report which any provision of this Indenture requires to be prepared by a Consultam
or wn Insunance Comulisnl.

(¢)  Whin thiny (30) days after the beginning of each Fiscal Yexr, flie with the
Master Trustes an Opizion of Counsel which shall state whsther there sre roquired to be filed in
mymmmwmdmdn(lz)mwwwmmmmm
of such Opinion of Counsal in ardes to
mmﬂnmmdhmmmw

Mﬂnbuldlhmlpdﬁrmwny wnhthcpr\orwm.mwmﬂufﬂxec«wmmhm
Membert of the Obligated Group, if:

(@) ThePencaor Son which is b g 4 Member of the
mmdmmwwuwmumnmunmmm
of much Person or successor (7) to became s Member of the Obligsted

Group under this Indenture and any Supplcmenumdumuby became subject to compliance with
all provisions of this o and any ining to 8 Member of the Obligated
Group, and the mmmnrmmm-wmd-mmdm
mlwmm(n-)mwmmrmukuumofmmmon.u(m)
to the Master Trustee and each other Member of
lheobhgued&wpmﬂ)obllmmwwhwwwhww
Outstanding hereunder will be paid tn secordance with the terms thereof and of this Indenture
‘when due; and

)] instrument exeanted and delivered to the Master Trustee in scoordance with
Mm(-)dmwmhmanVynOpuﬂmofCamd,Mwm
umaaymmmmmmhmmmmmmwyw
mmdndddivuadbymbl‘amu and avalid and
binding o d mhmwnwmh
hmnaﬂbybmkmptcyhm,mw\vmcths,dhhmdmm rights ganenally,
equity principles and lsws dealing with fraudulont conveyances; snd

{c) 1fall smounts duo or to bocome due on sy Relatod Band kave not beea paid to
the holders thereof, there shall be filed with the Maser Trustce, an Opinion of Bond Counsel, in
mmmmwmm«rmmmmmmmm
such would wot y affect the txclusion of (be interest on eny such Related
W&mhwmdhhnldu&uﬁhmﬁ&dmw

Section 3.0 Wikhdrawal from the Obligaied Group.

(8)  NoMember of the Obligated Group may withdrew from the Obligated Group
without the prior written comwent of the Corpocation (if such withdriwing Member i other than
the Corporation) snd unless, prior to the taking af such sction, there is delivered to the Mager

Trusiee sn Officer’s Certificate of an Obligated Group Representative demonstrating thet (A) all
Obligatians issued by mich Member of the Obligsted Group are no langer Outstanding. or (B) an
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amount of cash or Def Obli wfficisot to tish the requi of clause
(iXA) hereof has been paid by such Member 1o the Master Trastes; provided, however, that if all
amounts due on any Related Bonds which besr inlerest which is pot inchudable in the gross
income of the recipient thereof under the Code have ot booa paid to the boldors theroof, there
shall bo delivered to the Master Trustee aa Opinion of Bond Counsel, tn form and substance
satistaciory to the Master Trustee, to the effoct that under then existing lsw such Momber's
withdraval from the Obligated Group, whethes or not comemplated cn anry date of delivary of
any Relsted Bond, would nnt cxase the interest payable on mch Relsted Bond 1o become
includable in the grots income of the recipient theroof under the Code.

(b)  Upon the withdrawal of any Member from the Obligased Group purmiant 1o
mubnection (s) of this Section, a0y goaranty by such Member 1o Section 3.09 hareof’
lhllbﬂdﬂ.dlddiﬁllﬂmﬂdluﬁﬂllubihtyufmhmmbedﬂ:%llpudﬁlw
‘with respect to all Obligaticas Ox ding uader this shall cease.

ARTICLE IV
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 4.01. Eventa of Defiull. “Event of Default,” s uaed hevein, shall moan any of the
ibuo\“lﬂ‘ ovents

® mmdhmmﬁdlmlwunhuypaymemorlhe
principsl of, the premium, if say, or intercat on amy Obligations ismed and Or
hereunder when ld-lhnmlhﬂbmmdplylbkmnmmby

dings for deration or otherwise, in ancordance with the temms thereof,
nfthulndmmmnfny&vﬂm

®)  Amy Mcmbe of tha Obligated Group shall fail duly to pecform, observe or
comply with any covenant or agreement on its part under this Indenture for a period of thirty 30)
days after the date on which writien notice of sach faiture, requining the same to be remedied,
sball have been given to the Meembers of the Obligated Group by the Master Trustee, of 1o the
Munbulnﬂhoumudﬁrmpndﬂ-MaanmbytheHdd-!dnlnlwy-ﬁw

percent (25%) in aggregate p amount of Obligstions then O ing; provided,
however, |hitfmdﬁdureumchﬂnumhmmﬂuny(w]dmlﬁuh
rocnipt of such ootice but am d to be fully died, it shall not

m!wmdmwmmmnmmwnhnmmmwmmw
pursued until the Event of Default is corrected;

{c)  Aneven of defmlt shall occur under the Mongage or a Related Bond Indennire
or upon a Reloted Bond, .

[C)] AndeafﬂnObhpthrwpdnﬂM!nMamyrqumdpaymml
with reapect to any Indek ding p ] amount in excess of $25,000
(other than Obligati huuhndf‘ dr d ,,vha)ww now
exigs or thall hereafter be created, and any period of grace with respect thersto ghall have
expired, or m ovem of dafsult as defined in apy movtgage, inderure or instrument under which

19
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there may be issucd, ar by which threre may be secured or evidenced, any Indebtedness, whether
mwmmmummumnum Mwemol'dufnl
shall not have been waivad by the bolder of such admsa
wudmmmmummdﬁm“chmm:mmm
accelarstod;

(¢)  ‘Theentry of a decree or omier by a court kaving jurisdiction n the premises for an
mfwdﬂmmymofmmluwdm ot xpproving as property filed &
petition socking ition of or in respect of such
MmbamdatthnhdSmaBmhupthodcwmymmbuMedamhw or

i u receiver, (or other sumilay official) of
-nhMembaud‘myuhmma] part of its Property, wa&nglhwmdmgupwhqmd.mon
of its affairs, and the continuance of any such decree or arder umstayed and in effect for a period
of ninety {90) consecutive dayy; and

()  The institution by ay Member of the Obligsind Group of proceedings for an
order for refief, whmhhmnwhvﬂwuchﬁhngbynohpmon
or mswer or consent seeking or reliefl

under the Usited mﬂmmycweumyoth:mlrlpphubkfedenlmmhw or
&:wﬂbylhhﬁhuduynﬂnﬂmuhhn pointment of a receiver, iquidator,
astodian, assignoe, trustes or sequestratar (or other eimilar official) of such Member of the
Obligated Group or of any substentinl part of ils Propesty, or the making by it of an assignmaent
for the benefit of creditors, or the admission by it i writing of ita inability to pey its debts
geoenally a1 they become due

Section 4.02  Ascelermtion: Annulment of Acceleration.

(2)  Upon the octurrence and during the continuation of sn Event of Default
Mummmmmnmmwd(n)mmdmlm
than tweaty-five parosat (25%) i sggrogate ipal smount of Obligati ding or (i)
nq?mpmpedymmngthengmgvenwmhmnndumwwmqm
acceleration of all or a partion of the Obligations issved pursuant to such Supploment, shall, by
potics to Lhe Membens of the Obligated Group, doclare all Obligations On ding i
due and payabls, whereupon such Obligations shall becoms and be Immedistedy dus and
p-ydh.-nythmgmtheobhg-unmormanymh-s-mom\uhdam“mumm
, Ut if the tonm of moy Supplement give & Person the right
to coment to sceeleration of a8 or & porticn of the Obligations issued purmant to said
Supplement, such Obligations issucd pursuant 1o such Supp may not be aooek by the

obtained purmiant 4o the terms of such
Supplement. In the evem Obligatians are accelerated there shall be doe and payable on such
Obligations sn amoun equal 10 the total principal amount of all sach Obligations, phus all
interest sccrued thareas to the date of acceleration and, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
witich Rcorues (o the date of peyment.

If, at any timo sfter the principal of the Obligations shall have been 30 doclared to
be due and payabls and before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action o
proceeding 1ustituted on sccount of such defim, (i) the Obligated Group has paid or caused to be

20
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paid or depomted with the Master Trusiee money aufficient to pay all matured installmerns of
interest and interen on installments of principal and intarest and principa! or redemption prices
then due (other than the principal then due only hecmne of such declarsrion) of afl Obligations
Outistanding, (u)thObhgnedGmuphlpndorunﬂthudq)omedm\hlhm
Trustes monacy sofficient to pay the charges,
fees und liabilitics of the Master Trustee, Gu)lﬂmhlmmlhsnpyubhbyumllm
Group bereander shal! have been paid of & sum sufficient (o pay the same shall have been
deposited with the Mastzr Trustee, and (iv) every Event of Default (other than a default i the
payment of the principal of such Obligations then duz only because of such declaration) shall
have been remedied, then the Master Trustee may, and upan the written request of Holders of not
Iess than & majority in aggregate principe! smount of tho Obligations Outsisnding stall, szl
such declaration e its consequences with respect to any Obligations or pantions thereof not
then due by thelr terms, No such snnuiment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Event of
Defauht or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 4.03. Additiooal Remedies snd Bnforeem

()  Upon the ocoumrence and eontinuancs of any Evan of Defimtt, thy Masier Trustes
masy, snd upon the written request of the Holders of no1 Jess than twanty-five percent (25%) o
sggregaie principal amount of the Obligatiom Ouistending, logether with indemmification of the
Master Trusten to its satisfaction therefor, shall, proceed forthwith to protect snd enforce its
rights and the rights of the Holders hereunder by such suits, sctions or proceedings as the Master
Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem expedient, including but not limited to*

[0] Enfmwnfﬂ:n;hid&emmedlmmdnfmmnuwm
of amounts dus of b ing due under
(@  Suit upoa all or my pert of the Obligations;

(@)  Civil ection to require any Person holding moncys, documents or other
property pledged to sxane peyment of amounts due or to becoms due on the Obligations
1 scoount 1 if it were the trustee af &n express trust for the Holders;

(iv)  Civil action to enjoin any scts or Uiings, which may be unlawful or in
vialation of the rights of the Holders,

(v)  Enforcement of rights as a secured perty under the Uniform Commencial
Code of the State of Vermont;

(\n) Enforoemsnt of any of its rights undar the Mongage, including the noo-
exercise of any power of sale purmmnt to State drw; and

(vi) Enforcement of sny other vight of the Holders canferred by law or haeby

(b)  Regardless ofthe happening of an Event of Defankt, the Master Trustee, if
mqumedinwmmgbymﬂddndmlulﬁuntwuny-ﬁvepuwus%)mwc
mnnpdwdlbe%hm Outsianding, shall, upon being indemmfied to its

faction therefor, institute and maintain such suits and proceedings ss # may be advised shall

21
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be necessary or expedient (i) to peevent sy impaimment of the ssqurity heneunder by any scts
which may be onlswiul or in violation bereof, ar (@) lo preserve ar protect the interests of the
Heolders, provided that such request and the actioe 1o be takea by the Mastar Trustes aye not in
conflict with any applicable law or the provisions hereof and, in the aole judgment of the Master
Trustoe, are oot unduly prejudicial 10 the interest of the Holders not making such request

i During
mnmﬂmﬂvmnf%ﬂtm&mlwmwdlwmmbymm
Truxise pursumnt to &y ndnyvuw-mukmmdu«h:prwmmummu.m
peyment of (i) the costs and exp g in the colleation of such
muﬂnhhemmdndnmhnmdumdebylhmmenuwnhwn
mummmwmammmﬂmﬂmu@)mx

mch

sole discretion of the Master Trustee (provided, b ihatin
Master Trustee may take sction, of refrain from taking action, consisteat with the report of a
Conaultant), the peymens of the of C ar any othar Member of
the Obligaed Group, lhlllhlppbedu(allm

(8)  Unlem the principal of ali O ding Obliga: shal} have become or have
been decharad doc and payble:

Firzt. To the peyment to the Persons entitlad thereio of all Instaliments of interest then
humlwmmmoﬂhmmmyo(mmnmw.lﬂhmmme
shall not be sufficient to pay in full any i on the same date,
then to the payment thereof rausbly, mdhwmmﬁum:mmhrmmuad
thereto, without sy discrimination or prefrencs; sod

Sepond: To the payment &0 the Parsons entitied thereto of the urpaid
iastaliments of sy Ohbligations which shall have bocome due, whether st maturity or by call for
redemption, in the order of their due dates, and if the sracumts svallsbie shall not be sufficient to
pay in full all Obligations due on sy date, then 10 the payment thereol retably, according to the
amounts of principal installments due oa such date, o the Persons antiiled theret, without any
discrimination or prefevence.

()  1fthe principal of all O ding Obli shal! have become or hurve bean
dmhdmﬂmkwummdhmmpdﬂmﬂuhdmdm

without prefix of priority of principat over lateren or of interest over principal,

wofmwdmmmmmdmudmm;xumm
any other Obligation, ratably, sccording to the emounts due respectively for principal and
imerest, to the Persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference.

(c)  Hthe principal of all O ing Obligerions shall have been declared duz and
pyubl&udl.nhddnm:hﬂlmﬁuhxvebmmndedwmdumh
mdﬁlmhwmmpwxomdww@)dmmmh

event that the principal of all O di shall later becorne due or be declared due
ndplyﬁh.thcmeylmubumphedm with (he provisions of paragraph (a) of
hiis Section.

WhtvamnmmhwhedbymMaMTmuwmmmmmar
this Section, such moneys shal) be applied by it at mch times, and from time to tims, a3 the
Mmur'l‘mnwlhllmmsmer@dfwlhmnnfnﬂmmuvnhmzm
application wnd the likalthaod of sdditionz! moneys b for such sppli
mw-wmummhllmwmhmuhhdmw
whdluchupphmumhmuuponmdmmmmmdww
be paid on such dates shall cease Lo accrue, The Master Trustes shall give such notics as i mary
deem appropriste of the deposit with it of say mich monsys and of the Fixing of ey mich date,
and shall not be required to meke psyment to the Holdar of sny urpaid Obligation until such
Obligation shall be presented to the Master Trustse for appropriste endorsemen of soy partial
peymei or for cancellation if Audly paid

‘Whenever all Obligations and interest thereon have been paid under the provisioas of this
Sestion aad all expensey snd charges of the Master Trustee have been paid, any balance
remaining shall be paid to the Perano eatitled to receive the same, if no other Person shall be
extitled theroto, thea the balasco shall be peid to the Members of the Obligated Group, their
respective mcceasors, or s a court of commpatem jurisdiction may direct,

Seotion 4.05. Remedic Not Exglugive. No remedy by the terms bergof confarred upon or
mwummwhmmmwumndmmum
tanl each end overy much remedy et} bo cumulative and shall be in addition to every other
remedy given berounder or existing at law of in equity or by stanrts on or after the date hereof.

Section 4.06. Remedien Vested in the Master Truster Al sights of action {including the
nghmﬁhmfof:hm)hwﬂcwwﬂumyofﬁnohlxmmyhmfomedbyh
Master Trustoe without the ion of any of the Ob ar the thereof in any
mummmmmm-mwmmnmbymm
Tmmmybehtwdninmm-lhmmu-wmnhmmwyof)omgu
plaintiffs o7 defomdamts any Holders. Subject to the provisions of Section 4.04 hereof, any
mwwywm:lﬂlhhhmhﬂdmﬂwm

Sm‘lﬂ Hnldg;_Cmnlmhmw Ifan Event of Defautt shall have oczored
hing herein to the coutrwry, the Halders of not kess than &
MnmepﬂmﬁubehmunsMMthwhﬁ%d
mymu,bym in writing and deki 1o the Master Trusteo and

P by indemnity mtisfs ,mhm‘l‘mmﬁmubmhdndplmot
conducting say proceeding to be taken in connection with the enforoement of the terms and
mmhueofnrfommappoxmemdlmuuymwmm
provided that much direction is aot in oonflict with axy spplicable law or the provisions hereof,
and provided fusther, Mmumfmmhlwmmhtbmummym
mfmmnmngmmmlammmmmum
would involve it In perscan) libility, and, in the sole judgment of tho Master Trustes, nd
provided further that nothing in (his Section shall impar the right of the Master Trustee in ity
discretion (o take any sther action heramder which it may deem proper and which is not
inconsistent with such direction by the Holders,

w1 Sy

Section 4.08. Termination of Procesqings In case any proceeding taken by the Maxer
TnmmmmarmBmofDeﬁuluhnllmbeudimmedwwforny
reason or shell have been dstermined adversely to the Master Trustee ar to the Holders, then the
Members af the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee and the Holders shall be rextored o their
formes positions and rights hereunder, and all rights, remedics and pawers of the Master Trustee
end Lbe Holdars shall continue as if 0o such proceeding bad beoa taken.

Section 4.09. Waiver of Ever of Dl

())  No delay or omission of the Master Trustes or of any Holdsr to axurcise any right
o power eccruing upon sy Event of Defauit shall impmir sny such right or power or shall be
soastred 10 bs 8 waiver of any such Event of Defiuh or m scquiescence therein, Every power
and remedy given by this Article 1o the Master Trustee and the Holders, respeatively, sy be
exercised from time to time and a3 ofien as may be docmed expedient by them.

()  The Master Trustes may waive any Event of Defauht which in its opinion shall
have been remadied beforo the entry of final judgment or docree in any muit, acthkn or procesding
i by il undex the provisions hereof, or bofore the completion of the saforoement of oy

other remedy bereunder,

) Notwith hi ined herein to the contrary, the Master Trustee,

lhcmraqumd‘thﬂoldulufml-hnlmqontancpmqnlm
ofObhgmomlbnOumdm;.mnmmEmofDefmthmwnww
consequences; provided, bowever, that, except undes the ci et forth in
(b) of Section 4.02 berenf, a defsult in the psyment of the principsl of, premium, if any, o
wnterest on azry Obligation, when the sume shall beoows due and payable by the terms thereof o
upon ¢all for redemption, may not de waived without the written consent of the Holders of all the
Obligations (with respect 10 which such paymem default exists) at the time Outatanding

(@  Incase of any waiver by the Masier Trustes o€ an Event of Defsult bereunder, the

mmdmou:wmp,mmmmuwmmmnmbemdmu
ard rights b ively, but no such waiver shall extend to sy

memﬂmdmmhmwuymmmm

Section 4.10, Appointmont of Receiver. Upmthnmmo(myﬁwofmm
unless the game skall have beon waived as herein provided, the Master Trusteo shall be entitied
a3 a matter of right if it shat] so elect, to the exent permitied by Law, (i) fosthwrith and without
dectaring the Obligations to be due and paysble, (i) after declaring the same to be due snd
payable, or (i) upon the commencement of an action to enfbroe the specific performance bereof
or in id thereof or upon the conmencmment of any other pudicial proceeding to enfarce sny right
of the Master Trustee or the Holdars, 10 the ippointment of 8 receiver ot receivers of mny ar all of
the Property of (he Obligated Group with such powers as the oourt making euch sppointment
shall confer, Each Member of the Obligated Group, respactively, hareby cansents snd agrees,
und will if requesied by the Masier Trustee consent and agree at the time of spplication by the
WMastar Trustee for appaintment of & receiver of its Property, to the sppointment of such receiver
of ita Property and that such receiver may be given the right, power end mrthority, to the extent
the sams may lawfully be given, to take possexion of and operste and deal with such Propaty
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and the 3, profits and ds therefrom with like effect as the Member of the Obligated
anuudddom.ndlobmwmnﬂmmﬂmoﬂwmu-ﬂm

Section 4.1). Remedies Subject to Provisons of Law. Al rights, remedies mnd powers
provided by this Article may be exercised only o (he extont thai the exercisz theroof does pol
violate any applicable provision of law, and alt the provisions of tiis Article are imended 10 be
subject to all applicable mandatory provisioms of tsw which may be controlling and to be hmited
wmmwnwduyvmmmﬁamathpmnww
igvalid or undes the provisions of any applicadle law.

Section 4.12. Npoticn of Definl The Master Trustse shall, ‘within tan (10) duys after it
hahnwhdgeoﬁhammudu!vmofwmh,mlmdllloldmuthemmeaud
addresses of such Holders sppear upos the books of the Master Trustee, notice of sach Event of
Definil known 1o the Master Trustee, Gnless such Bvemt of Definilt shall have been cured before
d:ywnsdmmu,mwdedﬂm,mqnmthcmddﬂhmhwymuwfh
principal of o premiua, if sny, or intevest on sy of the Obligations and the Events of Defal
speaﬁedhmbsccuom(e)md(!)ufMlOll.unthmuTanhpmmad
mnhwmmmfmdnhqnlhbwdd‘ the ara

of d of any officer of the Master Trusten in good fith
dsamnmhmhumnfmchmummnmdhm
ARTICLE V
THE MASTER TRUSTEE

Section 5 01 Carmain Dutics and Responaibilitics.
(3)  Excepl during the conticuance of an Event of Defiok.

0] The Master Trusiee undertakes to pa-fnmn:hﬁmnmduﬂyuuh
chitics as are specifically st forth in this Indenture, and no i
mmummmwmummmm

(@) lnundmofb.dmnaiummeMmerTmmy

conclusively rely, as % the truth of the and the of the op
mummmuommmﬁumummmmm
to the of this I but in the case of any such cerlificries

wmhumhywmvmhmfmwnﬁwlymwhmblh
Mastar Trustee, the Master Trusteo shall be under & duty to examine the same to
detarmine whether or not thoy confiorm to the requireraenis of this Indenmure,

(®) 1o caoe an Evern of Defiuk has occurred and is coatinuing, the Mastey Trustee
shall exercise msch of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same
depuofmndﬁﬂlhhrmu.u-pmdaﬂmwﬂm-mwmm
clroumstances in the canduct of his own affairs.
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(&) No provirion of this shall bo d to relicvo the Muster Trustes
hmmhyhhmwwmnmwrnhnmqwmmmum
misconduct, except thet

()  this subsection thall not be construed to limit the effect of subsection (a)
of this Section;

(i)  the Maxier Trustee shall not be lisble for any error of judgmen mde in
wmw-mumammmmmmmwm

of the board of di the pr any vice

i me Y. Ry axsistam Y, the .nymnmwm,the
mhumymmmh«mymuﬁwummoﬂﬂhmdlamd
amy asntant contsoller o any other officer or eployes of the Master Trustoe
customarily performing functions similar to thoss performed by any of the shove
designated officers or with respect 1o & panticular mattes, ey other officer or employee to
whom such mstier is refervod because of his knowledge of and familiariy with the
particular subjecs, unless it shell bo proved that the Master Trusins was negligent in
ascertaining the portinent facty;

(iit)  the Master Trustew shall not be lisble with respoci Lo any action {aken or
omitted 10 be taken by it in good faith in sccordance with the direction of the Holders of o
‘majority in principal emoum of the Chtstanding Obligations relating to the time, method
mdplnofmnd\wngnymhnymdynnhwbhmm
conferred upan the Masier Trustee, under this Indenture,
i (c)dSﬂquWhufmmu
&t the time O

excepl under et fth in
the cansent of the Holdery of all the Oblj

(iv) mmmwdtﬁlwﬂnmhmﬁmwm
or risk its own funds or otherwise incur say financial or other lisbility, directly
indirecaly, in the performance of xny of its duties hereunder, othlhmofmyof
its rights or powers.

(d)  Whether or not therein expreasly ;o provided, every provision of this ndenture
relating to the conduct or affecting the Jiability of or affording protection to the Master Trustee
shall be subject to the provisions of this Section

Soction 5.02. Certain Riglts of Maser Trustoe. Bxocpt as othorwise provided o Sestion
5.01 hereof’

(0] 'l'heMlm’l'nmemlynlylndlhnw mmw fraining from
acting wpoo myy certibeate, i, opinion, repori, Toquos,
direction, consent, ordes, bmﬂ.mwubtmuhmbohmbyﬂmhmw
mhnbmnwdwwmeMywm

(6)  Any requess, direction or statemen of any Miember of the Obligated Group
mmmdh-udmlbcmﬁm.ly by an Officer’s Certificate and any action of the
Goveming Body may be sufficientty evidenced by 8 copy of a resolution certified by the
secretary or en sasistan! socretary of the Member of U Obligated Group tn have been duly
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adopted by the Gaverning Body and o be in full force and effect on the date of such cortification
and delivered 1o the Mustar Trustee

() Wh in the administration of Uxis Ind the Masier Trustee shall doem it
desirabie thal s mmtter be proved or extablished prior to taking, wffering or omining &ny sction
hereunder, the Trustee (uniess other evidence bo berein specifically presaribed) may, 1 the
absence of bad faith on its part, rely upon sn Officer’s Certificate.

(d)  The Master Trustes may aommuht with aovnss) of an © euditor wal the
mmd-ﬂmﬁwwmamywmmd%mw] shali be Gl
and and p ion in respect of kny action taken, suffered or omitted by
nmhwmnﬂurﬂmﬁm

()  The Master Trustee ghall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rigits or
powers vested i it by this Indenture whether on its own motion or &t the request ar diredtion of
any of the Holders pursuant to this Indarure witch shall be in the opinion of the Master Trustee
likely to involve expense or liability not otherwise provided for herein, unless one or more
Hnitnwn-d\Holdmm;hngnnhthmelﬁuml}edmmMmu
Truxee se0UMTY OF factory to the Master Trustee againi the costs,
muuﬂlme-whxd\mghtbemwmdbynmw“wﬁmbmor

o herewith.

® mMn.TmMmhhuﬂmeWmnhfuuw
mstters Rated jo my ocertificate, 0, report, natice,
request, direction, conacnt, order, MMmemmmmMTM
in its discretion, oy make such further inquiry of investigstion ino such Bacts or matters s it
may e fit, e0d, if the Master Trustee ahall determine 10 make mch further inguiry or
investigation, it shall be entitied to exanune the books, records and premises of any Member of
the Obligated Group, persomally or by agent or sitomoy.

()  The Mamter Trustee may exearte xny of the trusts of powers hereunder or perform
mmmmdnﬂlymbymmm@mumthmenu
shall oot be ible for any o oa the part of ey sgem or sitomey
-puimwm&nmbyhhuwndu

The Master Trustes shall not be personally liable in the s of entry by it upon
the Mortgagad Property for debts contracted or liability or demages incurred in the management
or operation of such Mortgaged Property

Section $ 03. Right to Deal {n Obligations and Related Bonds The Master Trusieo may
in good faiih buy, sell or hold sud deal in any Obligations and Relaled Bonds with fike cffeci as
if it ware mot mch Mamer Trustos and may commence or join 1n any action which a Holder or
holder of a Related Bond iy emtitled to take with like effoct a3 if the Master Trustee were not the
Master Trusee.

Soction 5.04. Romovaland Resignation of the Master Trusiee  The Master Trustee rmy
Tesign on its motion or mary be removed Bt tny time by sn instrumen or instruments in writing
signed by the Holdars of not les than e majority of the principal amount of Obligations then
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Outstmting. No such resigration or removal shul] become effective undess and urtil 8 sucoessor
Master Trustee (or teaporary successar trustee m provided below) has been appointed and bas
assumod the trosts created beseby, Writien notice of such resignation or removal shall be given 1o
the Membery of the Obligated Group end to each Holder st the address then reflected on the
books of the Master Trumee and such resignation or removal shall take effect upon the
sppointmen aad qualification of 8 successor Mastey Trustoe, A syocessor Master Trustee may be
appointed by the Obligated Group Representative or by the Holders at the direction of the
Holders of not lesa than & majority io aggregate principal amount of Obligations Owtstanding. In
the cvent & scomaar Master Trustee by pot been appointed mnd qualified within sixty (60) days
af the dsic notice of regignation is given, thanzTruslae, myMembudlh:W
Group of any Holder may apply to sny court of comp for the % ofs
temparary miccessor Master Trustee to act until such time as @ sucoessor is spposnted sy above
provided,

Unless ctharwise ordered by a court ar regulatory body having competent jurisdiction, or
unless required by law, any succsasor Mastey Trustes dall be & trust comparny or bask beving
lbpomdlmwmy-mwm,quuhfdbdandhmbummmmwm
staten of the Urited Stmea of America and having an oficially reported combined capitsl,
surplus, undivided profits and rescrves aggregating at least $10,000,000, if there is sch an
institution willing, qualified and able to acoept the trust upon reasonable or customary terms.

Every muccessor Master Trustee howmever appainted heramder shall exnate,

ﬂmﬁmﬂmmmmwlbmudmdhobhpndﬁwpn
in writing, nocepting such ap and th

mmmmmmmlwmmmmmmmm
puwuumn.ﬁ!hm! 3 olin md puch p shall execate and
deliver an i Mmc'l’mdlhngbu.wwlmd
trusts of such predecessor, mmmmmmmmmm
necessary of appropriste to canvey all interest it may have to the axcoetaor Master Trustes. The
predecossor Master Trumeo shall promplly dativer sll matwrisl rocords relating to the trust or
copies thareof and, on roquest, communicats all material infarmation it may have obtained
concerning the trust to the sucesssor Master Trustze.

Each succemor Master Trusiee, nmlnulhnun(lo)&ylmummo(m
dutics bercunder, shall mail a notice of such assumption to each registared Holder,

Soction 5.05. Compenistion and Reimbursement. Bach Member of the Obligated Group,
respecively, agroes:

()  To pay the Master Trustes Grom time 1o time rassonable compensation for all
sarvices randered by it bereunder (which compensation shall not be limited by any provision of
law in regard to the compenastian of & trustes of an express trust), aad, if not paid when duc,
shall be subject to intereat at the base rate of the Master Trustee.

()  Excopt o otharwise exp provided herein, to the Master Trustee
uponnlmqwhlll bt b and adv incurred or made by
the Master Trusiee, inchuding fees oa collection and enfc in with any
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jon of thia Ind: tuding the i ion and the exp and
&demlwmmLummyndlmmwm
a3 may be attributsble to its negligence or bed faith. I such smouma wo not paid when due, they
shall be mubject to interest m the base rate of the Master Trusiee

(¢)  Toindemnify the Maser Trusioe for, and to hold it barmless againat, any loss,
h.balnywc:q’ememwwdmmnmshgmwuﬁuhmum wrising owt of or in
with the ion of this trust or its duties bereundey, mcluding
tbemndupmmnfdefmdmgnnlfmmuq:hmmhabilﬂynmmmdﬂ
sxorcise o porformance of anry of its powers or duties

As secarity for the p of the Members of the Obligated Group under this
Section, the Master Trustee shall have a liea prior to any Obligations upon all property and funds
beld or collected by the Master Trusieo a3 such, except funds held in trust for the psyment of
principal of or interest or premiums on Obligations

Section 5.06. Recilals and Represemations The recitala, statements and representations
contained herein, or in amy Obligation (excluding the Master Trustee's authentication on the
Obligatiom) shall be taken £0d construed as madc by and on the part of the Membar of the
Obligated Group, respectively, and not by the Mamer Trusios, and (he Magter Trustes neither
sxaumes nor shall be under mry responsibility for the cormoctness of the same

The Master Trusteo makes no representation ks to, and is pot responsible for, the vatidity
or sufficiency bereof, of the Obligations, or the validity or sufficiency of insurance to be
provided. The Master Trustee shall be deemed oot t have made ropresentations as to the weaarity
afforded kermby or hareunder or &9 to the validity or sufficiency of mch document. The Masiar
meﬂlmhmﬂwﬁwmmhhmmfmhquﬂmﬁmdw
moneys which shal) be released ar n rdance with the provisions hereof The
Mastar Trusteo shall have no duty of inquiry with respect fo my&hﬂtuﬂmdbﬂm
described herein without sctual knowledge of or receipt by the Master Trustes of written notice
of s defiutt or sn Event of Defimk from a Member of the Obligated Group or any Holder

Section 5.07. Scpantte of Co-Master Trusiee Al asy time or times, for the purpase of
mecting any logal requirements of any jusisdiction, the Master Trustee shall have power to
appoint, and, upon the requast of the Holders of at least 25% in sggregate principal amount of
Obligations Qutstanding, shall appolst, ane or more Persons spproved by the Master Trustee
either 10 ect 88 co-trustoe oF co-trustees, jointly with the Master Trustee, of 1o 8ct ms scparme
trustee or separste trustecs, snd to vesl in such person o persom, in Rich capacity, such rights,
powers, dutics, trusts or obligations as the Master Trustoe muy consider tmocessary or desirablo,
subject to the remaining provisions of this Section.

Bvery co-trustes or ssparate trustes sinall, to the extent permitted by lsw but to euch
wxten only, be appointed subject to the following terms, namely:

(s)  Tho Cblj shall be suthenticated and del

salcly by the Master Trumoe.

) Al yights, powers, tusm, dusles and obligatians conferrod or imposed upon the
trusees shall be conferred or imposed upon and exarcared o performed by the Master Trustee, o1
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bym:mmunlmmumuwpmmuamm
jointly, as shall be provided in Lha i g such co-tnastes of Co-trustees of
upuueh“uwwcmﬂmwmﬂummmmwdmymmm
mchmmmvmwmmmuwwmmmmlIMWU
unqualified to perform such act or acts, in which event much sct ar acts shall be performed by
such co-trusen or co-tnistets or seperte trustoe O FEPArEe rustoes.

(c)  Any requent in writing by the Master Trustee to any co-trustee or separate trustee
mnhummm-hqmmonwmhmﬂiamwmﬁ-hﬂm;u
the refraining from teking, of such sction by euch eo-trustee or scparate frestes.

(d) Aoy co-trustes or separate busice msy, to the extent permitted by law, delegate to
the Master Trustee tho exarcise of any right, power, trust, duty or cbligation, discretionary or
othcrwise.

(¢)  The Master Trostee a2 any time, by any instrumest in writing, may acoept the

resignatian of o remove any co-trusteo ar separate trustes appointad under this Section. Upon
mmdumrmhmdmwwmmmmmm
Trustee in the sxecution, delivery aml mecexsary

wpwummm-dldmhamwd

(6] Nomunymwmhnhpmndlymhmmd
any act or omi of eny paying agent b der, Dot will the sct or omission
of any trustee ar paying agent bereunder be imputed to any other trustee or puying ageat.

{g)  Any demand, request, direction, sppointment, removal, notics, consmat, waiver or
other action in writing deliversd to the Master Trustex simll be dosmed to bave bean deliversd to
each such co-trustes or soparaic trustee,

(h)  Any moneys, papers, securities of other Bems of personal property received by
any such co-trustes or saparate trusteo hermmnder shall buhwuh,wﬁruuybepumnudby
taw, be tumed over W tho Master Trustee.

Umtbewmwwﬂu.of-dwmmbyw-ﬂmwm
trustee, it or b shall bo vested with mch rights, powen, duties o7 obligations, 83 ehall be
specified in the inatrument of appointment jointly with the Masier Trustee (cxcept lnsofsr s
local lsw omkes it y for sy scparsie trustee to act alone) subject to el
lhuluruh-mf Every such anceptance sball be filed with the Master Trusies, To the extess

d by lsw, anty co-trustee trusiee may, ot eny time by an instrumeni in writing,
mmnclheManmmwh:mmncy-m-memmﬁ:nmnﬂ-ﬂnﬂy
1o perform all ects and things and to exercise all diseretion on its or his behatf and in its or his
name.

In case any co-trustoe or scparte trusee shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or
be removed, all rights, powers, trums, dutles sod obligations of sid co-trustee or separats trustee
thall, 30 @ar a3 pevmitted by law, vumldhm-odhythmhumummndml
8 SUCKEIsOr Co-rustos of Beparate trusos shall be appointed in the mannes herein provided, and
such Opinion of Counsel shall further siate such action has been taken with respect to the
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recording, filing, ro-recording and re-filing or other instrumeont of further esmrence as is
mwmhmthomeMdewwmofmdve(lz)
ﬁmmmmmfnﬂmqmdmofthmmmv{Camdmimm
Mormmwmmmmw“ofaummmmumyh
maintain mich Lien.

Section 5.08. Merger of Master Truster. Aury corporation or nationa! banking essociation
into which the Master Trusies may be cxmverted or merge, or with which & may be consotidatad,
awmnmdumnmmdmutmb-ﬂmﬂyul
whols, o1 ey corporation or patioesl banking associstion resulting from any axh convarsion,
mle, mevges, consolidation or transfer to which it Is 8 party, jpso facto, shall be and become
wwMTﬂmhﬂmanﬂwmmoﬁhmmmm

duties and obligations of its pred without the ion or filing
dmmwwmmdudummnnmlhpndnynﬂhmm
anything herein to the contrary nocwithstending.

ARTICLE VI

Obligated Group, Qmwm«medbymmmwmmmofwwwbym
Goveming Body, and the Master Trustee may, without the consent of or notice to any of the
Holden, enter into one or more Supplements for ane or more of the following purposes:

{8)  To curc any ambiguity ar formal defect or omission berein.

(b)  To corvect or supplament any provision herein which may be inconsistent with
mymmwuwmmmmmmnmmmmumﬂ
arising hereunder and which shall oot msterially and adversely affect the interests of the Holders

(c) Tomnrwﬂunuﬂyumuﬂnﬂhﬂddalmydﬁmmm
wmw-nhoutythnmykwﬁﬂyhymdwwubwdmthmwbmmlh
provisions of Section 6.02(a) hereof.

(d)  To qualify this Indeature under the Trust Indemmure Act of 1939, a3 amended, or
ing provisions of fedaral lsws from time to time in effect
(e)  Tocreate and provide for the i of [ ittod d:

o

(0] Toobhpluwm\nnyllmb«oﬁhmhwd&muwwddm
Section 3.09 hereof.

(®  Tocomply with thn provisions of any federal or state seuritios law.

11

[0)] mmwmwnwsolwumwum
ard provish ined in thiy Article and not otherwise, the Holders of not less
Msl%mwwsne i ] amount of Obligations thea Ox ding shall have the right,
ﬁmum:loume,mthngmh-unwﬂnmymMn&
approve the cxecution by exch Member of the Obligated Group, when wuthorized by resohution
or other action of equal formality by its Governing Body, and the Trustos of mch
nhﬂthnﬂddmblefoﬂhcmofmodlfymgmm
adding 1o or rescinding, in agy particular, any of the tesms or provisions contained
wwﬁed,bmm&qmmssmm”mwhmudum.
Supplement which would:

()  Effect s changs in the times, amouis ov asvency of payment of the
pmupﬂogwmmlfmy,dmmwmhwonwlredumnmﬁe
princips| amouwnt or red price of any Obli or the rate of inlerest thereon,
without the comsent of the Holder of such Obligstion;

(i)  Pormit the preference or priority of any Obligation over sny other
Obhgum.wnhmnﬂ:u-nnfﬂzﬂoldulufdlowgnmthw&mn&m,w

() Reduce the aggregate p amount of Obligations then O
mmofdzlhlduiufwhlchumqmodlnmﬂhwlmmdw
consent of the Holdesrs of all Obligations then Gutstanding,

(®) et any time each Member of the Obligated Group shall request the Master
Trustee to anter imto a Supplement pursuant to this Section, which request is eccompanied by a
mdhmhmnuu&rubndb&vumngﬂodycm:ﬁedbymmufuhu
1O secretary, its comparable officer, and the proposed Supplemwn the Master Trusice shall, st
the expense of the Obligated Group, csuse notice of tha jon of sch
o be mailed first clam, postage prepeid, to all Holders. Suchmlhﬂlhkﬂynfonhh
aature of the proposed Supplement and shall state that copies thaveaf aro on file at the principsl
corporate trust office of the Master Trustoc for nspootion by all Holders. The Master Trustee
chall pot, bowover, be subject to any lisbility to any Holder by reason of ita faihure to mail the
aotice required by this Section, and any such fuiture shall not affect the vatidity of such
Supplement when approved and consented to 88 provided in this Section, lﬂwﬂhﬂud\pubd.

M\mm‘mmnllh.llnfclnlhpm ndSupplemeulndMlmﬁauym
to «nd approve the execution theroof in substantially the form of the copy thereof xs on file with
hmhmmmpmhnmmhuwm,mmmﬂTmnymm

in substantinily such fiorm, without Jisbility ar respansibility 1o any Holder, whether
o not such Holder shall have consemed thereto,
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(¢)  Any wch consent shall be binding upon the Holder giving euch coment and upen
any eubsequeat Holder of such Obhgation mnd of any Obligation issued 1n exchange therefor
(whether or pot such subsoquent Hokder thereof has notice thereaf), unless such coment is
revoked in writing by the Holder of such Obligation giving such consent ar by » subsequent
Mwwwﬁlmmﬂwhﬁnum prior 1o the exeqution by the Master Trustee of
mch such and, if uch Obligation is ransfersble by delivery, proof that
such Obligation is bedd by the signer of such revocstion in the manser by Section B.0)
huwlkmyﬁnuﬂumﬂnhnomumwndpmnpﬂWWnntsafobhgmmu
shafl bave filed their consexts to the Supplement, the Master Trustes shall maks and file with
each Mascber of the Obligated Group & written statement to thet effect, Such written sistement
shall be conclusive that guch consents have boon so filed.

MQ umnﬂ:-duwmwwmwmmwwu

}buchnhwnymhwobmbmmwwbnh-ﬂmmyofﬂwmw
Pprovisions contained therein or the operation thereof, or in sny rumwey tn question the

of the exeaution thereof] o7 to exjoin or restrain the Master Trustee or sy Member of the
wmmmhmwﬁmﬂmmmmmﬁm

Section 6.03. Wﬂm.

@ In xg any S itted by thds Articic, the Master Trustee ahall
beumﬁedmmndwmlywonnOpmmfoumdehmmd’mh
&whmuwmmnmedhueby The Master Trugioe may but shall not be obligated
wmmmmswmmmhmtm-mmmw
it

®) Upmmummwmy«mswhmwnm

Article, the provisions hereof shall be modified in ith and auch S

mm-mwf&mwpomndwuymﬂsucdnomthum“w
be bound

(c)  Any Obligation authenticated and delivered after the jon and defivery of
any Supplement in socordance with this Asticle may, and if rexquired by the issuer of such
Obligation or the Magter Trustes shall, bear a notation in form spproved by the Master Trustee as
o any manter provided for in such Supplement. Hmvuwo(ny-hoﬂ)bhwmxm
Outstanding or thx Master Trusice shall so ine, new Obli dified as to
mhmhmommono[mme-ﬂthGomnmgBodyofm”mmym
Swplwmmqbemdmdmudbylbmnﬂmﬂmnxﬂwdnddﬁwﬂbyh
Master Trustos in d upon der of Obligations then On
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ARTICLE VO

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

Section 7.0). Sstifaction and Discharge of Indegture: lf(i)nmwﬂmv
shall deliver to the Master Trusies for {lath
W(mmmohlmwmmwmmmmmuu
mmwhchmﬂhvebunnphudupd-wwdduhswplm)nﬂm
fled, of (id) all Obligations not th d or delivered to the Master
mmmnmmmhmmdmmwmyh
same shall kave besn ‘with the Master Trustee, or (jif) all Obligationa that have not
mmuumuhwmmmuuawmwumtmm
shall be Defeased Obii and if in el cases the Mambery of tho Ohligared
Group eimll also pay or csuse to be paid all other axms payable bereusder by the Members of the
Oblw&umumymﬂﬂa%mmﬂmmhofﬁmmum
MlMMmdcmndofd\:Mﬂnbﬂiﬂﬁhwwmwlﬂumudw
dmmdmwwmmlmm
ixfaction of sad discharging this Each Menber of the Obligted Group,
mmuvely,hﬁymuwmwnmmfnmhmymwwm
and thermfter reasonably and property incurred by the Mastar Trustes in connection with this
Indenmure or such Ohligatioas

Section 7.02. Payment of Obligatious after Discharge of Lisn Notwithstsoding the
discharge of the licn bereof as in this Article provided, the Master Trustee wball nevertheless
reuain mich rights, powers and duties hereunder 83 may be necessary and converisnt for the
umdmmuwmmm-ummhgmmmmmmm

and of Obli ap d herein,

NmMmmdebthTmmwmypymsmﬁrﬂ:
paymeat of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest of any Obligation remaining unclsimed
forﬂvcy-nlnaﬁhepmmpﬂ of-!l Obhgmomhubwmhndpay-bln, ‘whather st

maturity or upon or by di »p d herein, shall then be
pdmanmmdﬂnohhsned&oup,-ﬂmrMmylppm and the Holders of
any Obligati for payment shall thereaftes be antitled o look only to

mMmbmo{thhpmd&wpformmeMannﬁmdmhhhy
of the Master Trostes with respect to such moneyy shall thereupon cease.

ARTICLE VIII
‘CONCERNING THE HOLDERS
Section 8.01. Evilonce of Acts of Holders.

(0) Inthe ovent that any request, dire or cooeent is d or
Mﬂbmhwmﬁmdwmhw‘mmh
deemed 1o be such Holders for the purpose of aay such request, diroction or conseat lo the
Ppropartion that the aggregate principal amoun of Related Bonds then outrtanding held by each
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such owner of Related Bouds bears 10 the agaregate principal amount of all Related Bonds then
cutstanding.

(b)  Astoany request, direction, coment or other instrument provided bereby 10 be
signed and excoused by the Holders, such sotion may be in sny mumber of comcument writings,
shall be of similar tenor, and may be sigeed or exconted by such Holders in person or by agent
appoimed in writing.

© . Mq@mdmwmﬁmmmumm

favor of the Master Trusteo end the Members of the Obligated Group, with regard to say action
takes by them, or either of them, under such request, direction or consent or other instrument,
mmncly:

()  The fact and date of the execution by any penson of any mich writing may
Mwwdbymewﬁﬂatcofmyoﬁeumnymo&monmbthhspawm
is such j; that the person signing euch writing
Wb@numhmw“wmnﬁmdlmﬂm

(i)  The ownership of Reisted Bonds may bo proved by the registration books
for such Reluted Bands smintained purmum to the Related Bond Indenture

(d)  Nothing in this Section ahall be construed as limiting the Master Trusies to the
proof berein specified, it being intended that the Masier Trustee mary sccept any other evidence
of the mattens herein stated which it may deem mfficient

()  Any action taken or quffered by the Master Trustes pursuant to mny provision
beroof upon the request or with the assent of axry parson who st the time is the Holdor of any
Wm.lhﬂheudmwmdﬁndm;mndlhnﬁd&noﬂhmm

angﬂmmmdhmwmwmﬁw:mmm
concurred in any demand, direction, request, actice, coment, waives or other action under this
mwwmmmWMmmwmyMormmhwm
orbynypcmm ly controlling or led by or under direct or indirect
common control with such Mambar shall be disregarded snd deemed not to be Outstanding or
outstanding under the Relxted Boad Indentare, as the case may be, for the purpose of sy such
mMthmmdw“whmmmaTmumu
protected in relying on any such direction, consent or waiver, only nich Obligations or Relsied
Bonds which the Master Trustee has actual potice or knowledge are 30 owaed shall be oo
MMW“N&MW&«WM»WMM
been pledged kn good faith may be regardsd di Jing under tho Related
Bundlndmn.-thnumyh.forpurwuztldnsm.lﬂhpledguﬂdlmbluhw
the satisfection of the Masler Trustoe the pledges ™ right ta vote mich Obligations or Relsted
Baonds snd that the pledges is not a person direcdly or indirectly controlling or contralled by or
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under divect o indirect common contral with ary Member of the Obligated Group. In case of 8
dispute ss to such right, any decision by the Master Trustee taken upon the advice of counsel
shall be full protection to the Master Trustee

Blil)
anﬁa)hmmgukummrdmnpmmdchuuwﬂmsmm
B.01 hereof, of the taking of any action by the Holdars of the principal
amount of Obligatit berein in on with such sction, ary Holder of such &
Obllgnxmwwwﬂndwnwwmwhmdududmm
Holders of which have consented to such sction roay, by Aling written notice with the Master
Trustee and upon proof of haldiag as provided in Section 8.01 hereof, revoke such action o far
=8 concerns such Obligation or Related Bond Bxoopt upon such revocation any such ection
taken by the Holder of an Obligation ar Related Bond in any direction, demand, request, waiver,
consent, vote of ather action of the Holder of sueh Obligation or Related Bond which by asy
provision bereaf is roquired or permittod ® be given shall be conclusive and binding upos wch
Holder and upon all fisture Holders amd owrs of such Obligation or Relnied Boad, snd of zmy
Obligation or Related Band ieszed in lew thereof, whether or not ary notation in regard therato
umadwponnmh(blmaww Ay action taken by tho Holders of the

tage ib aggrogate principal smouat of Obli kervin in conmeciinn with such
Idlwzh;llbcmnclunvdyhmdmgmuhMemberof'hcmlwaulp,mm
Trustes and the Holders of all of such Obligations or Related Bonds.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEQUS PROVISIONS

 Section 9.01. I.mhmut&m With the excoption of rights herein expresaly

d, nothing expr joned in or 10 be implied from tiis Indenture ar the
mlxm-.mwuwumumwmwmmmm
«cach Member of the Obligated Group, the Mastor Trustee, and the Holdors bereunder any legal
oreqmub]unmwyu&muduwmmmm:wwnym

nd pr borein ; this and ufl of the

ndprownomhawfbdnghtmddlo&ndhungﬁwlhwkmmmdﬁe
partics mentioned in this Section.

Section 9.02. Seversbility. Enymumwmclnuqmwpnuw
of comy and shall be
Hrvalid or unenforceeble, such judgment siall not affect, impair or invalidate the remaining
pravisiom hereof, or the Obligations issued pursusnt hareto, but shall be confined to the specific
soctions, clauae, sentences and parts 5o adjudged.

Sextion 9.03. Holidays Excopt 1o (he extent a Suppicrnent or an Obligation provides
otherwise

()  Subject 10 subsection (b), when any action is provided herein to be dope on s day
or withia a time period named, and the day or the last day of the period falls an a day on which
banking institutions in the jurisdiction where the Corparmie Trust Office is located are suthorized
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bthmmnchd.\hemmybedmuulmmdudlymndtywm
barking by law to remain closed with effect as
wamuuywwuhmmmwwumud

Whea the date on which principal of or interest or ium an sy Obligation i
Mmdmhhulwmwmmw-hphudmmmmw
Lsw to remaia closed, payment may be made on the next enmuing day on which banking
inglitutions wt sush place aro not anthorized by law to resmin closcd with the same effoct as
though peyment wore made on the due dats, end, if such peyment is made, no inteven ahall
sccrue from aod after mch dus dsts.

Section 9.04. Governing Law. This Ind and any Obligatioes iseed h der are
contracts made uader tho laws of the State of Vermont and shall be goversed by and canstrued in
accordance with such lxws.

Setion 9.05. Countcrparts. This Inds may be d in scvaral each
ufvdﬂ:hlhllbenvngmdnd-uofﬁmhmmmhmm

Section 9.06. Imuounity of Individuals. No reoourse shall be had for the payment of the
principa) of, premium, if sny, or interest on any Obligations issued hereunder or for any claim
based thereon or upon any obligation, covanant or agreemem berein againgt any past, presert or
funue director, trustee, officer, member, employee or agant of ay Member of the Obligated
Guq.ldnﬂnchhh&yofmynxhnﬁwdﬂ!nuhnh&ymm!ywvedﬂ
relcased a8 » oonditi adin for the ion bereof and the isnance of
mimmnnndhaumdv

Section 9.07. Binding Effect This instrument shall imue to the benefit of snd shall be
binding upon esch Member of the Obligated Group, the Master Trustee and their respective
wucceasors and ansigns subject to the limitations contained berein.

Sectinn 9 03. Notices

(O] Unhuuhamnwulynwdﬁdwpuwuadby\hcmwmm
oonsents or other required or be decmed sufficiently
3nrlmwnvdfpmmvmmddbyfmdlnmtwmmmdfmdu
follows:

@ 1o sy Member of the Obligared Group, addrexsed to the Curpoutxon s
i principal place of business, which on the date bereof is. 96 Chelsea Streat, South
Royalton, Vamon 05068; Attestion: Associste Dean for Finance and Administration;

(@) 1o the Master Trumtee, addressad to i =t

Chittanden Trust Company

Two Burlington Square

Burlington, Vermont 05402

Aniemion' Corporate Trust Departmens; or
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() Ifto any registered Holder, addretsed to such Holder at the address shown
on the books of the Master Trusice kept pursuant bereto.

()  Any Member of the Obligated Group, or the Master Trustee may from time
time by notice in writing to the other and 1o the registered Holders designate o different address
or addresses for natice hereunder.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF¥, the Corporation kas caused these presents to be sigmed in its
neme and on lts bebalf by its duly sutharized officer and, to evidence its acceptance of the trusta
hereby cresied, the Mastar Trusiee has cuused these presants to be signed in its name and om its
behalf by its duly suthorized officex, all a2 of the day snd year firsl above written.

'VERMONT LAW SCHOOL, INC.

Authorized Officer

CHITTENDEN TRUST COMPANY,
as Master Trostee
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APPENDIX D
PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINION

March 2011

PR J

Vermont Educational and Health
Buildings Financing Agency
Winooski, Vermont

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have examined Title 16, Chapter 131, Sections 3851-3862, Vermont Statutes
Annotated, as amended (the “Act”), and certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of
Vermont Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency (the “Board”), a body corporate
and politic constituting a public instrumentality of the State of Vermont (the “Agency”),
authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds of the Agency heretnafter described and other proofs
submitted relative to the issuance of the following bonds (the “Bonds™):

$10,750,000

VERMONT EDUCATIONAL AND HEALTH BUILDINGS
FINANCING AGENCY REVENUE BONDS
(VERMONT LAW SCHOOL PROJECT) 2011 SERIES A

Dated, maturing and bearing interest
all as provided in the Trust Agreement referred to below.

The Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Act and a Trust Agreement, dated
as of March 1, 2011 (the “Trust Agreement”), between the Agency and People’s United
Bank, Burlington, Vermont, trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of refunding certain
outstanding bonds of the Agency issued for the benefit of Vermont Law School, Inc. (the
“Law School”) and paying a portion of the interest coming due on the Bonds, the cost of
certain capital expenditures of the Law School and certain expenses incident to the
issuance of the Bonds. The Bonds bear interest from their date (payable semi-annually
on the first day of January and of July in each year, commencing July 1, 2011) and are
subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities in the manner and upon the
terms and conditions set forth therein. The Bonds are issuable in fully registered form in
denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.
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2011

The Agency will lend the proceeds of the Bonds to the Law School under a Loan
Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”), between the Agency and
the Law School. The Bonds are payable from payments to be made by the Law School
on its Obligation No. 5, dated as of March 1, 2011 (“Obligation No. 5”), issued by the
Law School under a Master Trust Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2003, as supplemented
(the “Master Trust Indenture”), between the Law School and People’s United Bank,
successor master trustee (the “Master Trustee”), as such Master Trust Indenture is
supplemented and amended by Supplemental Indenture for Obligation No. 5, dated as of
March 1, 2011 (together with the Master Trust Indenture, the “Master Indenture”),
between the Corporation and the Master Trustee. Obligation No. 5 is being delivered to
the Agency as evidence of the Law School’s obligation to repay the loan of the proceeds
of the Bonds, and assigned by the Agency to the Trustee as security for the payment of
the Bonds. Obligation No. 5 is a direct, general and unconditional obligation of the Law
School (and any future members of the Obligated Group, as defined in the Master
Indenture) secured as provided in the Master Indenture.

The Law School is obligated under Obligation No. 5 and the Loan Agreement to
make payments sufficient to pay the principal of and the redemption premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds when due.

We have also examined one of the Bonds as executed and authenticated.
Based upon such examination, we are of the opinion that:

I The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued.

2. The Trust Agreement has been duly authorized and executed by the Agency and

is a valid, binding and enforceable agreement in accordance with its terms.

3. The Bonds are valid and binding limited obligations of the Agency payable in

accordance with their terms from payments to be made by the Law School pursuant to the Loan
Agreement and Obligation No. 5, funds held by the Trustee under the Trust Agreement and

money

attributable to the proceeds of the Bonds and the income from the investment thereof.

4. The Loan Agreement has been duly authorized and executed by the Agency and

the Law School and is a valid, binding and enforceable agreement in accordance with its terms.
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S. The Bonds shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or liability of the State of
Vermont, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of Vermont is pledged
for the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Bonds.

6. Assuming compliance by the Law School and the Agency with their respective
covenants to comply with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), the interest on the Bonds is not includible in gross income for federal income tax
purposes under existing statutes, regulations and court decisions. Interest on the Bonds will not
be treated as a specific preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax on individuals
and corporations imposed by the Code, but such interest will be included in the computation of
the alternative minimum tax on corporations imposed by the Code. Failure by the Agency or the
Law School to comply with their respective covenants to comply with the provisions of the Code
regarding use, expenditure, and investment proceeds of the Bonds and, if required, the timely
payment of certain investment earnings to the Treasury of the United States may cause interest
on the Bonds to be includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their
date of issuance. The covenant of the Agency described above does not require the Agency to
make any financial contribution for which it does not receive funds from the Law School. The
opinion expressed in the first and second sentences of this paragraph may not be relied upon to
the extent that the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income
tax purposes is adversely affected as a result of the taking of any action in reliance upon the
opinion of counsel other than this firm. In rendering the opinion set forth in the first and second
sentences of this paragraph, we have relied upon the representations made by the Law School
with respect to certain material facts within its knowledge which we have not independently
verified and the opinion of Dinse, Knapp & McAndrew, P.C., Burlington, Vermont, counsel for
the Law School, that the Law School is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Code or corresponding provisions of prior law and such counsel is not aware of any actions taken
by the Law School which would jeopardize such status. Other than as described herein, we have
not addressed and we are not opining on the tax consequences to any person of the investment in,
or receipt of any interest on, the Bonds.

The Act provides that bonds of the Agency and the income therefrom shall at all times be
exempt from taxation in the State of Vermont, except for transfer and estate taxes.

The enforceability of the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement and the obligations
of the aforementioned parties with respect to such documents are subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally. To the extent that the remedies
under the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement require enforcement by a court of equity,
the enforceability thereof may be limited by such principles of equity as the court having
jurisdiction may impose.
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In rendering this opinion we have also relied, without independent investigation, upon the
opinion of Dinse, Knapp & McAndrew, P.C., Burlington, Vermont, counsel to the Law School,
with respect to the due organization and valid existence of the Law School and its power and
authority with respect to the transactions contemplated by, and its due authorization, execution
and delivery of, the Master Indenture, Obligation No. 5 and the Loan Agreement.

Respectfully submitted,

[To be signed, “Sidley Austin LLP”]
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Official Statement

Vermont Law School, Inc
South Royalton, Vermont

RBC Capital Markets, LLC
Albany, New York

Berry, Dunn, McNeil & Parker, Certified Public Accountants, hereby consents to the
inclusion in the Official Statement, dated March 11, 2011, related to $10,750,000 Vermont
Educational and Health Buildings Financing Agency Revenue Bonds (Vermont Law School
Project) 2011 Series A, of our Independent Auditor’s Report dated October 27, 2010 relating to
our audit of the financial statements of Vermont Law School, Inc. as of June 30, 2010 and for the
year then ended.

Very truly yours,
&97 , L, Mede lf Priker_

Berry, Dunn, McNeil & Parker
Certified Public Accountants



